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            Cast of Characters

         

         
            Deirdre Kavanagh, twin sister of her brother Tim.

            Tim Kavanagh, Deirdre’s twin.

            Brendan Kavanagh, father of Deirdre and Tim.

            Eileen Kavanagh, mother of Deirdre and Tim.

            Joe Martin, Tim’s best friend.

            Robert Martin, Joe’s widowed father.

            Isobel Forsyth, schoolgirl.

            Victor Forsyth, father of Isobel.

            Amelia Forsyth, mother of Isobel.

            Helen Gormley, aunt of Deirdre and Tim.

            Sadie Nolan, Maura Breslin and Beth Breslin, local girls.

            Ned McEvoy, criminal.

            Ben O’Meara, farmer and criminal.

            Constable Quigley, police constable in Carlingford.

            Sergeant Cullen, police sergeant in Carlingford.

            Chief Superintendent Leech, Dublin Metropolitan Police officer.
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            Gathering
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            Chapter One

            Cooley Peninsula, 
County Louth

            FRIDAY DECEMBER 8TH 1911

         

         Tim Kavanagh wondered if his eyes were playing tricks on him. He stood unmoving, staring out the window at the ink-dark slopes of Slieve Foye. He shivered, feeling a draught from the window frame of the upstairs toilet of his aunt’s rambling farmhouse. The winter sky was sprinkled with stars, but otherwise the darkness was absolute. Tim knew the hillside was sparsely populated, and at this hour of the night no houses were visible.

         He had gone to use the toilet and been about to return to the bedroom that he was sharing with his friend Joe when he had seen a blinking light. Why would a light briefly flare up and then vanish? he wondered.

         There was a nightlight on the window ledge and Tim decided to blow out the flame to see better into the dark. He leaned sideways and extinguished the nightlight. Just as the room was plunged into darkness, he thought he saw a tiny speck of light 10at the edge of his vision. He swirled around and stared out the window again, but all he saw was darkness.

         Shivering in the cold night air, he pulled his nightshirt tighter about him. Still there was no further sign of light. Then suddenly a flash flared on the hillside. Tim stared intently, his eyes fixed on the spot. It flashed again, and he felt a stir of excitement. What was going on? Was someone sending a message? Signalling to a boat out in the bay, or to smugglers on shore?

         There was a pause, then the light flashed yet again. Tim felt his excitement growing, but he told himself to be sensible. There was probably a reasonable explanation. Tim liked puzzles and had an active imagination, but much as he loved Sherlock Holmes mysteries, the chances of a crime being committed in the isolated countryside above his aunt’s farmhouse were surely slim.

         And yet. There seemed to be a pattern to the flashing light. Or was there? It was distant, and faint; maybe someone was moving about, and the light was being blocked and then occasionally visible. The darkness of the hillside was unbroken now, but still Tim stood by the window. Then the light shone again. Three quick flashes in succession. Tim felt his pulses starting to race. There could be no further doubt. This was a signal. And not just any signal. Tim had learnt about Morse Code in a library book, and he knew what the pattern of flashes stood for. Three short sounds or flashes of light, followed by three longer ones, followed by 11three short ones meant one thing only. SOS. Someone on the hillside was sending a distress signal.

         Nervous yet excited, he told himself that he wasn’t wishing an adventure into being. Somebody was in trouble – and he might be the only person who had seen their SOS. Tim stared out into the darkness for a moment, trying to decide what to do. But there was only one option. He had to act. Turning from the window, he crossed to the door, swung it open, and stepped out onto the landing.12
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            Three Days Earlier
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            Chapter Two

            Dublin

            TUESDAY DECEMBER 5TH 1911

         

         Isobel Forsyth wondered, yet again, why some people had to be so annoying. She was walking home from school in Alexandra College, wrapped up in a scarf and warm woollen overcoat. Normally she enjoyed the journey home from Earslfort Terrace, especially in the weeks leading up to Christmas when the shops had colourful window displays and the air was crisp and cold. Today, though, she still felt irked by the attitude of some of the girls in her class. Miss Taylor, her English teacher, had allowed a discussion about how her pupils saw their futures.

         As twelve-year-olds, some of the girls had no idea of what they wanted. Isobel, however, had revealed her wish to be a doctor. She knew that most doctors were men, but the world was changing. Women called suffragettes were fighting to get votes for women, and now some women were going to university.

         16Miss Taylor had been encouraging, but after class several of the girls had mocked Isobel. ‘Professor Forsyth is entering the operating theatre!’ one of them had cried in a would-be funny voice. Her friends had laughed, but had no answer when Isobel had asked why she shouldn’t be a professor. The girls involved were members of the school hockey team, and were used to being hero-worshipped, especially by the younger girls. Isobel wasn’t interested in hockey – another reason why they didn’t like her – and she felt that being good at sport didn’t give you the right to look down on others, or to make fun of their ambitions.

         Forget them, Isobel told herself as she turned into Hatch Street. Breathe deeply and always appear calm, was her mother’s golden rule. Isobel breathed out now, told herself that most of her schoolmates were fine, and dismissed the hockey girls from her thoughts. Up ahead she saw the imposing entrance to Hatch Hall, its windows already glowing warmly against the encroaching December dusk. Isobel paused on the pavement as a carriage passed, the horses’ hooves clip-clopping on the cobblestones.

         Suddenly she experienced a strange sensation. Although the street was quiet at this hour she felt as though she was being watched. She looked behind her quickly but saw nobody. So why did some instinct make her feel she was being observed? She looked about in all directions. Nothing. She was being foolish, she told herself, and she moved on, crossing the road and turning into Leeson Street. This was a busier thoroughfare, and Isobel felt 17more comfortable as a clanking tram went past and pedestrians walked briskly by, muffled against the winter air. Isobel walked on, but despite the December chill she lingered at Leeson Street Bridge where a barrel organ was playing ‘Oh! Oh! Antonio’. It was a cheerful tune that Isobel liked, and she stood on the pavement humming the tune to herself.

         ‘Spare a copper, Miss’, said a croaking voice.

         Isobel turned to see an old man in a filthy coat and a battered hat. He looked painfully thin and ill-nourished, and she felt an immediate surge of pity. She had a penny in her hand that she had intended to give to the barrel-organ player. Instead she reached out and dropped it into the old man’s hand.

         ‘God bless you, Miss,’ he said, ‘I’ll say a prayer for you.’

         ‘You’re welcome,’ answered Isobel, smiling and nodding to him. She headed off again, the sound of ‘Oh! Oh! Antonio’ growing fainter as she walked her regular route towards home.

         She crossed the busy Morehampton Road, avoiding a Guinness Brewery wagon laden with wooden casks and pulled by two huge drayhorses. Isobel loved the look of the drayhorses – big Clydesdales that could pull heavy loads – even though it was obvious that cars and lorries were becoming more common on the streets of Dublin, and that eventually horses might be replaced by motor vehicles.

         She turned into the quieter environment of Wellington Place. The houses here were tall and imposing, although not as grand as 18the detached villas on Clyde Road where Isobel and her family lived. And suddenly it happened again. That weird feeling of being observed. Isobel couldn’t put her finger on what caused the sensation, but some primitive response made the skin tingle on the back of her neck. She swung around, anxious to see who might be watching her. Once more she saw nobody in the winter dusk. Still, she felt uneasy. She was only yards from her home and something told her not to linger.

         Was she being ridiculous? Maybe. But her gut instinct told her that something wasn’t right. Hesitating no longer, she turned on her heel and ran towards home and safety.

         
            * * *

         

         Joe Martin couldn’t help but admire himself as he stood before the sitting-room mirror. He wasn’t normally vain, but tonight he was dressed in his best clothes, and he felt clean and refreshed after a long hot bath. With his hair well-groomed and his shoes shining he reckoned that this was as smart as he had ever looked.

         Then again, he needed to look smart because he was going for the first time to one of Dublin’s leading hotels, The Shelbourne. Joe was excited, and although his father was trying to hide it, Joe knew that Dad was excited too. Joe’s eyes were drawn to the picture of his mother on the mantelpiece, and he wished that she was still alive – she would have loved the 19honour that was being bestowed on her son tonight.

         Along with his friends Tim and Deirdre Kavanagh, Joe was being presented with a medal for solving what the newspapers called ‘The Case of the Vanishing Painting’. The valuable painting in question had gone missing on a train of the Great Western and Midlands Railway where Joe’s dad was a senior clerk, and where Tim and Deirdre’s father worked as a train guard.

         Joe and his friends had solved the mystery that had baffled the police. Tonight directors of the railway company and Chief Superintendent Leech, the senior police officer on the case, were hosting a gathering in the upmarket hotel at which the three friends would be presented with their medals.

         The door of the sitting room opened now, and Joe’s father came in.

         ‘Looking well, Dad!’ said Joe. His father had oiled his hair carefully and was dressed in a crisp white shirt with a wing collar and a well-cut suit; he had a gold watch on a chain tucked into his breast pocket.

         ‘Thank you, Joseph,’ he said.

         Dad was the only person who called him Joseph, but tonight his father managed to sound animated when using the formal version of his name. Dad had initially been disapproving of Joe getting involved in crime-solving with the Kavanagh twins, but when the senior management of the railway company had decided to recognise publicly the efforts of the three children, he 20had changed his approach. Now he looked happy and expectant, and Joe was glad to see his normally staid father in such upbeat form.

         ‘Ready?’ asked Dad.

         ‘Ready, willing, and able!’

         ‘Good lad. All right then. Time to get your medal.’

         
            * * *

         

         ‘This is posh,’ whispered Deirdre.

         ‘Act like it’s not, and like we come here all the time!’ said Tim.

         Flanked by their parents, the twins had been ushered into the Shelbourne Hotel by a uniformed doorman. Deirdre took in the deep-pile carpet of the lobby, and the large, ornate chandelier that sparkled overhead, but she tried not to look overawed.

         As they moved across the lobby, Deirdre reminded herself of how badly Da had been treated when the railway company had suspected him of being the thief. Any fuss that was made of the family tonight, she told herself, was no more than they deserved.

         She glanced over at her father, clean-shaven and dressed in his Sunday suit. Although he looked smart, Deirdre sensed that he was a little uncomfortable in surroundings that were alien to him. By contrast, Ma looked like she was thoroughly enjoying the chance to experience how the other half lives, as she had light-heartedly described it earlier.

         21Deirdre and her mother had had great fun choosing their outfits for tonight. Deirdre was wearing a new blue velvet dress, and fancy new shoes. Ma, too, had gone all out in dressing up for the occasion, and Deirdre couldn’t help but feel proud that her mother looked just as glamorous, and actually more handsome, than many of the other guests in the busy lobby.

         Her brother Tim and his friend Joe were huge fans of detective stories. Deirdre didn’t share their enthusiasm, but then the three of them had had the real-life adventure that was being celebrated tonight. And Deirdre couldn’t deny how exciting it had been. It had also been dangerous at times, and genuinely frightening too, but part of Deirdre still wished that they could have another adventure.

         ‘This will be one in the eye for Sadie Nolan,’ said Tim softly as the family crossed the lobby towards the concierge’s desk.

         ‘I can’t wait to see her face,’ answered Deirdre with a grin.

         Sadie Nolan was a snobbish girl who lived around the corner from the twins in the railway houses in Great Western Square, and who acted as though she was superior to the Kavanaghs because of their father’s job as a guard on the trains.

         ‘Well,’ said Tim. ‘Her da might be an engineer, but she’s never won a medal.’

         ‘And not that we’d ever boast – but we’ll have two!’

         Just then they reached the desk of the concierge, a distinguished-looking man in a perfectly tailored uniform.

         22‘May I help you, sir?’ he asked.

         ‘Yes, please,’ said Da, handing over the gilt-edged invitations that had come in the post. ‘The Kavanagh family. We’ve been invited to the medal ceremony.’

         ‘Excellent, sir. May I show you to the function room?’

         ‘You may indeed,’ said Ma with a smile.

         ‘This way, please,’ said the concierge, coming from behind his desk and politely pointing the way.

         ‘You know what?’ whispered Deirdre to Tim.

         ‘What?’

         ‘I could get used to this!’

         
            * * *

         

         Isobel watched her father from across the dinner table. He was wearing what she thought of as his ‘explaining face’, an expression of slightly laboured patience that he adopted when explaining something that he thought Isobel should already know.

         A log fire blazed in the grate, and the soft light of gas lamps bathed the large dining room in a warm glow. With Isobel’s brother Percy away at boarding school, it was just Mama, Papa and Isobel for dinner, and they had finished their main course of pork steak and roast potatoes. It was one of Cook’s best dishes, and Isobel had waited until everyone was pleasantly full before politely challenging her father.23

         The incident on her way home from school had been unsettling, but she had put it behind her and decided not to mention it to her parents. I got a funny feeling and a tingling up my spine, but when I looked there was no one there? No, that would have just made her sound foolish. And she hadn’t wanted to appear foolish tonight. Instead she had wanted to be taken seriously when she questioned Papa about the arrest of suffragettes who were campaigning for votes for women.

         ‘The law is the law, Isobel,’ said her father now. ‘We can’t apply it when it suits us. It applies all of the time.’

         ‘But laws can be changed, Papa.’

         ‘Only by the government, dear, and with good reason. Not because a certain group kicks up a fuss.’

         ‘Isn’t that exactly what happened this summer?’ said Isobel. ‘Shop workers used to have to work every day but Sunday. And they kicked up a fuss. And now the law’s been changed, so they get an extra half day off each week.’

         Isobel saw her mother suppressing a smile and she realised that she had scored a point in debating with her father. It was hard to win an argument with Papa. He was the Chief State Prosecutor in the Law Office in Dublin Castle, the seat of power in Ireland, and he was a skilled speaker who was used to making his case and winning most debates. But Isobel really admired the suffragettes, who had caused disruption by marching in their thousands on London.

         24‘I grant you that the law was altered for the shop workers,’ conceded Papa. ‘But that was a change in their existing conditions, it wasn’t a radical new demand.’

         ‘But asking for the vote isn’t a radical new demand, Papa. It’s just like you say, a change in the existing conditions. Instead of some men having the vote, why not change it so all men and all women have it.’

         ‘That would be a huge change, Isobel.’

         ‘But a good one.’ Isobel looked across the table at her mother. ‘Would you not like to be able to vote, Mama?’

         Her mother hesitated, and Isobel sensed that perhaps she felt obliged to support her husband.

         ‘I can’t say it’s something I’ve lost sleep over,’ she answered diplomatically.

         ‘Suffragettes in England have rioted and caused serious damage,’ said Papa. ‘We’re not having that here in Dublin.’

         ‘It’s true, Isobel,’ said her mother. ‘There’s a right way and a wrong way to make your case. And they’re making it the wrong way.’

         ‘Precisely,’ agreed Papa. ‘And if law and order break down, everything breaks down. Society needs the rule of law.’

         ‘But…’

         ‘But what, Isobel?’ said her father with a hint of impatience.

         Isobel was tempted to say that when the suffragettes had asked politely, they had been ignored. She knew, though, not to say this 25to her father. Instead, she thought a moment before answering. ‘I understand why you don’t like some of the ways they protest.’

         ‘That’s putting it mildly.’

         ‘But is that not missing the point, Papa? It’s not whether their tactics are good tactics or bad tactics. Surely, what matters is whether what they want is right or wrong?’

         Papa considered a moment, a wry smile playing on his lips. ‘It seems I’m raising a barrister-in-the making.’

         Isobel was pleased that he was showing respect for her argument, but before she could respond, Papa raised his hand. ‘I think we’ve aired the topic enough, dear. If you must argue, argue at the school debating society. But be realistic about how the world works. And don’t waste energy and make yourself unpopular by needlessly going against the current. Now, I think I’m ready for some apple crumble.’

         Isobel realised that there was no point saying anything further, so she didn’t respond. But her mind was in turmoil, and she thought that if no one ever went against the current how could things ever change for the better.

         
            * * *

         

         Tim swallowed the last morsel of his steak, savouring its succulent taste, then contentedly laid down his knife and fork. It was the finest steak he had ever eaten, and the gleaming cutlery and 26starched white table linen of the Shelbourne Hotel added to the sense of luxury. Tim knew that his parents had been pleased to be invited to the medal ceremony but were also daunted by the idea of eating in an expensive restaurant. The Midland and Great Western Railway were covering all the expenses, but he had realised that they were still nervous about how to conduct themselves in such an unfamiliar environment.

         Tim believed that you could find out most things in the library, and he had taken out a book on restaurant etiquette. He had learnt about working from the outside in when choosing which item of cutlery to use, and Ma, Da and Deirdre had also read the book before tonight’s outing.

         Tim glanced down the long table to where the directors of the railway company were seated. All of them were older men, impeccably dressed, and Tim was glad that he and his family had worn their best outfits for the occasion. The other thing he noticed was that most of the directors looked well-fed. Tim reckoned that tonight’s fine food, which was a novelty to him, was probably the regular fare for these people.

         Despite his gratitude for being invited here, he couldn’t help but feel a slight undercurrent of irritation. These men, so accustomed to the good life, were the ones who had put his father under huge pressure, when Da had been treated as one of the main suspects after the art robbery from the Galway train. Before Tim could think about it any further, Chief Superintendent 27Leech, who was seated to his right, turned to him and spoke.

         ‘Baked Alaska for dessert, Tim. That should suit you?’

         Tim didn’t know what Baked Alaska was, and he realised that his confusion must have shown, as the policeman explained.

         ‘It’s meringue on top, then a layer of cake, and in the middle what you like – ice cream!’

         ‘Sounds great,’ said Tim. He was impressed that the detective had remembered how almost six months previously Tim, Deirdre and Joe had been rewarded with ice-cream at the police station, the day they had retrieved the stolen painting.

         ‘You’ve a good memory, Superintendent,’ he said.

         ‘Detectives need that. Plus an enquiring mind – like you have. Maybe one day you can join our ranks.’

         Tim wanted to be an actor when he grew up, but he grinned and answered the policeman. ‘Only if you promise I can be a superintendent.’ He knew that some people might think his playful answer was cheeky. Tim and Deirdre had agreed though, that they would try not to be intimidated tonight, either by the occasion or the fancy surroundings.

         Because he was at the same table as the most senior people in the railway company, Da was clearly self-conscious, and even Ma, who was normally fun-loving, was being careful not to say or do anything to draw attention. Tim, however, had decided that while he would be polite, he wouldn’t be subservient. He and his friends had saved the railway company a fortune by retrieving the 28stolen painting. And the police and the company had treated Da as though he were a criminal. So it seemed to Tim only fitting that the railway company and the police were making it up to the family tonight. Even so, he hoped he hadn’t gone too far with his answer to the policeman.

         Chief Superintendent Leech looked a little surprised, but then he grinned. ‘You’ve confidence, son, I’ll say that for you. But smart lad and all as you are, recruits have to work their way up. So I’m afraid we can’t start you on a superintendent’s salary.’

         Tim had liked the policeman from their first meeting, and he warmed to him further now. It was rare to find someone in authority having a sense of humour when dealing with young people. Before the conversation went any further, one of the directors at the far end of the table stood and called for order.

         ‘Chairman of the board,’ whispered Leech. ‘They’re going to present the medals now. After that you can all relax and enjoy your desserts.’

         ‘Brilliant,’ said Tim. He caught Joe’s eye from across the table and winked at his friend. Then he sat forward in his chair unable to disguise his excitement.

         
            * * *

         

         Joe knew that he had to get his timing right. He was with his father in the cloakroom of the Shelbourne Hotel, and Dad was in unusually high spirits after the fine food and wine of the evening. Normally Dad drank very little, but he had had several glasses of 29wine, and a brandy, and had obviously been pleased by the praise heaped upon Joe and the Kavanagh twins by the Chairman of the railway company. Although his father was a senior clerk, Joe knew that he didn’t normally have contact with people like the company directors, so this was a special occasion for him too.

         Strike while the iron is hot, thought Joe as they collected their coats and headed for the cloakroom door.

         ‘Dad, I…I…wanted to ask you something,’ he said.

         ‘What’s that?’

         ‘I’ve got an invitation.’

         ‘Oh, yes?’

         ‘To go to Carlingford. Tim and Deirdre have an aunty with a farm there, and we’ve all been asked down.’

         ‘I see.’

         ‘We’ve no school on Friday because it’s a holy day. So they’re going down on the train on Thursday night and coming back on Sunday.’

         ‘Why would they want to visit a farm in the depths of winter?’

         ‘Because it ties in with the Feast of the Immaculate Conception. Tim says that as well as being a holy day, it’s when the country people do their Christmas shopping. So Dundalk, the nearest town, will be really lively.’

         ‘Right.’

         ‘Please, Dad. It’s only for a few days, and I’d love to go.’

         They had reached the cloakroom door, and now his father 30paused and turned to him. Joe found it hard to read his expression and he hoped the answer wouldn’t be ‘no’. Dad was kind, and encouraging about most things that Joe wanted to do. But he could also be a little snobbish. Joe knew that although his father liked the Kavanaghs, he saw himself as having a different status due to his white-collar job.

         ‘Please, Dad, it would put the cap on what’s been a brilliant night.’

         Joe looked appealingly to his father but said no more, sensing that to press his case further wouldn’t be a good idea.

         Suddenly Dad nodded. ‘All right then, seeing as you put it like that.’

         ‘Thanks, Dad!’

         ‘All homework to be done before you go. Understood?’

         ‘Understood.’

         ‘Very well. We’ll work out the details with Mrs Kavanagh tomorrow. Happy now?’

         Joe smiled. ‘Never happier, Dad. Between this and getting the medal – best night ever!’
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            Chapter Three

            WEDNESDAY DECEMBER 6TH 1911

         

         Aweak December sun shone on the noisy schoolyard, but the air was cold, and last night’s frost still sparkled on the ground. Normally Deirdre didn’t like the cold, but today she was oblivious to it as she chatted during break-time with Beth and Maura Breslin. The Breslin sisters were both neighbours and school friends, and Deirdre was happily re-living last night’s experience in the Shelbourne Hotel and answering the girls’ many questions.

         ‘It must have been dead exciting,’ said Beth.

         ‘It was,’ agreed Deirdre. ‘Tim and I said we weren’t going to be like beggars at the feast, but it was still a feast!’

         ‘What did you have?’ asked Maura.

         ‘Mock Turtle soup to start. And a choice of about six different kinds of bread to go with it. Then the juiciest steak you ever tasted.’

         ‘Yum,’ said Beth. ‘We only have steak on special occasions.’

         32‘Well, this was a special occasion for us. And the steak was gorgeous, with sautéed potatoes, and fried onions, and loads of other vegetables.’

         ‘My mouth is watering!’ said Beth.

         ‘What came next?’ asked Maura.

         ‘Next there was a sorbet – to cleanse your palate, if you don’t mind!’ said Deirdre. ‘And then the deserts…’

         ‘What were they?’ asked Beth.

         ‘Baked Alaska,’ answered Deirdre. ‘It’s ice cream, surrounded by cake, and with a hot marshmallow meringue on the outside. Brilliant! And they also had sherry trifle with loads of fruit and cream.’

         Maura looked fascinated. ‘Which one did you have?’

         ‘Which one? I had both!’ laughed Deirdre. ‘And then to finish off we had chocolates, as many as we wanted!’ Deirdre reached into her pocket and took out a bag of sweets. ‘We couldn’t eat them all, so they let us bring some home. Here,’ Deirdre said, extending the bag to her friends. ‘Help yourselves.’

         ‘Thanks, Deirdre,’ said Maura.

         ‘Yes, thanks, Deirdre, you’re a star,’ said Beth.

         The two girls popped the chocolates into their mouths, and Deirdre grinned. ‘Just to keep you company,’ she said, taking a sweet herself.

         The chocolate tasted rich and creamy, and they all munched away happily. Then Deirdre saw Sadie Nolan approaching. Sadie 33was a neighbour in Great Western Square too, but Deirdre had never liked her. Sadie’s father was an engineer with the railway, and unlike Joe, Sadie felt that this made her superior to the Kavanaghs. Their relationship had improved when Mr Nolan had gone into hospital some months previously, and Deirdre had been sympathetic. Then Mr Nolan made a full recovery, and Sadie had gone back to being her snooty self.

         ‘I hear you got your medals last night,’ she said now.

         ‘Yes, we did,’ answered Deirdre.

         ‘Deirdre had a brilliant meal in the Shelbourne Hotel,’ said Maura.

         ‘Really? I suppose you think that makes you great,’ said Sadie.

         Deirdre didn’t want her good mood spoiled, and she resisted the temptation to put Sadie in her place. ‘I don’t think I’m great, but the meal was great,’ she answered.

         ‘But it was charity really, wasn’t it?’ said Sadie.

         Deirdre realised that the other girl wasn’t going to let it go and she looked her in the eye. ‘Maybe it was,’ replied Deirdre. ‘But they say charity begins at home. So here’s a sweet for you, Sadie,’ she said, suddenly thrusting a chocolate into the other girl’s hand. ‘Suck on that, it might sweeten you up!’

         Sadie looked taken aback, and before she could respond, Deirdre said a cheery, ‘See you, girls,’ to the Breslin sisters, then turned and strode away across the frosty yard.34

         
            * * *

         

         Isobel tried to gauge the mood as she looked around the classroom. Harriet French, the captain of the Alexandra junior hockey team, had a look of barely concealed boredom on her face, and Isobel knew that some of the other girls would take their lead from Harriet. Miss Taylor, the English teacher, allowed the girls to debate current issues in the classroom, and Isobel was doing a presentation in praise of an Argentinian woman called Julieta Lantieri.

         ‘I think she’s a real heroine,’ said Isobel. ‘She was one of the first female doctors in Argentina, and last July she became the first ever woman to vote in South America.’

         ‘How does that make her a heroine?’ asked Harriet.

         ‘Because of what she had to overcome. Getting into college, qualifying as a doctor, every step of the way she had to face hurdles.’

         ‘But who asked her to be a doctor? I’m sure they’ve lots of doctors in Argentina.’

         ‘That’s not the point, Harriet. They had no female doctors, and now they have.’

         ‘I don’t see what’s so great about that. I’d hate to be a doctor.’

         ‘Fine, then you shouldn’t be one. That’s your choice. But other girls might love to be one, and they should have that choice.’

         ‘You mean you’d love to. Does that make you a heroine too?’ 35asked Harriet with a smirk.

         Isobel saw some of the other girls smiling at the remark. She knew that Harriet was trying to be smart at her expense, but she decided not to show any discomfort. ‘No, I don’t think it makes me a heroine. But it doesn’t stop me from recognising someone who is. No woman had ever got to vote, in any country in South America. That would put off most people, but not Julietta Lanteri. She used her knowledge of the law to find a loophole.’ Isobel paused and glanced round the class, sensing that she had the interest of many of the girls.

         ‘What was the loophole?’ asked Miss Taylor.

         ‘There were conditions laid down for men who wanted to vote. But it never actually said women couldn’t vote – it was assumed that wouldn’t be happening. So she persuaded the precinct chairman to let her vote in the election for the council. And he agreed.’

         ‘But women today don’t have the vote in Argentina,’ said Miss Taylor.

         ‘No, they changed the law after Julieta voted. From then on, to vote you had to have done military service, and only males went into the army.’

         ‘So, she wasted her time, really,’ said Harriet.

         ‘I don’t think so,’ answered Isobel.

         ‘Well, she didn’t get to vote again, did she?’

         ‘No, but she made her point.’

         ‘What good is that?’

         36‘She raised the issue. And she founded a party to work for women’s rights.’

         ‘Doesn’t sound like she had much fun, does it?’ said Harriet. ‘Don’t think I want to join the army just so I could vote in an election!’ She looked around the class for support, and all of her cronies smiled.

         ‘I don’t think you’d want to join anything, Harriet, unless you’d benefit,’ answered Isobel. ‘But Julieta Lanteri worked to make things better for others. Sick people, poor people, people who had no one else to stand up for them.’

         Isobel could see that she had annoyed Harriet, and she waited for the backlash.

         ‘Well bully for… Julius Caesar, or whatever her name is,’ said Harriet dismissively. ‘But what someone we’ve never heard of does in South America hasn’t got much to do with us, has it girls?’ She looked at the other pupils, and Isobel feared that most of the others would be afraid to defy Harriet. Then she had an idea. It was risky, but it might pay off. ‘Can I make a suggestion, Miss?’ she said turning to the teacher.

         ‘What’s that?’

         ‘We’ve been talking about women looking for the vote. So, why don’t we vote on this?’

         ‘Vote on what?’ said Harriet.

         ‘On whether we think Julieta Lanteri was right or wrong. A secret ballot of course, seeing as that’s how it’s done in proper elections.’

         37Isobel could almost see Harriet’s mind working as she realised that a secret ballot would make it harder for other class members to go against her and her gang.

         ‘No need for all the fuss of a secret ballot,’ said Harriet breezily. ‘If we have to vote on this, let’s just do a show of hands.’

         Isobel turned to Miss Taylor, who looked thoughtful as she weighed up both proposals.

         ‘Let’s keep it simple, Miss,’ suggested Harriet pleasantly.

         Miss Taylor thought for a moment more, then spoke. ‘We’ll do it like a real election. Each girl takes a sheet of paper and put a tick on it if you feel Julieta Lanteri was right, and a cross if you feel she was wrong. Then fold it over so it can’t be seen. Do it now, please.’

         Isobel placed a tick on her own piece of paper and watched as Miss Taylor began collecting the votes. She felt nervous, knowing that she had taken a chance in confronting Harriet so openly. She had no idea if enough girls would support her, even with a secret ballot, and she knew that Harriet would be obnoxious if she carried the day.

         ‘Very well, I’ve counted up the votes,’ said Miss Taylor. She paused, as though enjoying the drama.

         Isobel could feel a flutter of nervousness in her stomach, then the teacher continued.

         ‘We have a result. Julieta Lanteri, not Julius Caesar, Harriet,’ she said wagging a finger in mild disapproval, ‘is deemed by the 38Alexandra College sixth class girls…’ The teacher paused again, then continued, ‘is deemed to have been in the right.’

         Isobel felt a surge of relief. She told herself that it was a small victory and that she shouldn’t gloat. Then she caught Harriet’s eye and, unable to stop herself, she gave the other girl a smile and a wink.

         
            * * *

         

         ‘Best Sherlock Holmes story ever?’ said Tim.

         Joe hesitated, biting his lip slightly as he thought over his answer. It was late afternoon, and they were in the living room of Tim’s house, a faint scent of turf rising from the fire burning in the grate.

         ‘Maybe “The Red-Headed League”?’ Joe finally replied.

         ‘That’s a good one all right,’ said Tim. ‘I think I’d go for “The Adventure of the Speckled Band”.’’

         ‘Yes, one of his best,’ agreed Joe.

         ‘And talking of adventure. It was great getting the medals last night. But – and I know this sounds mad – but part of me is sorry it’s over. I mean, it was awful that Da was under suspicion. Leaving that aside, though, I loved the adventures we had solving the crime.’

         ‘Me too,’ said Joe. ‘I’d really love another one.’

         ‘Though preferably one where none of our family members are suspects!’

         39Just then the door opened. Tim looked up to see his mother entering with a plate of soda bread.

         ‘Bread and jam, boys,’ she said. Ma looked at Joe. ‘I hope that’s not too common for you, now that you’re used to the Shelbourne Hotel!’

         ‘Thanks, Mrs K,’ answered Joe. ‘Sure your soda bread and homemade jam is as good as anything you’d get in the Shelbourne.’

         ‘Liar!’ laughed Ma, ‘But I’ll take the compliment.’

         ‘Here, I’ve a compliment joke for you,’ said Tim. ‘What’s the best compliment you can pay a fast runner?’

         ‘I don’t know,’ said Ma, with mock earnestness. ‘What is the best compliment you can pay a fast runner?’

         ‘You look dashing!’

         Ma groaned, but Joe liked jokes that played on words, and Tim was pleased to see his friend laughing.

         ‘Looking forward to your trip to Carlingford, Joe?’ asked Ma.

         ‘Dying for it!’

         ‘Yeah, it’s a brilliant place,’ said Tim.

         ‘Don’t have him expecting too much,’ cautioned Ma. ‘It’s a bleak hillside farm, and in winter the wind off the lough would cut you in two.’

         ‘I’ll wrap up well,’ said Joe.

         ‘Do that. On the plus side, my big sister is a good cook, so you won’t go hungry.’

         40‘Yes,’ agreed Tim, ‘people who eat Aunt Helen’s potato cakes think they’ve died and gone to heaven!’

         ‘An exaggeration,’ said Ma, ‘but only a slight one.’ She put down the plate of soda bread and started back towards the kitchen. ‘I’ll leave you to it.’

         ‘Thanks,’ said Joe, then he took the slice of jam-covered bread that Tim handed him.

         ‘Please raise your bread in a toast,’ intoned Tim solemnly.

         ‘What?’

         ‘Raise your bread like in a toast.’

         ‘You’re mad,’ said Joe, but he copied his friend who had raised his bread like people did when toasting with drinks.

         ‘Here’s to Carlingford,’ said Tim. ‘Maybe we’ll have another adventure. And if we don’t – we’ll have potato cakes!’

         ‘To Carlingford,’ said Joe, as they toasted each other with slices of bread, then began to eat.
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            Chapter Four

         

         ‘Apenny for your thoughts!’ said Ma.

         Deirdre hadn’t realised that she had been drifting. She had finished breakfast at the kitchen table and her mind had gone back to the encounter with Sadie Nolan. The more she thought about it, the more irked she felt by Sadie’s snide remarks and the way she looked down on Deirdre’s family. But Da was sitting across the table now, and she didn’t want to mention Sadie feeling superior because Mr Nolan’s job as an engineer was deemed more important than Da’s job in the guard’s van.

         ‘Well?’ said Mam.

         Deirdre hesitated. She had been taught in school that it was always a sin to tell a lie. But was that really worse than telling the truth and hurting Da’s feelings? She wasn’t sure. Ma was waiting for an answer, however, and she had to respond. Deirdre glanced across at Da as he finished his breakfast and she made her mind up. ‘Nothing important, Ma,’ she said, ‘just thinking about tonight’s train journey.’

         ‘Travelling with the opposition – the shame of it!’ said Da.

         Deirdre knew that their journey to Aunt Helen’s in Carlingford would be via the GNR, The Great Northern Railway, which ran a rival network to her father’s employers, The Midland and Great Western Railway.

         42Despite his remark, Da was smiling good-naturedly, and Deirdre was glad that she had told a white lie to spare his feelings.

         ‘Well, we won’t give the GNR any more money than we have to,’ said Ma. ‘I’ll do you up some grub to have on the train, so you needn’t buy anything.’

         ‘Great,’ said Deirdre. ‘What are you making us?’

         ‘What would you say to chicken sandwiches and apple tart?’

         ‘I’d say, “Yes, please!’’’

         ‘I’ll do some for Joe as well.’

         ‘Thanks, Ma.’

         ‘No bother.’

         Although she didn’t say so, Deirdre liked the caring way her mother looked out for their friend, whose own mother had died two years previously. Mr Martin, Joe’s father, was a good man, but Deirdre still suspected that Joe must sometimes find life lonely without his mother.

         Just then Tim came into the room, his schoolbag in one hand, and a packed suitcase in the other.

         Da looked up and indicated the suitcase. ‘Begod, son, is it Timbuktu you’re going to, or Carlingford?’

         ‘I’m there for three days, Da. I need my stuff.’

         ‘Your stuff?’

         ‘Books, shoes, good clothes, knocking-around-in clothes, it all adds up.’

         ‘I wouldn’t doubt you,’ said Da.

         43‘We’ll be there for the holy day tomorrow and Mass on Sunday,’ said Deirdre. ‘Ma wouldn’t want us to let the side down. Right, Ma?’

         ‘If only you were always so eager to do as I say.’

         ‘But we are,’ said Deirdre in mock angelic tones. ‘We’ll wash behind our ears, and say our prayers, and mind our manners. In fact, butter won’t melt in our mouths!’

         ‘Go on, you pair of scamps!’ said Ma. ‘Oh, and Deirdre?’

         ‘Yes, Ma?’

         ‘Don’t leave your packing to the last minute. You need to be ready for the early evening train.’

         Unlike her twin brother Deirdre was inclined to leave things to the last minute, so she couldn’t object to Ma’s order. ‘I’ll finish packing the minute I come home from school. I promise.’

         ‘Do that, love. You don’t want your adventure to be over before it begins.’

         Deirdre looked fondly at her mother. ‘Don’t worry, Ma. I don’t plan to miss out on anything.’

         
            * * *

         

         Isobel daydreamed as she walked along Morehampton Road. Although it was only four o’clock in the afternoon, the winter sky was gloomy, and the air was cold. Isobel was in no rush, however, and she sauntered along, cosily wrapped up in her scarf and 44woollen overcoat. The route home from school was so familiar that she frequently found herself lost in thought. Today she was imagining a future in which she was qualified as a doctor. Maybe she would be a renowned surgeon, or a ground-breaking researcher who discovered a new treatment. It was an entertaining fantasy, and Isobel imagined herself relieving suffering, but also gaining fame for her achievements.

         Was that vain of her? She knew that many people would say it was. Yet no one seemed to think it was vain of her father to have aspired to his role as the Chief State Prosecutor at the centre of power in Dublin Castle. And when her brother Percy had said that one day he wanted to be a judge, nobody had laughed at him.

         Isobel felt that progress was being made, though, even if it was in small steps. She still felt pleased by yesterday’s victory when the class had voted regarding Julieta Lanteri. Even though she had now made an outright enemy of Harriet Lloyd and her hockey-playing gang, several of the other girls in her class had congratulated her on carrying the vote. And the suffragettes were gaining more and more notice, and that too, would surely make for a fairer world.

         Putting her thoughts on hold, Isobel paused on the pavement at Morehampton Road, waited for a horse-drawn baker’s cart to trot past, then quickly crossed the busy thoroughfare.

         She made her way into the calm of Wellington Place, walking alongside the blank wall on the opposite side of the road to the 45tall Georgian houses that were set back from the street. Her mind drifted once more to her fantasy medical career when suddenly it happened again. The strange feeling of being watched that she had had two days previously returned. Once again, Isobel felt an instinctive unease and she swivelled round. This time the street wasn’t empty.

         A tall man was approaching from behind her. Although moving briskly, his footsteps had been silent. He wasn’t walking so fast as to draw attention, yet something felt off to Isobel. Was it the combination of speed and stealth that was unsettling? Or was she reading too much into a man who was perhaps just in a hurry to get home?

         The last time she had run to the safety of her family, but she decided that she wasn’t going to look foolish by turning now and running scared. She stepped politely aside to let the man pass. He nodded his thanks, and Isobel felt a sense of relief. But her relief didn’t last long. Instead she felt her heart beginning to pound, as the man suddenly changed direction and made straight for her.

         
            * * *

         

         Joe slipped his schoolbag off his back, took out his key, and opened the hall door. Stepping into his home, the hallway looked a little dark and unwelcoming, but Joe banished the gloom with a quick flick of the light switch. He strode into the kitchen, in 46good spirits with a three-day break from school stretching ahead of him.

         He dropped his school bag onto the kitchen table and reached for a small queen cake that was sitting on a plate. It had been left for him by Mrs Duggan, the woman who come into clean and cook three days a week. Joe sat at the table and popped the whole thing into his mouth. Chewing on it, he thought it was a little dry, and too sugary, but he swallowed it anyway. Mrs Duggan’s baking was nowhere near as tasty as the cakes, tarts and soda bread that Tim and Deirdre’s mother made, but Joe still appreciated the housekeeper leaving it for him as a treat.

         It brought back to him a conversation he had had with his father that morning, when Dad had also offered a treat.

         ‘I’ve been thinking Joseph,’ Dad said as they had finished breakfast.

         ‘Yes?’

         ‘It’s very scenic countryside up around Carlingford. Even in wintertime the landscape is stunning.’

         Joe wasn’t sure where this conversation was leading. Initially his father had been unenthusiastic about the trip, but now he sounded more positive.

         ‘Getting awarded the medal on Tuesday night was a mark of recognition, Joseph. But I don’t think I ever really said how proud I was. So, I thought I’d lend you my good binoculars to bring on your trip.’

         47Joe knew that the binoculars his father used for bird-watching were expensive, and that for Dad this was a significant gesture.

         ‘Great. Thanks very much, Dad.’

         ‘You’re welcome, son. You’re…you’re a really good lad, and I… well, I want you to be happy.’

         Joe felt a lump in his throat. When his mother had been alive, she often told him that she loved him. That was never Dad’s style, but Joe sensed that in his slightly awkward, stumbling way, that was what his father was saying now.

         ‘Thanks, Dad,’ he said softly. ‘And I am happy. Happy here with you.’

         ‘That’s…that’s all good then,’ said his father, patting him on the shoulder, then rising from the table.

         That had been this morning, and thinking about it now, Joe realised that he didn’t just feel happy. He felt excited too. Soon he would be travelling to a place he had never been before, to spend three whole days with his friends. It felt like the start of an adventure. Eager to be on his way, he left the kitchen and went upstairs to pack.

         
            * * *

         

         Isobel’s first instinct was to run. But somehow the fear she felt at the approach of the man was overtaken by a surge of anger. ‘Why are you following me?’ she demanded.

         48The man raised his hand in a calming gesture. ‘Take it easy,’ he said. ‘I just want to ask you something.’

         ‘I don’t know you.’

         ‘But I know your father. Everything’s fine, I’ll explain.’

         Isobel hesitated. Could this man know Papa? It was possible; he had a wide range of friends and associates. But Isobel’s gut instinct told her that this man wasn’t one of them. The combination of his accent, his clothes, and his demeanour didn’t mark him as someone she would associate with her father. She hoped she wasn’t being snobbish, but before she could think about it any further, she heard the sound of an engine behind her.

         Isobel turned around and saw a van approaching. It pulled up to the curb beside her. The driver immediately opened the door but left the engine running. Isobel sensed at once that something was badly wrong here. Forget looking foolish, she thought, just run for home. Before she could move, however, she felt her head jerked back. The tall man had one hand wrapped around her chin and his knee pressed painfully into her back. Then his other hand covered Isobel’s face with a handkerchief, and she bucked in terror as she felt a sickeningly sweet chemical smell from the sodden handkerchief. She had a moment of horrified clarity as she realised she was being drugged and abducted and she struggled with all her strength to free herself.

         But the tall man was too strong, and the chemical smell became overwhelming as he held her in a rigid grip. Isobel tried 49to summon her last reserves of strength, but to her dismay she felt herself weakening. Then the chemical did its work, and her mind went blank.
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            Chapter Five

         

         ‘I’ve got a good train riddle,’ said Tim.

         ‘You and your riddles,’ said Deirdre.

         ‘Come on, sis, it’s the perfect place for it,’ he said, indicating the carriage in which they were seated. They were travelling with Joe on the evening service to Dundalk, where they would change trains for Carlingford, and had been lucky enough to get a compartment to themselves. Tim loved the cosy feeling of being in a warm train as they sped through the cold winter night, the darkness outside occasionally relieved by the lights of the towns and villages that they rattled past.

         ‘So what’s the riddle?’ asked Joe.

         ‘Trains are travelling all day long from one town to another. They’re always on the same track and always going non-stop at the same speed. The noon-day train takes 80 minutes to do the trip. But the 4 pm train takes an hour and twenty minutes. Why?’

         ‘Eh…it has to halt to let another train pass,’ said Deirdre.

         ‘No, they’re no other trains on the line.’

         ‘The train driver on the 4 p.m. train gets sick, and the train gets delayed?’ suggested Joe.

         Tim shook his head. ‘The driver doesn’t get sick.’

         ‘The boiler on the engine acts up, and the second train runs low on steam,’ said Deirdre.

         51‘No, there’s no engine trouble on any of the trains.’

         ‘I give up,’ said Deirdre, ‘what’s the answer?’

         ‘Joe?’ asked Tim.

         ‘No, I can’t think of anything.’

         ‘The answer is simple,’ said Tim with a grin. ‘Why did the 4.00 p.m. train take an hour and twenty minutes when the noon one took eighty minutes? Because an hour and twenty minutes is the same as eighty minutes.’

         ‘Ah, for goodness’ sake,’ said Deirdre. ‘That’s a trick question.’

         ‘It’s not a trick question. You just came at it the wrong way.’

         ‘Fair enough,’ said Joe, ‘you got us. But seeing as you’re so clever, what’s the difference between an engine driver and a teacher?’

         ‘Is this a joke or a riddle?’ asked Tim.

         ‘A joke. Dad doesn’t tell many jokes, but I thought this one was good.’

         ‘All right,’ said Deirdre, ‘I’ll humour you. What’s the difference between an engine driver and a teacher?’

         ‘One minds the train, the other trains the mind!’

         ‘You know what, Joe?’ she said. ‘Your dad is right not to tell jokes too often!’

         Tim felt he should support his friend. ‘It is kind of clever though,’ he said.

         ‘I suppose so,’ conceded Deirdre. ‘But if we’re all finished being clever, I think it’s time to break out the grub.’

         ‘Sounds good to me,’ said Joe.

         52Tim reached into his travel bag for the sandwiches and cake his mother had prepared, but Joe acted first, producing a brown paper bag with a flourish.

         ‘Gur cake for all of us,’ he said.

         ‘Great,’ said Deirdre. ‘Thanks, Joe.’

         ‘Ma said to have the sandwiches before we have our cake,’ said Tim.

         Deirdre grinned. ‘Yes, but Ma didn’t say we had to have them before we have Joe’s cake, did she?’

         ‘Eh, now you mention it, she didn’t,’ answered Tim.

         ‘And Ma said that going to visit Aunt Helen would be an adventure for us,’ said Deirdre. ‘So let’s start the adventure by bending the rules just a little bit. Who’s on for that?’

         ‘I am,’ said Joe.

         ‘Me too,’ said Tim. ‘OK, let’s tuck into the gur cake!’

         
            * * *

         

         Isobel came to in a darkened space. She still had the chemical taste in her mouth and she felt groggy. Where was she? Then her mind cleared a little. She remembered the men with the van and she felt a stab of panic. She sat up shakily and looked around her. She was on a worn mattress on the floor of a medium-sized room. The interior was gloomy, but as Isobel’s eyes adjusted, she made out benching along one wall and she thought that it might be some kind of workshop.

         53Did that mean she was still in the city? Or could her captors have moved her to some place outside of Dublin? She had no idea how long she had been unconscious. She cautiously moved her arms and legs and realised with relief that she seemed uninjured. She still felt badly frightened, but she told herself that panicking wouldn’t help, and she breathed deeply and tried to think clearly.

         Why had she been taken? The obvious answer was that kidnappers usually wanted a ransom. She knew that as Chief State Prosecutor her father was a very senior civil servant, and that both of her parents’ families were what people called ‘well-to-do’. But there were certainly wealthier people in Dublin who could surely pay bigger ransoms. It was pointless to waste energy thinking about that, she decided. The reality was that they had taken her. And it had been carefully planned and executed. Looking back, Isobel suspected that the occasions when she had felt herself being watched had been her kidnappers following her movements and plotting where best to abduct her.

         Who were they, she wondered, and what would happen next? She hoped that they would treat her well. Then another thought struck her. She was thinking like a helpless victim. It was understandable – anyone in her situation would feel scared. Acting that way, however, was playing into the kidnappers’ hands. Instead, she needed to think about escaping. And not just escaping, but bringing these men to justice. She would examine every inch of 54this room seeking any possible way out, but first she decided to take a step in fighting back.

         Her schoolbag had been left on the ground beside the mattress, and Isobel opened it now and took out a pencil and paper. She knew from listening to her father about the importance of evidence in criminal trials. Well, this would be evidence when these men were arrested, she told herself. Propping the sheet of paper against her schoolbag, she wrote.

         I, Isobel Forsyth, have been kidnapped, and held here against my will on December the seventh, 1911.

         She folded the paper, rolled it into a small ball, and rose to her feet. First, she would find somewhere to hide the note, proving that she had been kept here. Then she would examine every detail of her surroundings, with a view to escape.
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            Chapter Six

         

         ‘OK, Aunt Helen,’ said Deirdre, ‘if you had to be an animal, what would be your first choice – and your last choice?’

         Her aunt laughed. ‘That’s a big question. I’ll have to weigh it up.’

         Deirdre thought that Aunt Helen looked a lot like Ma when she laughed, and she liked the way that her aunt was willing to accept the question, when many adults wouldn’t.

         They were in Helen’s horse and cart, travelling to her farm after she had collected them at the train station in Carlingford. Deirdre loved the quaint atmosphere of the village, with its medieval walls and ruined castle. With Aunt Helen at the reins, Deirdre seated beside her, and the boys in the back, they had clip-clopped along the cobbled street, then turned up into the market square and began the ascent towards Aunt Helen’s hillside farm.

         It was a crisp, frosty night, and Deirdre watched as the horse’s breath rose like a white plume of steam into the cold air. She and Tim normally visited the farm during summer holidays, but there was a magic to the winter scene now, as she looked behind her and saw the warm glow of gaslights in the village against the dark backdrop of Carlingford Lough. Although originally from Dublin, Aunt Helen had lived on the farm for over twenty years, and she had stayed on, running it with a couple of hired workers, 56when her farmer husband Paddy had died three years previously.

         ‘Come on, Aunt Helen, what are your choices?’ said Tim from the back of the cart.

         ‘You tell me yours first.’

         ‘He’d have to be the King of the Jungle, wouldn’t he?’ said Deirdre.

         ‘A lion?’ said Helen.

         ‘Yes, I think they’re a brilliant animal,’ said Tim. ‘I love their look, and the way they roar. And the animal I’d hate to be is a rat.’

         ‘Can’t argue with that,’ said Helen. ‘What about you, Joe?’

         ‘I love dolphins, so that was my favourite, and the thing I’d hate to be is a worm.’

         ‘All that wriggling – and then getting eaten by a bird!’ said Helen. ‘Deirdre?’

         ‘She spent about half an hour on the train trying to decide,’ said Tim.

         ‘I did not! But I wanted to get it right, so I thought it out. In the end I went for a red setter; I think they’re a gorgeous dog.’

         ‘And your least favourite?’ asked Helen.

         ‘A spider. They’re yuck.’

         ‘So, what about your own choices?’ said Tim.

         Helen was keeping her eyes on the dark country road now that they had left the village behind, but she called out over her shoulder. ‘If I had to be an animal, I’d be an eagle,’ she said.

         ‘And your worst choice?’ asked Deirdre.

         57‘Definitely a fly. I’m sure God made flies for a reason, but I can’t imagine what it was!’

         ‘Oh, I recognise this bend!’ cried Deirdre after a few moments. ‘We’re not far from the farm.’

         ‘And what do you keep on the farm, Mrs Gormley?’ asked Joe politely.

         ‘You can call me Helen. I keep sheep mostly, but also goats and chickens.’

         ‘Is that what most people here do?’ said Joe.

         ‘Sheep and fishing would be done a fair bit. Some work in shops, and on the railway. Other stuff too when the sergeant’s not looking. Now, here we are.’

         ‘Great!’ said Deirdre, then she climbed down from the horse and cart after her aunt came to a halt in the farmyard.

         ‘All right,’ said Helen. ‘Welcome to Gormley’s Farm. What would you all say to a roaring fire and some hot grub?’

         ‘Yes, please!’ answered the three friends.

         
            * * *

         

         ‘Help! Let me out!’ cried Isobel, banging on the door of the darkened workshop. She had no idea if she was in remote countryside or down a back alley in Dublin, but if she was still in the city, she hoped that somebody might hear her and come to the rescue. Even if they didn’t, it was likely to draw a response from her kidnappers, and Isobel wanted to confront them.

         58‘Stop your banging!’ cried a man’s deep voice.

         Isobel stepped back from the door, hearing a key being turned in the lock. She had searched the room carefully for any possible way out, but with no success. Now the heavy wooden door swung open, and a man stepped into the room. He was the same person who had approached her and knocked her out with the sodden handkerchief. Isobel had read enough adventure stories to know that he had probably used a chemical called chloroform, and she looked at him angrily, the taste of it still in her mouth.

         ‘Who are you?’ she demanded, deciding that the best way to hide her fear was to go on the attack. ‘Why have you taken me?’

         ‘Who I am is none of your business. You’re a bargaining chip. If you don’t cause any trouble, you’ll get back to your family in a while.’

         Isobel was about to reply, but the man held up his hand, cutting her off. ‘Shut up and listen. You need to cut out the nonsense. No more shouting and banging on doors. It won’t get you anywhere, and if you keep it up, I’ll have to deal with you.’

         Isobel found the man’s words chilling, and she sensed that now wasn’t the time to go against him.

         ‘Are we clear?’ he asked.

         ‘Yes.’

         ‘Don’t force me to make it clearer.’

         Isobel didn’t want to sound weak by agreeing again so she said nothing.

         59‘Behave yourself, and we’ll give you something to eat and drink and some blankets. We leave here in about half an hour. Use the toilet at the end of the workshop before we go, we’ve a long journey ahead.’

         Isobel had a dozen questions that she wanted to ask, but she blurted out ‘Why me?’

         The man looked at her, then smirked. ‘Why not you?’

         Before Isobel could respond he turned away, walked out the door, and locked it behind him.

         
            * * *

         

         ‘King of clubs, and out!’ cried Joe, throwing down the last card in his hand onto Helen’s kitchen table. He was playing a game called Newmarket with Deirdre, Tim and Helen and he laughed as the others groaned in mock disgust at his victory.

         After the frosty journey from the train station to the farmhouse they had warmed up with a delicious meal of chicken casserole followed by freshly baked apple tart. Joe had really taken to Helen, who had the same fun-loving manner as her sister, the twin’s mother, Mrs Kavanagh, and the evening had been a good start to the holiday.

         ‘All right,’ said Helen now, ‘that’s a good one to finish on.’

         ‘Must we?’ asked Deirdre.

         ‘Busy day tomorrow, you’ll need your sleep,’ said her aunt. ‘But we can play again tomorrow night, if you like.’

         60‘Just before we head up, can I ask one question?’ said Joe.

         ‘Of course. What is it?’ asked Helen

         ‘It’s a quiz question I read in a magazine.’

         ‘Go on then,’ said Tim.

         ‘OK. A train is derailed off a bridge at the border between Canada and America. On which side of the border do they bury the survivors?’

         ‘I know this one,’ said Tim, ‘so I’ll say nothing.’

         ‘The American side,’ answered Deirdre, ‘because that’s where they were headed.’

         ‘No, both sides,’ suggested Helen. ‘The Canadians on the Canadian side, and the Americans on the American side.’

         ‘Sorry, you’re both wrong,’ said Joe. ‘I asked where you’d bury the survivors. But you don’t bury survivors – you only bury the dead.’

         ‘Ah, here!’ said Deirdre, ‘that’s a cheat!’

         ‘It’s not a cheat. You just didn’t listen properly,’ said her brother.

         ‘Fair enough,’ said Helen good-humouredly. ‘That will teach us to jump to conclusions. And on that note, we’ll call it a night. There’s an oil lamp in your bedroom, boys, but you can take a candlestick for going up the stairs. Deirdre, will you help me set the table for breakfast, and then we’ll follow the lads up?’

         ‘Sure.’

         ‘Goodnight, Helen,’ said Joe. ‘Thank you for a lovely evening.’

         ‘You’re more than welcome. ’Night, Tim.’

         61‘’Night, Aunt Helen.’

         Deirdre wished them both goodnight also, then Joe followed Tim up the darkened stairway, the candle casting flickering shadows on the walls. It was much colder here than in the warm kitchen, and the two friends didn’t linger, instead making for the bedroom they were to share.

         ‘Glad that you came?’ asked Tim, sitting on one of the two single beds in the chilly bedroom.

         ‘Delighted. Your aunt is great fun. And eh…Carlingford could be interesting too.’

         ‘How do you mean?’

         ‘What Helen said, when I asked her what people work at.’

         ‘So you picked up on that too?’

         ‘Other stuff, when the sergeant’s not looking? As soon as I heard that I thought – maybe it’s not as sleepy and peaceful as it looks.’

         ‘Part of me hopes not,’ said Tim. ‘Despite what Superintendent Leech said, I wouldn’t mind another adventure.

         ‘I wouldn’t either. And the lough leads to the sea,’ said Joe. ‘I bet there’s smuggling going on.’

         ‘Well, we’re here for a few days, and we have the binoculars. Why don’t we keep our eyes peeled?’

         Joe nodded enthusiastically. ‘I’m on for that. I’m definitely on for that.’

         
            * * *

         

         62Isobel had given up trying to figure out where she was headed. She reckoned that she had been travelling for about two hours, seated, bound and gagged, on a box in the back of the van. The vehicle didn’t have windows, however, so she had no idea if she were travelling north, south, east or west. She also didn’t know where her starting point was. Even if it was Dublin, the two-hour journey meant that she could now be anywhere within a wide radius of the capital. Which meant that by the time her parents could have notified the police that she was missing, the van would be well past any roadblocks that might have been set up.

         Thinking about her parents had made her sad and frightened, and she knew that they would be desperately worried about her. She realised, though, that if she dwelt on that she would give way to despair. And that would help nobody. There was no doubt in her mind that her parents would do everything they could to ensure her safe return, and maybe this would all end quickly. But she couldn’t count on that, and if the opportunity arose, she was determined to escape.

         Isobel felt the van slowing, then it turned and bumpily started up an incline. After several moments it came to a halt. She heard the passenger door of the van being opened, and a few seconds later the sound of a creaky gate being swung aside. Then the passenger door slammed again, and the van drove forward into what Isobel presumed was a farmyard.

         Despite being wrapped in the blankets her captors had provided, 63Isobel was cold, and she was glad that they appeared to have reached their destination. The back door of the van was pulled open, and the tall man stepped in, untying her hands from behind her back and removing the gag.

         ‘Out you get,’ he said. ‘And don’t even think of shouting, no one will hear you up here.’

         Isobel said nothing but stepped gingerly out of the van. As she had guessed, they were in a farmyard. The night was frosty, but she thought she could detect a faint smell of the sea in the air. The driver of the van had lit an oil lamp and was opening a wooden door in the wall of a building on the far side of the farmyard.

         ‘Into the barn,’ said the first man to Isobel. ‘You’ll get something to eat later on.’

         Isobel wasn’t sure how to respond. So far, she had tried to be cool in her dealings with her captors, determined not to let them see how scared she was. But maybe it would be smarter to appear more passive, she thought. If they saw her as no threat, they might be more likely to lower their guard. And that’s when she would try to escape. Forcing herself to sound meek and grateful, she said ‘Thank you.’ Hiding her anger, she walked obediently towards the door of the barn.
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            Chapter Seven

         

         Tim strolled the streets of Dundalk, enjoying the festive atmosphere. It was the nearest big town to Helen’s farm, and he had travelled there on the train with Deirdre, Joe, and his aunt. Because it was a holy day, they had all gone to early mass in Carlingford, but with that duty done a day of freedom stretched before them.

         On arrival at the centre of Dundalk, Aunt Helen had given each of them a shilling and playfully told them not to spend it too wisely. She had arranged for everyone to meet again for lunch at one o’clock, then left to do her Christmas shopping.

         Tim loved the idea of each of them being free to wander the crowd-filled street of the town centre. Much as he enjoyed his time with Joe and Deirdre, there was a sense of adventure involved with being able to go wherever the mood took him.

         Tim was dressed in his good clothes, and it was obvious that many of the people who thronged the town also regarded this as a special day and had dressed up for the occasion. There were farm families who had come to town to do their Christmas shopping, the men slightly awkward-looking out of their work clothes and wearing collars and ties. Stalls had been set up along the street where traders were selling toys, clothes, and bric-á-brac, and Tim paused for a few moments to listen to a street 65musician who was playing ‘After the Ball’ on a violin.

         Strolling down the street, Tim saw a crowd gathered around a contortionist who was wriggling his way out of tightly-bound chains. Tim applauded with everybody else when the man finally freed himself, and several people threw coins into a tin bowl at the contortionist’s feet. Tim drifted on, enjoying the holiday atmosphere and happy to chance upon whatever sights came his way. The day was cold, with a hazy winter sun, but Tim had a warm woollen scarf and a heavy overcoat, and he savoured the crisp December air. Walking past a laneway, he heard a whimper and he paused and looked into the lane. He saw a heavy-set boy who had a small dog with a twine tied around its neck. The boy yanked the dog’s head back then kicked it in its haunch.

         The dog gave another whimper, and Tim felt his good mood evaporate. Why would anyone do that to a helpless animal? he thought.

         ‘What are you gawkin’ at?’ said the boy aggressively.

         ‘I’m…I’m not gawking. But why are you hurting the dog?’

         The boy strode toward Tim, dragging the animal after him. ‘What’s it to you?’ he demanded.

         Tim swallowed hard trying not to show the fear he felt. The boy was bigger than him and rougher-looking, and Tim didn’t want to get into a fight with him.

         ‘I just heard the dog whimpering. And then I saw you kicking him.’

         66‘I’m training him.’

         Tim wanted to walk away, but something about the pitiful way the dog had cried stopped him. ‘Training him?’ he said.

         ‘Yeah, for my uncle. Not that it’s any of your business.’

         ‘I just don’t think you need to hurt him.’

         ‘You don’t tell me what to do,’ said the boy, moving his face close to Tim’s. ‘Who do you think you are?’

         Tim could feel his heart pounding, but he tried to keep his voice steady. ‘I’m just someone who likes dogs. And–’

         ‘And what?’

         ‘I don’t think you ever need to kick them.’

         ‘Do you not? Maybe you’re the one I should be kicking.’

         Tim said nothing, knowing that one wrong word here could spell disaster.

         ‘Where are you from?’

         ‘Dublin,’ answered Tim.

         ‘Dublin? And you think you can come up here and start giving orders?’

         ‘I’m not giving orders. I just said there’s no need to hurt the dog.’

         ‘Yeah? Let’s see what else you have to say.’

         Without warning the older boy dropped the twine. He grabbed Tim by the lapels of his overcoat and pulled him into the laneway. Tim tried to resist, but the other boy was stronger, and he dragged Tim further up the lane then pushed him back against the wall.

         67‘OK, big mouth,’ he said, his face just inches from Tim’s, ‘what else do you have to say?’

         Tim didn’t know how to reply, and the other boy tightened his grip on the coat lapels.

         ‘I asked you a question, pal, and I want an answer. Now what do you have to say?’

         
            * * *

         

         Isobel heard the barn door being unlocked and she rose to her feet. Were her kidnappers going to move her again? Or was there perhaps good news, and might she be released? She prayed that she would, and that she wouldn’t have another night like last night. Being taken prisoner had been terrifying, and later she had despaired when it became clear that there was no chance of going home. She had desperately wanted to be back with her family and would have given anything to be safe and snug in her own bed. And thinking of Mama and Papa, she had known they would be frantic with worry, which made things even worse. Eventually, however, she had forced herself to shake off the sense of despair.

         In fairness, her captors hadn’t mistreated her. Last night had been cold, but they had provided her with blankets, a mattress, and a hot water bottle, as well as a jug of water, a bowl of stew, and candles. This morning they had given her porridge for breakfast, followed by bread and milk. Maybe this could all end today, she 68thought, if her parents had received a ransom note and agreed to pay.

         Thinking about it gave her mixed feelings. Although her family was wealthy, she still hated the idea of criminals extorting money from them. Yet being kidnapped had been a nightmare, and she yearned to be safely home as soon as possible.

         The door swung open, and the tall man entered, then closed the barn door behind him.

         ‘Your parents must be really worried,’ he said with mock solicitude. ‘Time to let them know you’re alive and well.’

         Isobel was taken aback. Surely by now the kidnappers would have contacted her parents with their demands.

         As though reading her thoughts, the man spoke again. ‘We let them stew in their juices overnight,’ he said. ‘Get them to take us seriously.’

         Isobel felt a spurt of anger at the cruelty of his thinking, and the casual way he had said it.

         ‘Get a pencil and paper out of your schoolbag and start writing a note,’ he ordered.

         ‘No!’ answered Isobel impulsively. She had been deliberately passive so far in the hope of lowering the guard of her captors, but their tactic of deliberately letting her parents worry had roused her to anger. ‘You can write your own note,’ she said.

         ‘I think you’re getting a bit confused. You don’t give the orders, we do.’

         69‘You can still write your own note.’

         ‘No. It means more coming from you. As well as proving you’re still alive.’

         The words sent a chill up Isobel’s spine, but she tried not to show her fear.

         ‘So far, we’ve treated you well–’

         ‘Drugging me and hauling me into a van?’ snapped Isobel.

         ‘The next time you interrupt me like that, I’ll put manners on you.’

         The man’s tone was aggressive, and he looked at her menacingly. Isobel didn’t answer back but she forced herself not to look away either.

         ‘The key words there were so far. Because that can change fast. So you can send your parents a letter, and they’ll know from the handwriting that it’s you, and that you’re all right. Or you can refuse. And we can send one, with your blood on it. And they’ll know that you’re not all right.’

         Isobel felt her heart begin to pound. Would they really injure her? Maybe they were just trying to frighten her, she told herself. But the tall man seemed ruthless, and well capable of hurting her. Isobel said nothing for a moment, then nodded in surrender.

         ‘All right,’ she replied. ‘What do you want me to write?’

         
            * * *

         

         70Deirdre walked jauntily through Dundalk. She loved the feeling of being fancy-free and was looking forward to the carol service that she would attend after lunch. She had brought all of her saved pocket money with her, and had started her Christmas shopping, buying a pair of woollen gloves for Da and an embroidered scarf for Ma. Best of all she had bought herself a new hurley. She was a keen camogie player, and her old hurley was somewhat battered, so when she had seen a stallholder selling beautifully-crafted hurleys at a good price she had treated herself. She had slipped the new gloves and scarf into her overcoat pocket, so that her hands were free, and she casually swung the hurley now as she walked along.

         Deirdre reached the end of the central part of town and was about to turn around when she heard raised voices. The sound had come from a narrow laneway, and Deirdre stopped dead.

         ‘Get your hands off me!’ cried a voice that Deirdre recognised with surprise as her brother’s.

         Moving swiftly, she stepped into the lane and was shocked to see Tim pinned to the wall further up the lane by a bigger boy at whose feet stood a mongrel dog.

         ‘What’s going on?’ demanded Deirdre, quickly approaching.

         ‘He was beating the dog and I asked him not to,’ said Tim.

         ‘Let him go!’ cried Deirdre.

         Without relinquishing his grip on the lapels of Tim’s coat, the boy turned to Deirdre. ‘What’s it to you?’ he said.

         71‘He’s my brother. Now let him go.’

         ‘Or what?’

         Deirdre sensed that she mustn’t show weakness with this boy. Pulling herself up to her full height, she looked him in the eyes and kept her voice confident-sounding. ‘Let him go or you’ll have me to answer to.’

         The boy sneered. ‘Needs his sister to fight his battles?’

         ‘No. But when he meets a bully bigger than himself, I’m by his side. Now let him go, and that can be the end of it.’

         ‘Maybe I don’t want to end it,’ said the boy.

         Deirdre realised that reasoning wasn’t going to work. Instead, she said nothing but suddenly swung the hurley and banged it loudly on the ground. ‘Get your hands off him or the next time it’ll be your shin.’

         ‘Oh, will it?’ said the boy, releasing Tim and turning to face Deirdre. He stared hard at her, then slowly started to advance.

         Deirdre felt her pulses racing, but she stood her ground and raised the hurley. The boy kicked the dog out of his way, then continued his advance. Deirdre gripped the hurley tightly, readying herself for a sudden attack. From the corner of her eye, she saw Tim bending down, then there was a loud clanging sound, and Deirdre saw that her brother had banged a metal dustbin lid against the wall. The unexpected sound had startled the boy, and while he was distracted Tim moved quickly to place himself beside Deirdre. Tim held the bin lid as a weapon, while Deirdre 72banged the hurley again on the ground as a warning.

         She could see the boy was calculating what to do, aware that the balance of power had shifted. But had it shifted enough to stop him from attacking both of them, notwithstanding their makeshift weapons? Maybe now was the time to try reasoning, she thought.

         ‘You’ve two choices,’ said Deirdre. ‘You can be smart and leave well enough alone. And if you walk away no one will be any the wiser. Or you can be thick, and we can all batter each other. You decide.’

         Deirdre found herself holding her breath, knowing that this boy could easily do the stupid thing. For a long time, nobody spoke or moved. Deirdre sensed that to say anything further would appear weak, so she forced herself to stand immobile. To her relief, Tim didn’t waver either and stood unmoving, the dustbin lid gripped in his hands.

         Finally, the boy made the first move. He spat on the ground as though in disgust. ‘Wouldn’t waste me breath on ye,’ he said. Then he grabbed the twine that was tied around the dog’s neck, pulled roughly on the make-shift lead, and strutted off up the lane.

         Deirdre realised that he was trying to mask the fact that he had backed down, and she felt a surge of satisfaction.

         ‘Are you all right?’ she said, turning to her brother.

         Tim nodded. ‘I’m fine. But I’m glad we didn’t have to fight him.’

         Deirdre gave a wry grin. ‘Me too.’

         73‘And thanks, Sis. You’re a star.’

         ‘Sure, you’re not too bad yourself.’

         Tim lowered the dustbin lid to the ground. ‘Well, now that that’s got us into the Christmas spirit,’ he said ironically, ‘let’s enjoy the rest of our morning.’

         Deirdre grinned, then walked away with her brother.
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            Chapter Eight

         

         Isobel had spent the morning examining every inch of the barn. She had found no weak spot, however, no loose planking in the wall that could be prised open, no gaps through which she could squeeze. There were only two windows, in the wall above head height, and each had planks nailed across it to stop her from getting out, which was presumably why they had given her plenty of candles. The two doors into the barn were heavy and solid. One door was the one through which she had entered, and the other led to the adjoining farmhouse in which her captors were staying.

         Despite failing to find an escape route Isobel hadn’t given up. She had taken a pencil and paper from her schoolbag to write the note to her parents that the kidnappers had dictated. Also contained in her schoolbag was a sharp dividers, as part of her geometry set. After the men left her, Isobel had used it as a tool to scrape away some half-rotted wood at the base of the wall of the barn nearest the farmhouse. From watching her captors bringing in food, she had realised that there was a short passage connecting the barn to the kitchen of the house. The kitchen door seemed to be left open, and Isobel had gently scraped away with the dividers until she had made a small hole. It was nowhere near big enough to squeeze through, or to be noticed by the men, but Isobel had thought it could enable her to listen in on her captors’ conversations.

         75She was crouched now on the straw of the floor, still wrapped in her blankets to keep warm. It was clear that the men had no suspicion that they might be overheard, and they had spoken freely. Isobel had wondered how they could post the letter to her parents without the postmark giving away the sender’s location. Now, however, her eavesdropping had provided the answer. One of the men was going to get the train to Dundalk, and from there he would catch the mainline express that ran from Belfast to Dublin. On reaching Dublin he planned to post the letter, and thanks to the city’s efficient postal service, her parents would get it later today.

         She had to admit that it was clever. Then again, Papa was clever too, she told herself. He was also one of the most senior civil servants in the country, and as such, wielded a lot of power. Whatever he had to do to get her back safely – and preferably to arrest her captors – she was sure that he would do it.

         She heard the sound of the farmhouse door closing, and a moment later the noise of the engine, as the van was started up, then driven away. So things were finally moving. Time to play her part and leave some evidence. She rose from the straw and crossed to where her schoolbag lay on the ground. Taking out a pencil and paper, she propped the paper against her schoolbag. Recalling what she had written in her first place of captivity, she began to write.

         76Once again, she folded the paper into a small ball. Then she put down her schoolbag and looked about the barn, seeking a good hiding place for her piece of evidence.

         
            * * *

         

         ‘I have a good Christmas joke for you,’ said Aunt Helen.

         ‘We’ll tell you if it’s good or not!’ said Deirdre.

         Joe liked the easy atmosphere between his friends and their aunt, as they all sat round the kitchen table before bed. He liked too how Helen wasn’t like some adults, who wouldn’t allow children to poke fun at them.

         ‘I only tell jokes that are guaranteed to make you laugh,’ she said. ‘So, what happened to the thief who stole a Christmas calendar?’

         ‘What happened him?’ asked Joe, who found himself already smiling in anticipation.

         ‘He got twelve months!’ said Helen.

         Everybody laughed, and Joe felt relaxed enough to raise his hand as though in class. ‘I’ve a Christmas joke too,’ he said.

         ‘Go on then,’ said Deirdre.

         ‘What do you call an old snowman?’

         ‘I don’t know,’ she said, ‘what do you call an old snowman?’

         ‘Water.’

         Deirdre did a dramatic grimace. ‘That’s a terrible joke.’

         77‘No, I like it,’ countered her brother.

         Joe looked to Helen who was smiling broadly.

         ‘I like it too,’ she said. ‘Well done, Joe.’

         Joe felt pleased, and he sat back in his chair and sipped the creamy cocoa that Helen had made to go with their supper. It had been an eventful day, and he was glad that his father had allowed him to travel to Carlingford with his friends. He had sent a postcard to Dad from Dundalk, and had bought several small Christmas presents from the stall-holders selling their wares in the town. After lunch – which Helen had insisted was her treat – they had gone to a carol service that got everyone into the Christmas mood.

         Tim, being Tim, had made a game of it afterwards, and had got each of them to say what was the best carol of all time. Joe had chosen ‘Oh, Holy Night’, which always reminded him of Christmas when his mother was alive. Helen had opted for ‘Adeste Fideles’, Deirdre had picked ‘Silent Night’, and Tim’s choice had been ‘Good King Wenceslas’.

         It had been a fun-filled visit, although Joe regretted that he had missed the confrontation with the boy who had abused the dog. Being tall and sporty, Joe was rarely picked on, but he still hated bullies. He wished that he could have been there to support his friend – and help the poor dog – even though it sounded like Tim and Deirdre had acquitted themselves well in the end. His other slight regret was that he and Tim had had no chance to do 78any detective work on possible smuggling around Carlingford. But maybe they could do something about that tomorrow. Helen was taking an early train to meet a seed supplier in Newry, which meant that the three friends would be left to their own devices.

         ‘You look like you’re away with the fairies, Joe,’ said Helen now.

         ‘Sorry,’ he answered, coming out of his reverie, ‘just…just thinking of something.’

         ‘I’m thinking of something too,’ said Helen. ‘I’m thinking it’s time for bed.’

         ‘Ah, Aunt Helen,’ said Deirdre.

         ‘Don’t Aunt Helen me, I know it’s well past your normal bedtime. So, what would you say to one last round of apple tart, and then it’s up the stairs with you?’

         ‘Sounds good to me,’ said Tim.

         ‘Me too,’ said Deirdre.

         ‘And me,’ said Joe with a smile. ‘And me!’

         
            * * *

         

         Isobel could barely believe her ears. She was crouched on the floor, eavesdropping on a late-night conversation at the hole that she had made at the base of the wall. It was obvious from how openly her captors were speaking that they had no inkling that they could be heard. Isobel breathed slowly and deeply, trying to calm herself. It had never occurred to her that being kidnapped 79could have been for anything other than money. Now, however, she had overheard the truth, and it was shocking.

         The men that had taken her were clearly hardened criminals, and one of their associates had been arrested in connection with a serious crime. He was facing a long prison sentence if successfully tried and convicted, and the kidnappers’ plan was that in return for Isobel’s release, her father would quietly drop the case. Isobel knew that as Chief State Prosecutor he had the final say on which cases went to court, and which didn’t.

         But what would Papa do? He was a loving father, and Isobel knew that getting her back safely would be hugely important to him. But he was also strongly moral, with a deep respect for the law. Would he turn his back on all that, and allow a criminal to walk free? If he wanted to, he could probably find some technicality to justify not going ahead with a case. Would he sacrifice his principles for his own daughter? Isobel suspected that however difficult it would be for him, he would ignore his conscience and put her first.

         Was that really what she wanted? If she were honest, it was. Her captors were frightening, and up to this she had tried not to dwell on what might happen if her father didn’t comply with their wishes. Now, though, she had to consider it. What if they carried out their threat to hurt her and send a bloodied letter? The thought made her stomach tighten in fear. Or supposing they kept her prisoner indefinitely? That too was chilling to consider, 80and even though she knew it would be wrong to give in to criminals, she hoped that Dad would do as they asked.

         Meanwhile was there anything that she could do herself? She rose from the floor, shaking the straw from her dress, and looked around the barn again. There was nothing she saw that could be used as a weapon or a tool for escape. She crossed to a battered desk, on which there was a jug of water and two candlesticks. She knew that there were candles and matches in the drawer of the desk, and she was struck by an idea. Supposing she lit a candle and used that to start a fire in the straw that was stored in the barn? Even if the farm was remote, it might still draw attention, and the possibility of rescue. On the other hand it would be really dangerous to light a fire in a wooden barn. Supposing it spread quickly, before her captors unlocked the door to get her out, and she was burned alive? Or she could be overcome by fumes if they weren’t quick enough to respond. No, it was simply too risky. But thinking about the candles gave her another idea.

         She crossed to the desk and tried lifting it. It was solid and heavy, but she managed to rase the corner off the floor and pull it quietly. She moved it until it was underneath the section of barn wall in which one of the windows was.

         Isobel took out a candle and the box of matches, then climbed up on the desk. The window was still too high for her to see out of, but by raising her hand she was able to bring it up to the level of the window. She lowered her arm again, took a match from 81the box and lit the candle. When the flame was burning brightly, she raised her arm again. Wooden slats had been nailed across the window, presumably so that she couldn’t climb out. But they left gaps, and now Isobel lifted the lighted candle to one of the gaps. She held it there briefly, then lowered it, and she repeated the procedure twice more. Then she did three long exposures of the candle, followed by three more short ones.

         She knew that the farmhouse was remote, and nobody might see her signal. But it was the only thing she could think of, and she hoped, and prayed, that somebody would see her SOS.

         
            * * *

         

         ‘You’re not going to believe this!’ said Tim, keeping his voice low as he stepped into the bedroom he was sharing with Joe.

         His friend was already in his nightshirt, and he looked up enquiringly. ‘Believe what?’

         ‘When I was in the toilet, I glanced out the window, and I saw a flashing light in the distance.’

         ‘And what? Do you think it’s smugglers at sea?’

         ‘No, the window isn’t facing the sea, it’s looking out at the dark of the mountainside.’

         ‘Right.’

         ‘It was a distress signal, Joe.’

         ‘How do you know?’

         82‘It was an SOS.’

         ‘Are you sure?’

         ‘Pretty sure. It was far off, but it looked like three short, three long, and three short flashes.’

         ‘How far off was it?’

         ‘Hard to tell in the dark. It could have been a mile, half a mile.’

         ‘Why don’t we use the binoculars to take a better look?’ suggested Joe.

         ‘Great idea.’

         Joe removed the binoculars from their case and held them out. ‘Here, you take them, you know where to look.’

         ‘Thanks,’ said Tim. ‘And let’s go quietly. No need to disturb Aunt Helen or Deirdre till we know more.’

         ‘Fine.’

         Tim opened the bedroom door, then padded along the landing till he reached the toilet. Joe followed close behind and closed the door softly.

         ‘Let’s just take a minute to get our night sight,’ suggested Tim, shivering slightly in the December air.

         ‘Good thinking.’

         ‘Right,’ said Tim after a moment, ‘I can’t wait any longer.’ He raised the binoculars to his eyes. The powerful lenses magnified the dark hillside, but no light pierced the gloom. After a while he lowered the binoculars. ‘Probably better to wait till we see a light, and then focus in on it.’

         83‘Let me just do a scan all the same,’ said Joe. ‘Where did you see the light?’

         ‘Up the hillside, a bit to the right.’

         Joe now scanned the hillside, and Tim waited impatiently, willing the flashing lights to appear again to confirm his story.

         Eventually Joe lowered the binoculars and spoke quietly. ‘Looks like there’s nothing happening.’

         ‘Yeah,’ agreed Tim reluctantly. ‘But I didn’t just imagine it.’

         ‘I believe you. But…maybe the person has stopped signalling.’

         ‘Could be.’

         ‘So what are we going to do?’

         Tim thought a moment. ‘I don’t think there’s much we can do tonight. Why don’t we wait till the morning. Then we can use the binoculars to study where the light came from.’

         ‘And then?’

         Tim turned to his friend, and when he spoke, he couldn’t keep the excitement out of his voice. ‘Then maybe, just maybe, we have a mystery to solve.’84
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            Part Two

            Investigating
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            Chapter Nine

         

         ‘How sure can you be about lights flashing in the distance?’ asked Deirdre, looking at her brother across the breakfast table. The boys had told her about last night’s incident, but she knew how they loved mystery stories, and she wondered if their wish for an adventure might be getting the better of them.

         ‘I know what I saw,’ said her twin, ‘and it wasn’t just random lights.’

         Deirdre said nothing and tried to weigh things up. Her day had started well, her spirits rising when she looked out the window and saw a light blanket of snow on the ground. She loved everything about snow – its pure whiteness, the way it seemed to create a hush by dampening sound, and the snowball fights that invariably broke out after a snowfall. Aunt Helen had left Deirde sleeping and had departed early for her meeting in Newry. She had left cooked porridge and honey for breakfast, and Deirdre felt pleasantly warm and full now as she pushed away her bowl.

         ‘So, what do you think?’ said Joe.

         Deirdre turned to him. ‘I’m not sure what to think.’

         ‘We scanned the whole mountain with the binoculars this morning,’ said Tim. ‘We reckon the signal came from a farmhouse we spotted up near the top of the hillside.’

         ‘Let’s just say you did see an SOS signal,’ said Deirdre. ‘Why 88would anyone on a remote farm want to send out that signal?’

         ‘If someone was in danger and wanted help,’ answered Tim.

         ‘Or somebody could be warning off an accomplice,’ suggested Joe. ‘Saying “don’t come here, it’s not safe right now.”’

         ‘We’ve an opportunity here. With Aunt Helen gone, we could check it out,’ said Tim.

         Deirdre looked at her brother. ‘What, go up to that farmhouse?’

         ‘Yes.’

         ‘And say what? “We heard that smuggling goes on around here, were you signalling to an accomplice?’’’

         ‘We wouldn’t have to say anything, we could just check the place out,’ said Joe.

         ‘Think it out, boys,’ answered Deirdre. ‘They could spot you coming, and even if they didn’t, they’d know from your footprints in the snow that you’d been there, snooping around.’

         ‘Hadn’t thought of that,’ admitted Joe.

         ‘We could sneak up carefully, and tie sacking around our feet,’ said Tim. ‘That way there wouldn’t be obvious footprints.’

         ‘This is a bit of a turn-around, isn’t it?’ said Deirdre.

         Her brother looked at her quizzically. ‘How do you mean?’

         ‘Normally I’m the hothead, and you’re the sensible one.’

         ‘But I’m the one who saw the signal, Deirdre. I can’t just ignore a distress call.’

         ‘I’m not saying ignore it.’

         ‘So, what do you think we should do?’ asked Joe.

         89‘How many days is it since we got our medals from Superintendent Leech?’

         ‘Four days,’ answered Tim. ‘But what’s that got to do with anything?’

         ‘Four days,’ echoed Deirdre. ‘So, you should remember what he said. Next time, come to us. We didn’t think there’d be a next time. But now maybe there is.’

         ‘You really think we should go to the police?’ said Joe.

         ‘Yes, we know where the barracks is.’

         ‘We could do both,’ said Tim. ‘Do a bit of detective work to get more information, and then go to the police.’

         ‘If someone is in trouble, I don’t think we should waste time,’ said Deirdre. ‘I say we go and report it.’

         ‘I say the more information we have, the more they’ll take us seriously,’ countered Tim.

         Deirdre turned to Joe. ‘Looks like you have the casting vote. Do we check it out? Or do we go to the police?’

         
            * * *

         

         Isobel tried to convince herself that she was building a case against her kidnappers. But was she really? Or was she just trying to stay occupied to keep panic at bay? Either way, she had hidden the note proving that she had been held here in the barn, and she was aware from her eavesdropping that the man who had driven 90the van, and who seemed to be the owner of the farm, was called Ben. She knew, though, that none of that would matter if a case didn’t go to court. And that wouldn’t happen unless she either escaped or was released.

         Were Mama and Papa working on that? Of course they were, she told herself. She wanted so much to be back with them, but knew that they must be suffering too, and distraught over her abduction.

         When the tall man had brought in food for her breakfast, she had asked him what was happening with her parents, but he had brusquely told her to be patient. Before she could question him further, he had plonked down a bowl of porridge and some bread and butter, then walked out again, locking the door behind him. Although it was obvious that he didn’t like her, Isobel had to admit that her captors had treated her fairly well. Last night had been cold, but she had been given heavy blankets and a hot water bottle, and to her surprise had actually slept well on an old mattress in the corner of the barn.

         Now she was listening at the hole in the wall to a conversation that the two men were having in the kitchen.

         ‘Fair play to you, Ned, it’s brilliant to kill two birds with the one stone.’

         So the tall man’s name was Ned, Isobel noted, pleased to get another piece of information on her kidnappers.

         91‘If we just let her ladyship go after Whacker’s released, questions might get asked,’ said Ned.

         Isobel realised that ‘her ladyship’ was a reference to herself, and she knew that Whacker was the name of the criminal who was held on remand, and whose case these men wanted her father to drop.

         ‘But if they think the father paid cash to free his daughter, that grabs all the attention,’ continued Ned. ‘Whacker seems a separate thing.’

         ‘So we get him released, plus a lump sum – I love it!’

         ‘They can well afford it. Living in their fancy house, eating and drinking like kings.’

         Isobel swallowed hard, her head reeling. She wasn’t surprised by the bitterness that Ned clearly felt towards her class, but she was horrified that the men intended to pressurise her father into two different kinds of payment. It was bad enough that the price of her freedom was a criminal getting off scot-free. But now these men wanted to enrich themselves as well. Up to this Isobel had been frightened of what might happen to her. And she was still frightened. But now she felt her anger mounting. She needed to find a way to channel that anger. Crouching at the wall, she strained her ears, eager to learn everything she could about her enemies.
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            Chapter Ten

         

         Joe breathed in deeply, savouring the bracing morning air. On the far side of the lough, he could see the Mountains of Mourne, rising like snowclad sentinels against the blue of the winter sky. The countryside looked magical under its light coat of snow as he walked with his friends down the road that led to Carlingford.

         Joe had cast his vote that they should notify the police. Part of him wanted to follow Tim’s suggestion and to investigate the matter for themselves. In the end, though, he had agreed with Deirdre. He also felt that this was what his father would have wanted. Despite the praise from Chief Superintendent Leech, and the awarding of the medals, Joe knew Dad wasn’t comfortable with the idea of his son being a junior crime-fighter. And so going to the police station seemed the right option. Even so, Joe wasn’t sure how they would be received by the police in Carlingford. It was one thing talking to Chief Superintendent Leech, who knew how well the three friends had performed in returning a valuable painting. But would a local constable in a rural village take them seriously?

         They reached the outskirts of Carlingford, and Joe was impressed now that he saw it in daylight. The winter sun gave a soft glow to the medieval church and ancient town walls and arches, while the ruined castle rose dramatically above the 93sparkling waters of Carlingford Lough.

         ‘OK,’ said Deirdre, ‘what way are we going to do this?’

         ‘I should probably report it, seeing as I was the one who saw the lights,’ said Tim.

         ‘That makes sense,’ his sister said. ‘Don’t over-egg it though, or they mightn’t take you seriously.’

         ‘I’m not an eejit,’ said Tim.

         ‘I’m just saying.’

         Joe suddenly stopped, and his friends halted also and looked enquiringly at him.

         ‘Something’s struck me,’ he said.

         ‘What?’ asked Tim,

         ‘Like you say, there’s a chance they’ll just think of us as kids, and not take it seriously. Maybe all three of us shouldn’t go in. I’d like to be there, but three of us might look like we’re making an outing of it.’

         Deirdre looked thoughtful. ‘You could be right,’ she said.

         Joe moved on again, and his friends fell into step. ‘And there’s another thing,’ he said. ‘We’re doing our duty reporting it to the police. But if they don’t take it seriously, we’ll follow it up ourselves, won’t we?’

         ‘Absolutely,’ said Tim.

         ‘Then maybe it’s better if one of us stays unknown to the police.’

         ‘That all makes sense,’ said Deirdre. ‘But we better decide soon, that’s the station up ahead.’

         94‘Well, if you’re happy enough to wait outside, Joe,’ said Tim, ‘Dee and I will do it.’

         Joe nodded. ‘I’d love to go in. But let’s be smart and keep me in reserve.’

         
            * * *

         

         The snow at the end of the main street was already being trampled into slush, and on reaching the police station, Tim kicked his boots against the pavement to clear them. He paused outside the door and turned to his sister. ‘Ready?’

         ‘Yes.’

         ‘All right.’ Opening the door, he walked in, followed by Deirdre.

         A heavily-built constable with a thick black moustache sat behind a desk, and the room was warm, with a coal fire burning in the grate. The man put down the paperwork he had been reading and looked up enquiringly.

         ‘Good morning,’ said Tim, striving to make his tone polite yet confident. ‘I’d like to speak to whoever is in charge, please.’

         ‘The sergeant’s up in Dublin, so that would be me. What is it you wanted?’

         The constable’s tone was neutral, and his expression gave nothing away, but Tim sensed that this man might not take them seriously. Better play his trump card regarding the police medal straight away.

         95‘My name is Tim Kavanagh, and this is my sister Deirdre, and we were awarded police medals by Chief Superintendent Leech in Dublin, for helping solve a crime there.’

         ‘Were you, indeed? Well, aren’t you great?’

         Tim thought he picked up a slight undercurrent of mockery, but he couldn’t be sure.

         ‘We’re staying on my aunt’s farm, and–’

         ‘Who’s your aunt?’ interrupted the policeman.

         ‘Helen Gormley. She farms up on the hillside.’

         ‘Yes, I know the place.’

         ‘Anyway, last night I saw something that we felt should be reported.’

         ‘And what’s that?’

         ‘Flashing lights, sending a signal.’

         ‘Flashing lights?’

         ‘It was a morse code signal,’ explained Deirdre. ‘Spelling out SOS.’

         ‘Really? You know morse code?

         ‘Tim does. And he reckons he saw a distress signal.’

         ‘Coming from where?’

         ‘I think it was from the farm above my aunt’s, up on the top of the mountainside,’ said Tim.

         ‘I see.’

         Tim felt that he picked up a glimmer of interest in the constable’s eyes even though his tone was still neutral.

         96‘Well, I don’t doubt that you saw flashing lights,’ the man said. ‘But there’s probably an innocent explanation.’

         Tim was disappointed by this response, and he steeled himself not to be browbeaten. ‘I’m pretty sure it wasn’t just flashing lights,’ he answered. ‘I think it was a signal, and it seemed to be coming from the direction of the farm.’

         ‘Right, I’ll look into that.’ The constable rose from behind the desk. ‘Thank you for letting me know.’

         Tim realised that the man was ending the meeting. ‘I’d love to know how you get on,’ he said.

         ‘I’ve a lot in hand, with the sergeant gone. But I’ll deal with this straight away.’

         ‘Thank you. We’ll call back later.’ Before the man could object, Tim turned around and headed out the door, followed by Deirdre. He saw Joe, waiting further down the street, then Deirdre spoke.

         ‘What did you think of that?

         ‘He could have been brushing us off, but I think he took it on board,’ said Tim.

         ‘So, what do we do now?’

         ‘Head back to Aunt Helen’s, get out the binoculars, and see what happens if he visits the farm.’
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            Chapter Eleven

         

         ‘Lads!’ cried Deirdre. ‘I see him!’ She was standing with her elbows propped on the stone wall in the yard of Helen’s farm with the binoculars pressed against her eyes. Joe and Tim ran across the snow-covered yard to her side.

         ‘You’re sure it’s him?’ said Tim.

         ‘Yes. Green uniform – I can see him clearly.’

         ‘Looks like he wasn’t just fobbing you both off then,’ said Joe.

         Deirdre swivelled slightly to track the constable’s progress, and she felt her heart starting to race. They had just got back to the farm after visiting the station, and it was exciting that the policeman was acting so promptly on their information.

         ‘Let’s not jump the gun,’ cautioned Tim. ‘He could be cycling to somewhere else.’

         ‘I don’t think so,’ said Deirdre. ‘He’s just turned up the track that leads towards that farmhouse.’

         ‘I’d love to see what happens up there,’ said Joe.

         ‘Maybe he’ll make some arrests,’ suggested Tim.

         Deirdre hadn’t given this much thought, but now that Tim had raised the issue, she suddenly felt uneasy. ‘If there is something criminal going on there, he could be outnumbered,’ she said.

         ‘He’s probably armed, though,’ said Tim.

         98Deirdre tried to focus the binoculars more finely before replying. ‘He doesn’t seem to be carrying a rifle.’

         ‘But all RIC constables have Webley revolvers in the stations,’ said Joe. ‘So he’s probably carrying his revolver, seeing as he’s gone out alone.’

         Deirdre didn’t find this as reassuring as Joe. ‘He could still be outnumbered,’ she said. ‘I hope we haven’t sent him into harm’s way.’

         ‘It’s not our fault that the sergeant is gone to Dublin,’ argued Tim. ‘And this fella’s not a rookie policeman. He must think that it’s safe enough for him to investigate on his own.’

         ‘Hang on, he’s getting off the bike,’ said Deirdre.

         ‘Maybe he wants to sneak up on the farmhouse,’ suggested Joe.

         ‘Don’t think so,’ answered Deirdre. ‘He’s not putting the bike down to go on foot.’ She followed the man’s progress with the binoculars, then turned to the boys. ‘He’s pushing the bike; the hill must have been too steep for him.’

         ‘I thought you had to be fit to be a policeman,’ said Tim.

         ‘Maybe when you’re starting off,’ said Joe, ‘but I’ve seen a few chubby older ones.’

         Deirdre swung the binoculars back, scanning the mountain track until she found the constable again. ‘He’s coming up to the farmyard,’ she said, unable to keep a tremor of excitement from her voice.

         ‘OK, here we go,’ said Joe.

         99‘Keep your eyes peeled, sis.’

         ‘I will. Fingers crossed it’s not a wild goose chase.’

         
            * * *

         

         Isobel rose to her feet on hearing the creaking of the farmyard gate. Somebody was coming. She had been resting on the mattress, but now she crossed quickly to the hole at the base of the wall. If the visitor came into the farmhouse kitchen, she wanted to hear what was said, and she crouched down on the floor, eager to listen in.

         To her surprise, she heard a loud series of knocks from what she presumed was the door at the front of the house. Isobel had reckoned that whoever was coming would be an accomplice of Ned and Ben, as she now knew her captors to be called. She also knew from the overheard conversation that her father had been instructed by letter to place a bowl of flowers on the landing window of their home, as a sign that he wanted to trade for her release. But surely if an accomplice had come from Dublin to report on that he would let himself in, rather than knocking? And if it wasn’t an accomplice, who might it be?

         It could be someone like the postman, she reasoned. Or maybe, just maybe, a neighbour had seen her signal last night and was coming to ask about the flashing lights. She had signalled with the candle, holding it aloft to the high window until her arms had 100ached. Could all that effort have paid off? If that were the case, now was her chance to cry out for help.

         Isobel hesitated, however, her instinct telling her to hold off. If she called for help and the visitor turned out to be in league with the kidnappers there could be hell to pay. It was bad enough being kept prisoner in a cold dark barn, but if she shouted now and it backfired, the men would be angry. They might beat her. Or bind and gag her. That would be too awful to bear. But if she wanted to escape maybe she had to be brave and take the risk. She breathed deeply trying to calm herself so that she could think clearly. If she was going to shout out, it had to be now, before the visitor did whatever business they had at the door and left. But if it was an accomplice, it would be far better to stay quiet and try to listen in on what he had to say when he was let into the house. She hesitated a moment longer then made her decision. Reckoning that it probably wasn’t the postman or an inquisitive neighbour, she did nothing, and waited to see what would happen next.

         
            * * *

         

         ‘What’s going on?’ asked Joe, unable to control his impatience.

         ‘He’s knocked on the front door,’ answered Deirdre without taking the binoculars from her eyes.

         Joe shielded his own eyes and looked up the mountainside towards the farm, but the sunlight falling on the white of the 101snow dazzled him. ‘Has he drawn his pistol?’ he asked.

         ‘No. Though I wish he had.’

         Joe stamped his feet against the cold while awaiting more details from Deirdre.

         ‘All right,’ she said. ‘Door’s opening now…’

         ‘Come on, Dee, don’t keep us in suspense!’ her brother said.

         ‘Don’t distract me, Tim, I’m trying to concentrate!’

         Joe was anxious to see what would happen, but he said nothing, realising that there was no point in hounding Deirdre.

         ‘A tall man has answered the door,’ she said now.

         ‘Has the constable gone in?’ asked Joe.

         ‘No, they’re talking on the doorstep.’

         Joe felt a stab of disappointment, having hoped that the policeman would search the farmhouse.

         Deirdre said nothing further and after a moment her brother spoke up. ‘What’s happening?’

         ‘They’re having a right aul natter,’ said Deirdre. ‘Oh, hold on.’

         ‘What?’ said Joe.

         ‘He’s leaving.’

         ‘The constable?’

         ‘Yes, he’s wheeling his bicycle back across the farmyard.’

         ‘I can’t believe he never checked the place out,’ said Joe.

         ‘I thought he looked a bit lazy and well-fed, right enough,’ said Tim.

         ‘Maybe he got a good explanation,’ suggested Deirdre, the 102binoculars still pressed to her eyes. ‘And in fairness, he did check it out right away, like he promised.’

         ‘Keep your eyes on him, Deirdre. He might pretend to go, but secretly check out the farm buildings.’

         Deirdre swivelled, following the man’s progress, then she lowered the binoculars. ‘Sorry, Joe. That’s not happening. He’s just going back down the hillside.’

         ‘We could head back down to the station and ask him how he got on,’ said Tim.

         Despite his disappointment that the constable hadn’t done any searching, Joe knew that he needed to think clearly. ‘We need to be careful here,’ he said. ‘We don’t want him to know that we were spying on him. Let’s give him a little while before you go back to him.’

         ‘That makes sense,’ said Deirdre.

         ‘OK,’ said Tim. ‘Meanwhile, do you know what we could do?’ ‘What?’ asked Joe.

         ‘Pelt each other with snowballs,’ answered Tim, quickly scooping up a handful of snow and throwing it, with a cry of glee, at his sister.

         
            * * *

         

         Isobel was surprised when she heard the creaking of the farmyard gate closing, and her mind began to race. She had expected to hear 103the person who had knocked being brought into the farmhouse kitchen. The creaking gate, however, suggested that whoever it was had left after a short conversation. Could that still have been an accomplice? Someone who had delivered a short message and then left? Or had she missed her chance? Supposing it had been a neighbour or the postman? Maybe they wouldn’t have heard her, had she shouted from the barn. But perhaps they would have. And now, because of her caution, she may have missed an opportunity to be rescued.

         She felt a sense of despair, followed by a surge of anger at her helplessness and lack of knowledge of what was happening. Before she knew what she was doing, she rose and pounded on the door between the barn and the farmhouse. They had to at least tell her what was going on, she decided.

         Isobel heard the sound of approaching footsteps, then the door swung open, and the tall man called Ned strode into the barn. He looked angry, but Isobel was angry too, and she decided that attack was the best form of defence.

         ‘What’s been happening?’ she demanded. ‘I’m entitled to know what’s going on.’

         ‘You’re entitled to nothing!’ answered Ned. ‘That’s the problem with stuck-up brats like you. You think you’re entitled to everything.’

         Isobel was taken aback by the venom with which he spoke. Before she could reply he pointed at her and drew nearer.

         104‘Where I grew up, we were entitled to nothing. We fought for every little thing. Well, that’s changed now. You’re the one entitled to nothing, and we’re the ones going to do well. So don’t bang that door again or by God, you’ll regret it.’

         Isobel tried not to flinch. She told herself that he’d regret it when her hidden note was used as evidence. Despite being frightened of him she stared at her captor as defiantly as she could.

         He stepped in closer and spoke in a lower, more menacing voice. ‘And then there’s sending signals.’

         Isobel swallowed hard, taken aback that he knew about using a candle for the SOS. She waited for him to reveal how he knew, and instead was taken by surprise when he suddenly swung his hand and slapped her face. Isobel reeled backwards, deeply shocked and in pain from the blow. She raised her hand to her cheek to ease the stinging.

         ‘That’s for the trouble you’ve caused,’ said Ned.

         Isobel felt outraged, and with her face smarting it took an effort not to cry.

         ‘Now give me the candles,’ he ordered.’

         ‘No, please! Don’t take them. It would be really dark without them.’

         ‘Should have thought of that before you tried to be smart. Get me the box of candles.’

         ‘Please don’t leave me in the dark,’ she said. ‘Leave me at least one or two, and I promise I won’t do any more signalling.’

         105‘Get the candles!’

         Isobel reluctantly crossed to the box of candles. She turned her back and slipped one into her pocket, then brought the box back to Ned. He wordlessly took it and went over to the candle that was burning beside Isobel’s mattress. He bent down and blew it out, plunging the barn into a gloomy half-light. ‘Cross me again and you won’t know what hit you,’ he said. Then he walked briskly out the door, locking it after him.

         Isobel stood unmoving, her face stinging and her mind in a whirl. In her world, gentlemen never struck ladies. But she’d left the security of that world - she was living in Ned’s world now. Dazed by what had happened, she slowly crossed to her mattress and slumped down onto it. She lowered her head into her hands, wishing she was back with her family, as the tears began to run down her cheeks.
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            Chapter Twelve

         

         Tim felt nervous as he and Deirdre approached the police station. At Joe’s suggestion they had waited about half an hour, to give the constable time to get settled after his trip to the farm. It was still very soon after their earlier visit to the station, however, and Tim was aware that the policeman might be irritated by their checking up on him. ‘We’ll need to play this carefully,’ he said.

         ‘Let’s be polite, but don’t apologise,’ suggested Deirdre. ‘We should act like it’s reasonable to ask about progress.’

         ‘OK.’ Tim could see Joe waiting further down the street and he gave his friend a thumbs up sign, then turned back to his sister. ‘All right, reasonable it is.’

         As before, they kicked the snow off their boots, then entered the police station. Once again Tim was struck by the cosy atmosphere and the warmth of the coal fire. He could see the surprise on the face of the constable who was seated at his desk and writing up a ledger.

         Before the man could react, Tim spoke in a courteous tone. ‘Good morning again, Constable, and sorry for disturbing your work. We won’t take up much of your time.’

         The man said nothing, and Tim wasn’t sure if his polite approach had worked, or whether the constable would object to their return visit. The policeman took up a sheet of blotting paper 107and dried whatever he had written in the ledger. He laid down his pen and looked Tim in the eye.

         ‘Make this quick,’ he said. ‘I’ve duties to attend to.’

         ‘And we’re grateful for your time,’ said Deirdre. ‘But we felt we had a duty as well, and that’s why we came to you earlier.’

         Tim thought that this was a nice way of saying that they too had a stake in the proceedings, and he decided to try to sweeten their approach with a little flattery. ‘We were very grateful, Constable, that you said you’d look into it straight away. Weren’t we, Deirdre?’

         ‘Absolutely.’

         ‘So of course we were eager to know how you got on.’

         The policeman hesitated, then seemed to decide to share some information. ‘I went to the farm on the hillside above your aunt’s,’ he said. ‘By the way, why isn’t your aunt with you?’

         ‘She went into Newry early this morning,’ answered Deirdre.

         ‘Right. Anyway, I called to the farm, very soon after you left. I questioned the owner. After taking a detailed statement I satisfied myself that he hadn’t been involved in anything to do with lights or signalling.’

         Tim wanted to say, ‘Why didn’t you check out the farmhouse and the barn?’ But asking that would give away the fact that they had been spying on the constable with the binoculars. Instead he decided to push a little from a different direction. ‘So he just told you he had nothing to do with it?’

         108‘Yes.’

         ‘And you…you trust him?’

         ‘I know my job, sonny.’

         ‘I’m sure you do,’ said Deirdre, ‘but–’

         ‘No buts! I questioned them in detail. I’m perfectly satisfied with his explanation. Whatever you saw last night, it wasn’t coming from there.’

         ‘But…there’s no other farm below them, is there?’ asked Tim.

         ‘No, there’s not.’

         ‘So I just wonder where it came from?’

         ‘Could have been pranksters,’ said the constable, his tone a little less irritable now. ‘People with drink taken, mucking about. It happens. Or maybe you saw flashing lights that seemed like a signal, but weren’t actually an SOS.’

         Tim was about to argue further but he stopped himself, sensing that this wasn’t the moment to dig his heels in.

         ‘You’ve played your part in alerting me,’ said the policeman ‘And I’ll keep a sharp eye open tonight, though I suspect there’s nothing to worry about.’ He rose from behind the desk. ‘Thank you for your interest.’

         It was an obvious end to the conversation, and Tim could see that Deirdre was annoyed at being shown the door, however politely. He caught his sister’s eye and gave a quick shake of the head to indicate not to push things. Better to say nothing more for now and make their own plans, he thought.

         109‘Thank you, Constable,’ he said. Then he crossed the room, opened the door for Deirdre, and followed her out.

         
            * * *

         

         Isobel crouched at the hole in the wall, listening in once more on her captors. Despite the shock of being smacked in the face, and the gloom of the barn after her candles had been confiscated, she had shaken off last night’s despair. Telling herself that she mustn’t give in, she had rediscovered her resolve to escape and to bring her kidnappers to justice.

         Listening now to their conversation, she heard Ned and Ben making plans to move her again. She hadn’t heard the start of the conversation, so she didn’t know why the move was being made. Had her captors been spooked, she wondered, by whoever had knocked on the door earlier?

         Not that it mattered. The important thing was that they were going to transport her again. Which might provide an opportunity to escape. Or failing that, to draw attention to the fact that she was being held prisoner. Wanting to boost her confidence, she made a mental list of her advantages.

         She knew who the men were, and they didn’t know that she knew.

         She knew about their next move, and the need to transport her to another location.

         She had hidden notes in both places where they had held her captive,  110and named Ned and Ben, so that there would be solid evidence to link them to the kidnaping.

         She had been genuinely shaken after being struck by Ned, and now she would keep up the pretence of being cowed, to lull them into a false sense of security.

         She had a weapon. They had allowed her to keep her schoolbag containing the geometry set. She had used the sharp, two-pronged dividers to make the hole in the wall and, if need be, the dividers could be used as a weapon.

         Would she really be able to stab someone? She didn’t know. But it was still good to know that in an emergency she had a weapon at her disposal.

         Just then the two men finished their conversation, and Ben left the kitchen. Isobel quickly rose and returned to her mattress, not wanting to let Ned catch her eavesdropping, should he suddenly enter the barn. He didn’t come in, however, and after a moment she reckoned that she had a little time before they came for her. She sat immobile, her mind racing, as she tried to figure out her next move.

         
            * * *

         

         ‘Looks like we’re going to have more snow,’ said Deirdre. She was walking along the main street of Carlingford, after she and Tim had left the police station and rejoined Joe. She indicated the 111sky, which had quickly gone from clear blue to a murky grey, and although it wasn’t yet noon, a mist was creeping in from off the lough that made the day suddenly feel gloomy.

         ‘I hope so,’ said Tim, ‘I love snow.’

         ‘Me too,’ said Joe. ‘But just to get back to the constable, what is it about him you didn’t like?’

         Deirdre thought briefly. ‘Hard to say exactly. I can’t help feeling he was too lazy to bother checking the farmhouse. On the other hand, he cycled up there after we reported the SOS. I don’t know, Joe, it’s just a feeling he’s not taking us seriously.’

         ‘I’d say there’s a bit of that,’ agreed Tim. ‘And I didn’t really like him. But maybe we’re being a bit unfair.’

         ‘In what way?’ asked Joe.

         ‘Maybe he couldn’t check the farmhouse. It’s just struck me, but do the police need a warrant from a judge to search someone’s home?’

         ‘Do they?’ asked Deirdre.

         ‘Actually, I think they do,’ said Joe.

         Deirdre felt a pang of frustration. ‘That’s really annoying. To think maybe we saw a crime being committed, and a policeman can’t check it out.’

         ‘I know,’ said Tim. ‘Then again, he says he was satisfied, that the farmer gave a detailed statement.’

         ‘Did he actually use that phrase? ‘A detailed statement’?’ asked Joe.

         112Deirdre looked at her friend curiously. ‘Yes. Why?’

         ‘I thought a statement was something a policeman wrote down. But when you watched him with the binoculars at the farmhouse, he didn’t write anything down. You said he just spoke to the farmer.’

         ‘That’s true,’ said Deirdre thoughtfully.

         ‘It could be just a phrase policemen use,’ said Tim. ‘A statement, a conversation – it comes to the same thing. The point is, he’s leaving it at that. So we have to decide where we stand.’

         ‘We could just leave well enough alone,’ said Joe. ‘We’ve done our duty by reporting it, we could just relax and enjoy the next two days.’

         Deirdre was surprised by her friend’s suggestion and she stopped walking. They had reached the Market Square, and when Joe and Tim came to a halt, Deirdre looked Joe in the eye. ‘Seriously, is that what you want to do?’

         ‘No. But it’s a choice. And I thought, no harm to weigh up all our choices.’

         ‘We had choices when we solved the mystery of the missing painting,’ said Deirdre. ‘And we broke that case by choosing to forget the police and taking it on ourselves.’

         ‘Don’t get me wrong,’ said Joe. ‘We said earlier that if we weren’t happy with the police we’d follow up ourselves, and I’m all on for that. I was just saying that we don’t have to.’

         ‘We don’t,’ said Tim. ‘But let’s not waste time talking about 113what we don’t have to do. What are we going to do?’

         Joe smiled wryly. ‘I was thinking about that when you and Deirdre were in the station. Just in case things didn’t go well.’

         ‘That’s more like it,’ said Deirdre. ‘So, what’s our next move then?

         ‘Well, the police might need a warrant to search a place, but we don’t. Why don’t we check the farm ourselves?’

         Tim thought for a moment then nodded approvingly. ‘I’m on for that.’

         Deirdre returned Joe’s smile. ‘Best idea I’ve heard all day. Let’s get to it.’
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            Chapter Thirteen

         

         Isobel sat in the dark listening to songs in her head. Over an hour had passed since Ned had confiscated her candles, and the gloom of the chilly barn had depressed her. Isobel had forced herself to snap out of it, however. She had read that one third of the population of Dublin lived in cold, dirty tenement buildings, and she told herself that if they could live like that permanently, she could cope with it for a few days.

         To pass the time she had listed her ten favourite songs, and she gently hummed as she played each one in her head. She had just finished ‘In the Good Old Summertime’, and was starting on ‘When You Were Sweet Sixteen’ when she heard the sound of the barn door being unlocked. She immediately stopped humming and rose to her feet, deciding that her captors had enough advantages, and she wouldn’t also allow them to talk down to her as she sat on her mattress.

         She was surprised and disappointed to see that this time both Ned and Ben entered the barn. Any chance she might have of escaping was greatly reduced when both her captors were present. Her spirits sank further when she saw that Ned had a piece of rope, and Ben was carrying a length of cloth.

         ‘Please,’ she said, ‘don’t gag me again.’

         ‘No choice,’ said Ben gruffly. Unlike Ned, who had a strong 115Dublin accent, Ben sounded rural, and Isobel suspected that he was probably the owner of the farm.

         ‘You have a choice,’ she said. ‘If I promise not to call out you could leave the gag off. Tie me if you must, I understand that, but the gag is horrible.’

         ‘It won’t be for as long this time,’ said Ben. ‘Now, put your hands behind your back.’

         Isobel sensed that there was no point arguing about the gag, but she wanted to keep her schoolbag, so before allowing her hands to be tied she spoke appealingly. ‘Let me take my schoolbag, please, then you can tie my hands.’

         ‘All right,’ said Ned. ‘Put the bag on your back, then your hands behind you.’

         Hoisting the schoolbag onto her back, Isobel thought of the sharp dividers that was in her geometry kit, and she felt that she had won a small victory. Then she forced herself to stand still as the men prepared to bind and gag her.

         
            * * *

         

         ‘We need to be really careful,’ said Tim, ‘I think there’s someone in the farmhouse.’

         The three friends had climbed the snowy hillside above Aunt Helen’s house and were sheltering out of sight behind a stone wall. The farmhouse that they were suspicious of was still a good 116distance away, and Tim had been using the binoculars to observe it.

         ‘Why do you think there’s someone there?’ asked Deirdre.

         ‘I can see the van we spotted earlier. If anyone had left since then they’d probably have driven it.’

         ‘Right,’ said Joe.

         ‘But we can’t let that stop us,’ said Deirdre. ‘When we said we’d check the place we knew there could be people there.’

         Tim lowered the binoculars and looked at his sister. ‘I’m not saying we don’t check it out. I’m just saying we should be cautious.’

         ‘What we need to be is smart,’ said Joe. ‘And smart generals don’t commit all their troops at once.’

         Deirdre turned to her friend impatiently. ‘Don’t talk in riddles, Joe. What are you saying?’

         ‘If all three of us head for the farmhouse there’s more chance we’ll be seen. I think two people should stay hidden here and let one person scout ahead and report back.’

         Tim considered the suggestion, then nodded. ‘Fair enough.’

         ‘I’ll scout ahead,’ said Deirdre.

         ‘Why should you be the one?’ queried Tim.

         ‘Why should you?’

         ‘Neither of you should,’ said Joe. ‘It should be me.’

         Tim could see that Deirdre was about to argue, but Joe held up his hand and spoke first. ‘It’s dead simple. We can waste time 117bickering, but the answer is obvious. I stayed in reserve when you two went to the police station. Now it’s your turn to stay in reserve while I check out the farm. Fair’s fair.’

         Tim felt uncomfortable about his friend going ahead on his own, yet he found it hard to argue with his logic.

         ‘You know it’s only right,’ persisted Joe.

         ‘OK,’ conceded Deirdre.

         ‘Tim?’

         ‘Yes, all right. But be careful, Joe. Don’t take any risks.’

         ‘I’ll be fine. And once I’ve found out what’s what, I’ll report back. Wish me luck,’ he said.

         ‘Good luck, Joe,’ answered Deirdre.

         ‘Good luck,’ said Tim. Then he watched as his friend gave a quick wave, left the shelter of the wall, and made for the farmhouse.

         
            * * *

         

         Snowflakes began to fall from the heavy leaden sky, and mist from Carlingford Lough had crept up the mountainside. The temperature was dropping, but Joe was oblivious to the weather conditions as he drew near to the farmyard, his senses on full alert. The carpet of snow was deeper here on the high slopes, and he had broken a branch off a bush and was carefully sweeping the ground behind himself so as not to leave footprints in the snow.

         118Crouching low to the ground, Joe approached the van. He reckoned that if the farm owner was a smuggler there was a good chance that the vehicle would be used for moving contraband. There might well be incriminating evidence onboard, and the back of the van was blocked from view from the farmhouse. He had to check it out. His heart pounding, Joe reached out for the handle on the rear door of the van. To his relief it was unlocked, and he gently swung the door open and stepped inside.

         The van had no windows and no link to the front cabin, with the result that the interior was dark. Joe waited a moment as his eyes adjusted to the gloom, then he looked around. There was a big wooden box against one wall, and Joe crossed to it and lifted the lid. To his disappointment the box was empty. Looking around, he saw a large canvas tarpaulin lying on the floor. He lifted the canvas and checked underneath, but again found nothing. OK, he told himself, if they’re smugglers they’ve moved whatever they smuggled out of the van. Where would they store it? Possibly the farmhouse. But more likely the barn. And the barn was also less likely to be locked than the farmhouse. That should be the next place he checked.

         Joe lowered the tarpaulin to the floor, turned the handle of the door and stepped quietly out of the vehicle.

         
            * * *

         

         119Isobel blinked in surprise as her two captors led her out the front door of the farmhouse.

         In spite of the cold she had no idea that it had snowed while she had been held in the barn. Looking around her now, she took in the fields of the mountainside farm, and in the opposite direction she could see the snow-covered slopes of the Mountains of Mourne. Despite the swirling mist that had risen from the valley floor, she also caught a glimpse of the grey waters of the lough when the wind momentarily shifted.

         Immediately her mind went into overdrive as she tried to figure out where she might be. Already she had made a point of analysing every move her captors made. They had brought her from the barn through the farmhouse kitchen, collecting food on the way. Isobel had calculated that the place to which they were moving her must be somewhere that had been planned at short notice, with no food organised in advance. Maybe that would mean it was less secure and might offer her a better chance of escape.

         Now though, she quickly went through a map of Ireland in her head as she started across the farmyard. Isobel liked geography and she reasoned that she must be somewhere on the east coast. The drive on the night she had been abducted was about two hours she calculated, and she had smelled the sea shortly before reaching her destination. So, she was somewhere either north or south of Dublin that had mountains and a lough. Deliberately slowing her pace to have as much time as possible in the open air, 120Isobel swiftly weighed up the facts. To the south County Wicklow certainly had mountains, but no lough that she could think of on its coastline. Further south, County Wexford might have had some inlets, but she didn’t think it had high mountains near its coastline. That suggested that her captors had driven north. Dundalk bay was a possibility with the mountains of the Cooley peninsula nearby. Or perhaps Carlingford Lough? She knew it didn’t matter where she was unless she escaped, but if she did get away knowing her location could be important.

         ‘Hurry it up, we haven’t all day!’ said Ben, breaking her reverie.

         Can’t you let me have a breath of air! Isobel wanted to retort. But the gag ensured her silence, and besides, she knew that it was important to keep them thinking that she was cowed, so her captors would be less likely to expect an escape bid.

         Nodding as though in obedience, she continued across the yard, her one gesture of defiance being to keep her pace steady but unhurried.

         
            * * *

         

         Joe stopped dead. He had been moving along the side of the van, keeping the vehicle between him and the view across the yard to the farmhouse. Then he had heard the front door being slammed closed and the crunch of footsteps on the snow-covered flagstones of the yard. Joe felt his fear rising but he tried not to panic. 121He risked a glimpse round the front of the van. To his shock he saw two men leading a girl who was bound and gagged. What was going on? But there wasn’t time to wonder, and he immediately retreated, moving backwards, and using the branch to brush his footprints from the snow as quietly as possible.

         Reaching the back door of the van, he heard someone speaking from across the yard. He strained his ears to catch what was being said but couldn’t make out the words. The tone of the speaker made it sound like an order, but Joe couldn’t be sure. Then he heard the footsteps growing nearer.

         If he stayed, they were going to discover him. If he ran, though, he would been seen almost immediately. He hesitated, but there was only one thing for it. He threw away the branch and turned the van’s door handle quietly, swung one side of the back door open, and stepped in to the vehicle. Once inside he gently closed the door after him. He stood, stock still, holding his breath and hoping against hope that the van wasn’t going to be used. Instead, his heart sank as he heard footsteps drawing nearer and a harsh voice saying; ‘All right, in you get!’

         Joe reckoned that he had a matter of seconds before the handle was turned and the door opened. Without wasting any more time, he dropped quietly to the floor, scuttled backwards into a corner, and covered himself completely with the heavy tarpaulin.

         
            * * *

         

         122‘What’s Joe doing?’ said Deirdre disbelievingly, the binoculars pressed to her eyes.

         ‘What’s happening?’ asked Tim.

         The twins were still hidden behind the stone wall, with Deirdre peering above the top of the wall.

         ‘He’s after suddenly moving backwards and getting into the van again,’ she answered.

         ‘Why would he do that?’

         ‘I don’t know. No wait!’

         ‘What?’

         ‘I don’t believe this!’ said Deirdre.

         ‘What’s happening, Dee?’

         ‘There’s a girl, and she’s bound and gagged! Two men are bringing her towards the van. That’s why Joe got back in – so they wouldn’t see him!’

         ‘She’s bound and gagged?’

         ‘Yes, her hands are tied behind her back. They…they must have taken her prisoner.’

         ‘That’s it, Dee!’ cried Tim. ‘She must be the one who sent the SOS!’

         ‘Hold on,’ said Deirdre, ‘they’ve reached the van. They’re bringing her round to the back.’

         ‘They’ll find Joe!’ ‘They’ve opened the back and pushed her in.’ ‘What about Joe?’

         ‘They…they don’t seem to have seen him. Maybe…maybe he 123was able to hide some way. Yes, they’re closing the back.’

         ‘Thank God for that.’

         ‘Oh, no…’

         ‘What?’

         ‘The two men are getting into the front of the van. They’re going to drive off.’

         ‘This is a disaster!’ said Tim. ‘We should never have let Joe go on his own.’

         Deirdre swivelled the binoculars. ‘They’re turning the van around. Heading back down the mountainside.’

         ‘Joe could end up anywhere.’

         ‘I know. But let’s not panic,’ said Deirdre. ‘They didn’t see him when they put the girl in, so they probably won’t see him when they take her out. Maybe Joe can help her escape. And if he can’t, maybe he can stay hidden when they get wherever they’re going. Then maybe he can raise the alarm.’

         ‘That’s a lot of “maybes”.’

         ‘I know, Tim. But Joe is cool under pressure. He might be able to help the girl escape.’

         ‘I just hope he’ll be all right. And I wonder who she is.’

         ‘Who knows? But if she’s been kidnapped the police should be on alert.’

         ‘They weren’t very alert earlier, were they? That constable came to the very place she was being held.’

         ‘But like we said, he probably didn’t have a warrant. Now 124though we’re eye-witnesses to someone being kept prisoner. If we report it, they can start a search, put up roadblocks, all that stuff.’

         ‘There’s no time to lose then.’

         ‘No, we need to get back down to the village,’ said Deirdre, taking the binoculars from around her neck and slipping them into their case.

         ‘OK, then,’ said Tim. ‘Let’s go!’

      
   


   
      
         125
            Chapter Fourteen

         

         Isobel felt every bump as the van made its way down the hillside. Sitting on the wooden box, she tried to brace her feet against the floor, but with her hands tied behind her back it was awkward and uncomfortable.

         Suddenly she drew backwards, shocked to see movement underneath the heavy canvas tarpaulin. The inside of the van was dark, but Isobel’s eyes had adjusted to the gloom and she could hardly believe what she was seeing when the top of the tarpaulin was pulled back, and a boy emerged from the corner.

         Her alarm must have been evident, because he quickly raised both his hands in a gesture of peace. He put a finger to his lips to indicate silence and gestured that he was going to remove the gag.

         He was about her own age, and Isobel couldn’t imagine how he had come to be in the van, but she nodded to indicate that she understood his message about being silent. He crossed behind her and undid the gag. Isobel breathed out in relief. ‘My hands,’ she said, taking care to whisper, despite the noise of the van’s engine.

         The boy untied her, then she then turned to face him. ‘Who are you?’ she said.

         ‘Joe Martin,’ he whispered.

         126Even in the gloom Isobel could see that he was strongly built and had a kind face. ‘How did you get here?’ she asked.

         ‘Long story. But my friend saw an SOS last night.’

         ‘That was me!’

         ‘I figured that. Anyway, we decided to check it out.’

         ‘Who’s we?’

         ‘Me, my friend, and his sister. We went to the police, but they didn’t seem to take it that seriously, so we took it on ourselves.’

         ‘Thank you so much. I’m…I’m really grateful.’

         ‘That’s all right. But eh…who are you? And why did they take you?’

         Isobel was about to answer when the van turned a sharp corner, and she calculated that they had come down off the mountainside and were at the coast.

         ‘Well?’ said the boy.

         ‘Sorry, I’m Isobel Forsyth. And…and I’ve been kidnapped.’

         ‘Why?’

         ‘For a ransom,’ answered Isobel, holding off revealing the other deal that her captors were demanding. It was meant to be kept secret, she knew. Then again, this boy had taken risks to try and free her. Was it right to keep the truth from him? She hesitated then decided to be honest. ‘And also…my father is the Chief State Prosecutor. The people who took me warned him not to prosecute one of their friends, otherwise…otherwise I won’t be safely released.’

         127‘That’s awful!’

         Isobel could see that the boy was genuinely shocked. ‘It is awful,’ she said. ‘And even though they’ve treated me all right so far, they’re dangerous people. You need to be careful – Joe, isn’t it?’

         ‘Yes.’

         ‘You need to be careful, Joe. I don’t want you getting hurt as well.’

         ‘I will be careful. But I’m caught up in it now. The good thing is my friends will have seen us driving off in the van.’

         ‘How is that?’

         ‘We were watching the farmhouse with binoculars. I went ahead to scout things out, and I had to hide in the van when the men brought you out.’

         ‘Right.’

         ‘But my friends will definitely have seen us heading off. They’ll go to the police. And this time they’ll have to take it seriously.’

         ‘There’s one problem, though. Your friends have no idea where we’re heading.’

         ‘No. But the police will surely start a manhunt.’

         ‘I hope so. But we could arrive wherever they’re taking us before the police set up roadblocks.’

         Joe nodded reluctantly. ‘That’s possible.’

         ‘I think we need to count on ourselves. It’s great that your friends will raise the alarm, but we can’t rely on that. We have to try to escape.’

         128‘OK,’ said Joe, looking thoughtful. ‘I think…I think we have two choices. And you won’t like the first one.’

         ‘What is it?’

         ‘I re-tie and gag you. And I hide again under the tarpaulin. Whenever we stop and they take you out, I stay in the van. Then when it’s safe to do so, I get out and raise the alarm.’

         Isobel had felt a sinking feeling in her stomach when Joe had mentioned tying and gagging her again, but she tried to keep her argument logical. ‘You’re right, I don’t like it. Suppose when we stop, they find you this time? Then we’re both prisoners. Or they drive the van off to someplace else with you still in it – you wouldn’t have a clue where they’d kept me. Or you manage to hide in the van, and then get out, but you’re in the middle of nowhere, and you’ve no notion where to turn?’

         ‘Any of those things could happen. Or none of them,’ said Joe.

         ‘What was the other choice?’

         ‘We use the element of surprise. Only one of them will come back to open the door. And he’ll be expecting a bound and gagged girl, so his guard will be down. I’ll gag you when we slow down, and you put your hands behind your back as though they’re still tied. When he opens the door and is about to climb in, we rush him. He won’t be expecting it, we knock him over, and we run for our lives. What do you think?’

         Isobel breathed deeply as she weighed things up. ‘They both sound pretty frightening,’ she finally said.

         129‘I know. But I can’t think of anything else.’

         ‘Neither can I. So let’s go with your second one, the element of surprise.’

         ‘You sure?’

         ‘No,’ answered Isobel. ‘But it sounds like our best bet. Let’s just pray it works.’

         
            * * *

         

         Tim took a moment to catch his breath as he stood outside the police station with Deirdre. They had run down the mountainside in the falling snow, eager to report the girl being held prisoner, and the departure of the van holding her and Joe.

         ‘Ready?’ said Tim.

         Deirdre was still a bit breathless, but she nodded, then opened the door and stepped into the station.

         Tim followed her, the warmth of the interior a pleasant contrast to the snow and the cold mist that now covered Carlingford.

         ‘Not you again!’ said the constable, who was sitting behind his desk.

         Tim could see that the man was having his lunch, with a steaming mug of dark tea and thickly-cut sandwiches on the desk before him.

         ‘Sorry to disturb you,’ said Deirdre, ‘but this is really urgent.’

         ‘Everything with you is urgent. But I told you earlier, things 130are in hand. You need to step back and leave this to the police.’

         ‘We did leave it to you,’ said Tim. ‘And you called to the farmhouse and found nothing.’

         ‘Because there was nothing to find.’

         ‘There was,’ persisted Tim. ‘We just saw it.’

         ‘What are you talking about?’

         ‘We saw a girl being moved by two men,’ said Deirdre. ‘She was bound and gagged, so they must have kidnapped her.’

         ‘She was taken away in a van,’ continued Tim, ‘and our friend Joe is hiding in the back of that van. If you get an alert out fast maybe they can be intercepted.’

         Tim could see that the constable was shocked. The man pushed aside the mug of tea and rose from his chair. His expression was worried, and Tim sensed that this time they would be taken seriously. Maybe the policeman feared he would be in trouble for being easily fobbed off when he had questioned the man at the farmhouse. Not that it mattered, Tim thought. The priority now was swift action.

         ‘When did all this happen?’ asked the constable.

         ‘About twenty minutes ago,’ answered Deirdre. ‘We got here as fast as we could.’

         ‘Have you told your aunt?’

         ‘No, she’s in Newry.’

         ‘Anybody else?’

         ‘No. Why?’ asked Deirdre.’

         131‘I need to establish all the facts,’ said the constable.

         Tim felt a surge of impatience at the policeman’s plodding approach. ‘The fact is that every passing minute they get further away. This could be a big case. Kidnapping’s a major crime – it could make your career if you help solve it. But we need to move fast.’

         ‘Let me think for a minute,’ said the constable, his face a study in concentration.

         Tim could see that Deirdre was about to protest, but he raised a hand, indicating to give the man a moment.

         ‘All right,’ said the policeman. ‘I need you to look at photographs of possible suspects. Step in the back here.’ He opened a door in the back wall for Tim and Deirdre.

         ‘Do you not already know what the man looks like from when you questioned him?’ asked Tim as they walked through.

         ‘Yes,’ said the constable, ‘but you said there were two men.’

         ‘There were,’ answered Deirdre as she stepped though the doorway. ‘I saw the second one with the binoculars.’

         The room that they entered was small and sparsely furnished with just one chair and a table.

         ‘Hang on here and I’ll get the pictures,’ said the constable.

         ‘Can we hurry it up, please?’ said Deirdre.

         ‘Just wait a moment while I dig them out.’

         Tim stood aside as the constable made for the door, confused by the man’s attitude. If the pictures were kept in the front 132office why not look at them there? Before he could think about it any further the constable closed the door behind him. Then Tim heard a sound that made no sense whatsoever. It wasn’t a loud noise, but it was unmistakable. Deirdre immediately turned around, and Tim realised that she had heard it too. A key had been turned in the lock on the far side of the door.

         ‘What’s going on?’ she said.

         Tim didn’t answer, but went straight to the door. He turned the handle, but couldn’t open the door. ‘Constable Quigley!’ he cried. Getting no answer, he tried the handle again, but the door didn’t budge.

         ‘Why on earth would he lock us in?’ asked Deirdre.

         ‘I don’t know,’ said Tim, turning back to her. He hadn’t really examined the room, but now he looked about him. His gaze fixed on the small window and suddenly his heart sank.

         ‘What is it?’ said Deirdre.

         ‘The window, Dee. It’s got bars on the outside. This isn’t a back room. He’s locked us in a cell.’

         ‘But why?’

         Tim felt a sick sensation as the realisation hit him. ‘Oh God.’

         ‘What?’

         ‘He’s…he must be in on it. Whatever is going on, Constable Quigley is in on it.’

         ‘But he’s a policeman!’

         ‘So no one would suspect him. But think about it. We thought 133he questioned the man at the farmhouse. But supposing he didn’t go there to ask questions. Supposing he went there to warn them. To tell them that the SOS had been seen, and that’s why they had to move the girl.’

         ‘It’s hard to believe…’

         ‘Is it? Why did we get medals from Superintendent Leech this week?’ asked Tim.

         ‘What’s that got to do with anything?’

         ‘We got them for solving a crime. And we solved it because we thought someone could be guilty, someone that nobody else was prepared to doubt. It’s the same thing here. Most policemen are honest, so no one else suspects him of being in cahoots with criminals.’

         ‘My head is spinning,’ said Deirdre.

         ‘Mine too. But everything I’ve said fits the facts. And if it isn’t true, answer me this. Why are we locked in a cell?’
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            Chapter Fifteen

         

         ‘Looks like we’re heading up into the hills,’ whispered Joe, as the van began a slow ascent. ‘How long would you say we’ve been driving?’

         ‘Maybe…maybe twenty-five minutes,’ answered Isobel, also keeping her voice low, despite the noise from the engine. ‘Why?’

         ‘Just trying to work out where we might be. They have to drive slowly because of the snow, so I’d say we’re not all that far from Carlingford.’

         ‘Right. But depending how long more they drive for, we could end up anywhere.’

         ‘We could. But if we keep a rough idea of how long the drive is, and we work out what kind of speed they’re doing, we can figure out the radius you could travel from Carlingford.’

         ‘That’s pretty smart,’ said Isobel.

         ‘Just simple maths. My Dad is a clerk in the Great Western Railway, so he’s always been good with figures. I’ve probably picked it up from him.’

         ‘Do you think it’s important to know our destination?’

         ‘It could be. If we escape and we’re in a town, that would be great – we run to the police, or even into a shop for safety. But if we’re somewhere remote, it would be good to have some idea of where to make for.’

         135‘Right,’ said Isobel.

         She tightened her coat against the cold, and Joe noticed, even in the gloom of the van’s interior, that her winter clothes were of high quality. It was hardly surprising, given that she had told him that her father was the Chief State Prosecutor and that they lived in the leafy suburb of Ballsbridge. But despite her background clearly being privileged, Isobel seemed to be down-to-earth. Joe was impressed, too, by her coolness. He imagined that many people in her situation would be cowed and submissive to their kidnappers, yet she was willing to make an escape attempt. And using her candle to send the SOS signal had been clever.

         When it came to taking on the kidnappers and making a break for freedom, though, would her nerve hold? Would his own? No sooner had he entertained the thought than he tried to dismiss it from his mind. It would be challenging enough to carry out their escape plan. He mustn’t undermine his confidence by having doubts.

         ‘We should agree the timing of when to put the gag back on,’ said Isobel.

         ‘I think as soon as we feel the van slowing to come to a stop, I should replace it. But this time I won’t hide under the tarpaulin.’

         ‘Where will you hide?’

         ‘In behind the door. He’ll probably only open one side, and you’ll look like you’re tied and gagged, so he shouldn’t be on guard. As soon as he goes to climb in, I’ll burst out through the 136other door and knock him over. The driver will be getting out at the front, so we run for our lives in the opposite direction. All right?’

         Isobel slowly nodded. ‘It’s as good a plan as I can think of. And Joe…’

         ‘What?’

         ‘I’m really grateful. You’re…you’re very brave.’

         Joe wasn’t sure how to respond. ‘Thanks,’ he said a little sheepishly. ‘To be honest, I never thought the SOS would lead to something like this.’

         ‘I’m sorry you’ve been dragged into it.’

         ‘No, that’s not what I meant. I’m glad we saw your signal. And now that I am involved, there’s no half measures. In for a penny, in for a pound. OK?’

         ‘OK.’

         ‘Right then, we hold our nerve. And as soon as the van stops, we make our break.’

         
            * * *

         

         ‘This isn’t working,’ said Deirdre. They were still locked in the police cell, and despite Tim shouting himself hoarse and banging on the door, nobody had responded. Deirdre reckoned that about fifteen minutes must have passed since the constable had locked them in, and the more she thought about it, the more she accepted Tim’s 137theory that the policeman was crooked. Which meant that he was either gone to warn the kidnappers, or more likely that he knew the game was up and would probably flee the country. Either way, she was convinced that he wouldn’t be returning to release them.

         ‘So, what do you suggest?’ asked Tim.

         ‘I’ve been thinking. We’re at the back of the building, so no one is hearing us from out front on the street. And behind the building leads down to the quay, so we’re not likely to be heard from down there. Unless…’

         ‘Unless what?’

         ‘We can’t get out because of the bars on the window. But supposing we smash the glass? We could shout out the window down to anyone passing on the quay.’

         ‘There won’t be many people on the quay in this fog, and with the snow falling.’

         ‘But if anyone does pass, the sound of voices will carry better if there’s no glass in the window.’

         ‘And what do we tell them if we do get somebody’s attention?’

         ‘We make up some story to get them to come into the station and open the door.’

         ‘Like what?’

         ‘I don’t know, Tim! Say…say I’ve had an epileptic fit, and I need a doctor. Anything to get us out of here.’

         ‘OK,’ he answered, ‘it’s worth a try. How are you going to break the window?’

         138‘With this,’ said Deirdre, crossing to the chair. She lifted the battered wooden chair off the floor, then pointed the four legs in the direction of the window. Pushing the chair forward, she forcefully banged the leading leg against the glass. To her frustration, it didn’t break.

         ‘Here, let me have a go,’ said Tim.

         ‘No, I can do it.’

         Deirdre swung the chair back, then swiftly thrust it forward again. This time she was rewarded by the sound of breaking glass, and she used the chair leg to knock out more glass until there was a large hole in the window. Immediately a chill blast of winter air came whistling in, but Deirdre ignored it and went to the smashed window frame. ‘Help!’ she cried at the top of her voice. ‘Somebody, please help!’

         
            * * *

         

         ‘Have you worked out how far we’ve come?’ asked Isobel, as the van travelled along a bumpy country road.

         ‘Hard to tell,’ answered Joe. ‘They’re driving slowly up and down hills, but they’re making better time when the road is flat. But even then, they’re not going that fast because of the snow and the fog.’

         ‘So, what’s your guess?’ said Isobel.

         ‘I’d say we might be averaging twenty miles an hour. How long 139would you say we’ve been travelling?’

         Isobel thought for a moment. ‘Maybe three quarters of an hour?’

         ‘Something like that,’ agreed Joe.

         ‘So right now, we could be anywhere within about a twenty-mile radius.’

         ‘Yes. It’s a fairly big area.’

         Isobel closed her eyes and tried to visualise the map of Ireland at the back of her geography book. ‘We could still be in County Louth,’ she said. ‘Or we could have crossed into County Down, or County Armagh. Maybe even County Monaghan.’

         ‘We don’t have to know,’ said Joe. ‘Like I said, if we escape it would be good to know where to head for. But the important thing is getting away.’

         ‘True,’ said Isobel. She found Joe’s calm approach reassuring, and she was further comforted by the knowledge that he and his friends had clashed with criminals earlier in the year and come out on top. Partly to satisfy her curiosity, and partly to pass the time, she had asked Joe about the case. It had centred around the theft of a valuable painting, and Isobel was impressed that Joe and his friends, Tim and Deirdre, had been awarded medals by the police.

         Joe had explained how they all lived in Great Western Square in Phibsboro, in houses built for the staff of the Great Western Railway, whose terminus was in nearby Broadstone.

         140Isobel had been in the train station, but had never set foot in Great Western Square, or indeed, any other part of Phibsboro. The conversation had brought home to her how much she and her family lived in a comfortable, upper-class bubble. Joe was clearly well-educated and from a respectable family, but Isobel knew that their two families would never meet socially, and she thought it was a shame that people from differing backgrounds didn’t mix more.

         She was aware that her family was different to most people in Dublin in that they were wealthy, and Protestant, and sufficiently high up in society for Papa to be invited to the Viceroy’s imposing residence in the Phoenix Park. The thought of her father had reminded Isobel of the impossible position in which the kidnappers’ demands placed him. Even as she was being moved to a new location, was he trying to get the money together to free her? And was he wrestling with his conscience about whether or not to release a criminal who would otherwise be charged?

         ‘I think we’re slowing,’ said Joe now.

         Isobel felt a flash of fear as she realised that he was right, and that the vehicle was slowing down. She reckoned that Joe must have sensed her unease, for he squeezed her arm encouragingly.

         ‘You can do this, Isobel. Together, we can beat them.’

         Isobel took a dep breath, then nodded. ‘Let’s do it then.’ She placed her hands behind her back as though tied, raised her chin 141for Joe to replace the gag, and felt her heart pounding madly as the van slowly came to a halt.

         
            * * *

         

         ‘It was worth a try, Dee,’ said Tim, ‘but I think you’re wasting your breath.’ About a quarter of an hour had passed since his sister had broken the window. The wind was still whistling through the hole, but nobody appeared to have heard her cries. Tim was disappointed, but not surprised that few people were out and about in the freezing weather.

         Deirdre turned to face him. ‘Someone’s going to hear me eventually.’

         ‘Maybe. But it could take ages.’

         ‘What else can we do?’

         ‘I’ve just remembered something, but I don’t know if it would work.’

         ‘What is it?’

         ‘It’s a way of getting out of a locked room that I read about in a book,’ said Tim.

         ‘How do you do it?’

         ‘In the story the girl who was trapped slid a sheet of newspaper under the door. Then she used a hairpin to push the key from her side of the door. It fell down onto the newspaper, and she gently pulled the newspaper under the door, picked up 142the key, and let herself out.’

         ‘Wow,’ said Deirdre, ‘that’s brilliant.’

         ‘It’s clever. But there needs to be a big enough gap between the door and floor for the key to slide under. And you have to be able to dislodge the key.’

         ‘Well, what are we waiting for? Let’s find out.’

         Tim crossed to the door and dropped to his hunkers. Although the door was heavy and solid it was clearly old, and there was a gap between it and the flagstone floor.

         ‘What do you think?’ asked Deirdre.

         ‘There’s a gap all right. But if the key is really big it mightn’t slide under.’

         ‘I didn’t notice the size of the key when we were going in. Did you?’

         Tim shook his head and rose from his hunkers. ‘I didn’t even notice that there was a key.’

         ‘Well, let’s be positive and say it fits. And I’ve a pin in my hair that we can use. So we need a newspaper.’

         ‘They hardly give newspapers to prisoners,’ said Tim. ‘We need something else.’

         ‘I know!’ said Deirdre, crossing to the far wall. ‘This could work,’ she said removing four thumbtacks that were holding in place a large, rectangular notice that warned against the health dangers of spitting.

         ‘Good thinking,’ said Tim.

         143‘Here, you slide it under the door,’ she said, handing him the notice, ‘and I’ll use the hairpin.’

         Tim dropped to his hunkers again as his sister took off her woolly hat and removed a hairpin from her curls. He carefully slid the notice under the door, making sure that most of it would be on the far side, but leaving enough on his own side to enable him to pull it backwards when the time came.

         ‘Ready?’ said Deirdre.

         ‘Yes, I have it right underneath the lock.’

         ‘Here goes then.’

         Tim found himself holding his breath as Deirdre carefully inserted the hairpin into the lock and pressed against the key. He bit his lip, hoping to hear the sound of the key falling to the floor on the far side of the door. When nothing happened, he couldn’t contain himself any longer. ‘What’s going on?’ he said.

         ‘It won’t budge,’ answered Deirdre. ‘The key won’t budge.’

         
            * * *

         

         ‘Good luck!’ whispered Joe as the van came to a stop and he crouched, hidden behind the door. Isobel was gagged again but she nodded in acknowledgement. Joe could see the fear in her eyes, and his own pulses were racing wildly, but he told himself that attack was the best form of defence, and that they would be taking their enemy by surprise.

         144He heard the engine being turned off and the sound of footsteps crunching through the snow as somebody approached the rear of the van. Joe gathered himself, working up his nerve to pounce. He glanced back at Isobel, who looked frightened, and he hoped that she wouldn’t lose her nerve and freeze. He gave her a quick thumbs-up sign, then turned away as one of the double doors on Isobel’s side of the van swung open. A flurry of snow blew in, and Joe saw a man’s leg as the taller of the kidnappers went to step into the vehicle. Joe immediately swung the door on his side open and dived at the shocked man, knocking him off balance and down on the snow-covered ground. He got a quick glimpse of the shocked expression on the man’s face but kept moving. ‘Go, Isobel!’ he shouted. ‘Go!’

         Already, though, she had pulled the gag down and jumped out the back of the vehicle.

         From the corner of his eye, Joe saw the other kidnapper coming round from the driver’s side of the van. ‘This way,’ Joe cried, pivoting to go in the opposite direction to the man. Joe realised that they were in a farmyard, but with the heavy mist and falling snow it was hard to get his bearings. Forget our bearings, just get away from the kidnappers. Joe sprinted, Isobel at his heels, spurred on by having seen the first man regaining his feet. Joe resisted the temptation to look behind, instead concentrating on running at top speed. Suddenly he heard a cry and instinctively he slowed. Glancing round, he saw that Isobel had slipped on 145the snow and fallen. Even worse, the bigger kidnapper, the man Joe had knocked to the ground, was closing on her fast, with his partner not far behind.

         Joe’s instinct was to turn back and help Isobel, who was shakily trying to rise to her feet. The first of the two men was moving at speed and Joe hesitated, realising that if he ran back, he would reach her at about the same time as the chasing man. Isobel must have made the same calculation because she turned to him and shouted. ‘Run, Joe! Run!’

         Joe hated the thought of leaving her. But he knew that there was no point in both of them being recaptured. Turning on his heel, he started to run again.

         
            * * *

         

         Deirdre watched as her brother tried to dislodge the key from the lock. Tim had insisted that she let him try, when she couldn’t jiggle the key sufficiently to push the key out, but so far, he hadn’t succeeded.

         ‘I’ve been thinking,’ she said.

         ‘Deirdre! I’m trying to concentrate.’

         ‘Just stop for a minute, please. This is important.’

         ‘What?’ said Tim, removing the hairpin and turning to face her.

         ‘Supposing this works, and we get out. What then?’

         146‘We tell what’s happened.’

         ‘Aunt Helen is in Newry, so we can’t contact her.’

         ‘We report it to another police station. I’m sure there’s one in Omeath.’

         ‘And what do we tell them? That one of their members is a crook? How likely are they to believe two kids? And for all we know, maybe other policemen around here are part of this.’

         ‘I…I never thought of that,’ said Tim. ‘So, what do you think we should do?’

         ‘Superintendent Leech would believe us. I say we make for Dublin and tell him the whole story. We could get a train to Dundalk, and then a connection to Dublin.’

         Tim didn’t answer at once, and Deirdre knew that he was examining the idea for flaws.

         ‘Well?’ she said after a moment.

         ‘Actually, that makes a lot of sense,’ he answered.

         Deirdre was pleasantly surprised. ‘Good,’ she replied. ‘But first we need to get out of here. Let’s work on two fronts. You keep working on the lock, and I’ll try calling out the window again.’

         ‘OK.’

         ‘Right,’ said Deirdre. ‘Fingers crossed one of them works.’

         
            * * *

         

         Joe sprinted as hard as he could, desperate to shake off his pursuer. 147He could hear the man running behind him and he prayed that he would be fitter than the kidnapper. Joe reckoned that the first man had stopped to recapture Isobel, which made it essential for him to escape and raise the alarm. But first he had to outrun his opponent.

         He raced along a narrow road, leaving the farmyard behind. The snow was still falling, and the fog hadn’t lifted. Maybe if he got far enough ahead, he could hide in the fog and evade his pursuer. The road came to a T-junction, and without thinking, Joe turned right.

         He was breathing harder now, but he knew from playing football for the school that if he broke through the tiredness barrier, he could get his second wind. The thought spurred him on, and he forced himself to up his pace. He could still hear the man running behind him, but Joe sensed that he had increased his lead. The fog was swirling, but suddenly he saw up ahead a track into a forest.

         Joe turned right onto the track, keeping his step as light as possible now to minimise the noise. He hoped that the man might not have seen him turn and might continue running along the road. No sooner had he thought it than his hopes were dashed. He heard the crunch of the man’s steps, and he knew that he had been spotted and was still being pursued.

         Joe ran deeper into the pine-scented forest, the snow-laden, evergreen trees ghostly looking in the foggy air. Up ahead he saw 148a turn for a narrow track that led off to his left, but he decided not to take it, reasoning that he could keep up a better speed on the wider track that he was on. Still he heard the sound of his pursuer, though once more he felt that he had increased his lead by a little. This was his best bet, he told himself, he had to outrun the man.

         Joe felt his own breathing became heavier now as the track started to go uphill. His muscles were aching, but he forced himself not to slow down and ran on until he came to a large clearing. He realised that the clearing was a T-junction, and a wide track, which he suspected must be a firebreak, gave him the option of going left or right. Without pausing, he chose left. He ran on, his face moist from perspiration and the falling snow. Then he saw a sight that made his blood run cold. The firebreak was a dead end. It finished in a small circle with no way forward through the densely-planted trees. He paused, breathing heavily and trying to fight down a rising sense of despair. He looked up and saw his pursuer emerging from the fog, breathing even more heavily than himself. But the man had taken in the dead-end and he looked smugly satisfied as he drew near.

         ‘Tough luck, son,’ he said. ‘Dead-end street.’

         He had a strong country accent, and Joe saw now that he had a stocky build and a tough-looking face. Not someone he wanted to tangle with.

         ‘I don’t know how you got involved,’ said the man, ‘but you’ve a lot of questions to answer.’ He paused a moment getting his 149breath, then looked Joe in the eye. ‘You’ve a choice now. You can come peacefully and answer all our questions. Or I can beat the living daylights out of you, and then you’ll answer anyway. What’s it to be?’
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            Chapter Sixteen

         

         ‘Hang on,’ cried Tim, ‘it’s moving!’

         From the corner of his eye, he saw his sister turning away from the broken window, but he concentrated on the lock and slid the hairpin further in. ‘Got it!’ he said, finally dislodging the key and turning exultantly to face Deirdre.

         ‘Brilliant,’ she said.

         ‘Let’s just hope it fell down on the sheet of paper and didn’t bounce off.’

         ‘We’ll know soon enough,’ she said nervously.

         Tim nodded, then dropped to his hunkers. He knew that he would have to proceed really carefully if he was to keep the key on the sheet of paper and successfully slide it under the door. Gripping the edges of the notice, he gently began to pull it towards him. But was the key actually on the paper? And would there be enough clearance between the floor and the bottom of the door for it to fit under? He was almost reluctant to find out for fear of disappointment, but he forced himself to keep on pulling gently. Getting right down onto his knees, he put his head level with the floor and tried to look under the door. Peering through the crack, he thought he could make out a shape.

         ‘I think I see it!’ he said.

         ‘Easy does it,’ said Deirdre.

         151‘I know!’ he snapped, then he put his flash of irritation aside and concentrated on what he was doing. It would be hugely frustrating if the key reached the bottom of the door but was too bulky to fit under. He tried to keep his hands steady and was rewarded by seeing the metal tip of the key beginning to emerge on his side of the door. Please God, he prayed, let the rest of it fit under the door frame. He continued pulling the sheet of paper and felt a surge of triumph when the rest of the key emerged safely from under the door.

         ‘Yes!’ cried Deirdre. ‘Well done, Tim!’

         Tim grabbed the key and rose to his feet, unable to keep a grin from his face. ‘That’s the pay-off for reading detective stories!’ he said. He reckoned about half an hour must have passed since they had come to the police station to report the kidnapping, and not wanting to waste any more time, he quickly inserted the key into the lock. He turned the key and swung the door open, then he and Deirdre made their way through the empty station and out the front door onto the street. The snow was still falling on the foggy thoroughfare, and there was nobody in sight. After the warmth of the police station the air had a real chill, but Tim barely noticed as he followed Deirdre who ran down the street in the direction of Carlingford train station.

         ‘Hang on,’ said Tim as they reached the entrance. ‘We don’t want to look like fugitives. Let’s just walk in like everything is normal.’152

         ‘All right.’

         Tim opened the entrance door, and they stepped inside. Tim could see that there were several other passengers seated by the fire in the waiting room that was off to the side, but they didn’t pay him any attention, and he walked confidently to the ticket desk with Deirdre.

         ‘You’ve picked some day for travel,’ said the ticket seller, a portly man with a friendly air.

         Don’t get into conversation, thought Tim, don’t draw attention.

         ‘Two single tickets for Dundalk, please,’ said Deirdre in a business-like tone. She paid the ticket seller and thanked him, then turned back to Tim.

         ‘OK,’ he said as they walked away from the desk, ‘let’s check when the next train is.’

         
            * * *

         

         Isobel rose to her feet when she heard the bolts being undone. She was locked in an outhouse, after the kidnapper that she now knew as Ned had manhandled her from the van across the yard of another farm. He had clearly been angered by her escape attempt and had gripped her arm viciously before thrusting her roughly into the cold outhouse. This time no blankets, candles or food had been offered, and all of Isobel’s hopes had rested on Joe escaping and managing to raise the alarm. But about half an hour 153had passed, and the more she had thought about it, the more it struck her that if Joe really had escaped, they would probably have moved her on again.

         She would know soon, she thought, as the heavy wooden door of the outhouse swung open. To Isobel’s surprise neither Ned nor Ben entered. Instead, Joe was flung into the room from the doorway, and Isobel’s heart sank. He landed on the floor near her feet, his fall broken somewhat by the straw that covered the ground. The door slammed closed and was padlocked, and Isobel crouched concernedly beside the fallen boy.

         ‘Are you hurt?’ she asked.

         Joe tentatively sat up and began to dust himself off. ‘I’m all right,’ he said.

         Isobel rose also and looked at him. ‘Are you sure?’

         ‘Yes. They caught me in the forest, and they gave me a few wallops when they got me back here.’

         ‘Oh, no!’

         ‘It’s all right. I’ve had worse knocks in football matches.’

         Isobel sensed that Joe was playing things down. She was sorely disappointed that he had been caught, but she also felt guilty that he had suffered for trying to help her. ‘I’m really sorry, Joe,’ she said.

         ‘It’s not your fault. They’re the ones who are the thugs.’

         ‘Even so.’

         ‘It’s all right. But people like that…they’re ruthless.’

         154‘How do you mean?’

         ‘When they questioned me, I tried to mislead them for a bit. That’s when they clattered me. And I sensed it could easily have got worse. So after that, I just told them the truth about how I got involved.’

         ‘What did they say?’

         ‘They seemed to believe me. But…’

         Isobel could see that Joe looked uncomfortable. ‘But what?’ she asked gently.

         ‘I’d say my story spooked them a bit. Maybe that was a mistake, and I shouldn’t have told them the truth.’

         ‘How do you mean?’

         ‘As kidnappers they’ve a reason to keep you alive. But maybe they’ll see me as a loose end. Something better got rid of.’

         ‘You don’t really think they’d kill you?’

         ‘I don’t know what they’d do.’

         ‘Did you tell them about your friends, Tim and Deirdre? That they saw us being driven away?’

         ‘Yes.’

         ‘Then they must know there’ll be a hue and cry. But they’ll still want the ransom money and the release of their friend. They won’t want to add murder, it’s not in their interest.’

         ‘I hope you’re right. They hate me now.’

         ‘They’re not going to kill you, Joe,’ she said, sensing that he needed reassurance. ‘They’re nasty people but they’re not stupid. 155We have to just ride this out as best we can.’ Isobel could see that he was weighing up what she had said, then he seemed to reach a conclusion.

         ‘You’re right,’ he answered. ‘I’m probably over-reacting.’

         Isobel was pleased that Joe seemed reassured by her words, and she wasn’t sure if she should leave it at that. But once again she decided that when it came to Joe he was entitled to honesty. ‘Even so,’ she added, ‘I’m not giving up on escaping.’

         ‘Have you…have you some kind of plan?’

         ‘Not yet,’ said Isobel. ‘But just because we failed once doesn’t mean we shouldn’t try again.’

         ‘No.’

         ‘So if a chance comes up, you’re on to take it?’

         ‘Definitely.’

         Isobel was buoyed by Joe’s attitude. ‘Good,’ she said. ‘Let’s…let’s be ready then and wait for our chance.’

         
            * * *

         

         ‘I can’t believe you didn’t bring any money!’ said Deirdre. She glared at Tim as they stood in the smoky train station in Dundalk, about to buy the tickets for the journey to Dublin.

         ‘I didn’t know when we left Aunt Helen’s that we’d need money!’ he answered. ‘How was I to know we’d want to buy train tickets?’

         156‘And you never thought to say anything when I got the tickets in Carlingford?’

         ‘I thought you had enough money for the tickets to Dublin too.’

         ‘Well, I don’t.’

         ‘I’m sorry, all right?’ Tim said. ‘I wish I’d brought my pocket money, but I didn’t. There’s no use fighting with each other. We need to figure out what to do.’

         Deirdre breathed out in frustration. She had felt on edge until the local train had left Carlingford behind, fearful that somehow Constable Quigley or another policeman working in league with him might apprehend herself and Tim. Getting safely to Dundalk had been a big relief, but she knew it was essential to reach Chief Superintendent Leech as quickly as possible, and Tim coming out without his money was a setback. ‘There is a possible solution,’ she said after a moment’s thought. ‘Though I don’t like it much.’

         ‘What’s that?’

         ‘I’ve enough money to buy a ticket to Dublin for one of us.’

         ‘No,’ said Tim, decisively. ‘We stick together. We saw what happened to Joe when we split up.’

         Deirdre found it hard to argue with that. Although they had needed to concentrate on their own escape, she had been worried about Joe ever since he had been driven off in the van. ‘OK,’ she said. ‘But how do we get to Dublin then?’

         157‘Suppose we buy two tickets to the nearest station to Dublin that we can afford? And after that we pray an inspector or ticket collector doesn’t catch us.’

         ‘I suppose we might get away with that,’ conceded Deirdre.

         ‘I think it’s the best we can do.’

         ‘All right. After all this, I really hope that Superintendent Leech is in his office.’

         ‘I think there’s a fairly good chance – he told me he works long hours,’ said Tim.

         ‘Just pray he doesn’t finish early because it’s Saturday.’

         ‘I doubt it. And even if he did, he’d hardly finish before five.’

         ‘Let’s hope not.’

         ‘According to the timetable, there’s a train from here at a quarter past three that gets into Dublin at twenty-five to five.’

         Deirdre pictured the distance from the railway terminus at Amiens Street to Chief Superintendent Leech’s office in Dublin Castle. ‘That’s cutting it fine if he does go home at five,’ she said.

         Tim shrugged. ‘Nothing we can do about that.’

         ‘Except run like the wind from the station to Dublin Castle.’

         ‘Yes.’

         ‘Right,’ said Deirdre. ‘Then that’s what we’ll have to do.’
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            Chapter Seventeen

         

         ‘I’ve been thinking,’ said Joe. ‘Maybe we shouldn’t eat all the food in one go.’ Ben had just brought them a can of water and a plate of thickly-cut slices of bread and butter. Joe had waited until the kidnapper was well out of earshot, after Ben had slammed shut the outhouse door and locked them in again.

         ‘Why wouldn’t we eat it all?’ asked Isobel.

         ‘Because we’ll need food for energy if we’re on the run tonight.’

         ‘Tonight?’

         ‘Yes, I’ve been mulling it over,’ said Joe. ‘I know the temptation is to escape as soon as possible. But it gets dark early these days. If we get out of here, we can disappear into the fog, especially if we wait till the light is fading. I don’t know where we are, but the forest I ran into looked pretty remote. If we head for there and hide, they won’t find us in the dark.’

         ‘So, what…we hide till dawn?’

         ‘Yes. Then try to find the nearest house or village.’

         Isobel looked thoughtful. ‘That would mean spending the night in the open, in the cold and the snow,’ she said.

         ‘But the trees are evergreens, and the forest is really dense. Under the trees we’d be out of the snow, and maybe we could build some kind of shelter with branches.’

         Joe could tell that Isobel was weighing things up.

         159‘Look, I know it’s not perfect. But isn’t it better than being at the mercy of criminals?’

         Isobel considered for a moment more, then nodded. ‘You’re right. Sorry, I’m just…I’m just trying to think it all through.’

         ‘That’s fine. The more we think it through, the better our chances.’

         ‘Supposing we eat half the food now,’ suggested Isobel, ‘and keep half for later?’

         ‘Sounds good,’ answered Joe. ‘And I have an apple and a large bar of chocolate that we can share.’

         ‘Where did you get those?’

         ‘I brought them with me this morning when we went to check out the farm where they kept you. We didn’t know how long we’d be gone, so I brought them in my pocket as a snack.’

         ‘Great,’ said Isobel. ‘Sugar is a good source of energy.’

         ‘Is it?’

         ‘Yes, we did it in school, in biology.’

         ‘We never did biology in my school,’ said Joe.

         ‘You’re missing out, it’s brilliant. Probably my favourite subject.’

         ‘Really?’

         ‘Well, I want to be a doctor, so it makes sense to like biology.’

         Joe was surprised. Any doctor he had ever encountered had been a man. He was going to comment on the fact, but stopped himself. If being a doctor was Isobel’s ambition, 160then good for her, he thought.

         ‘Anyway,’ she said, ‘we can have half the food now, and I can store the other half in my schoolbag for bringing with us.’

         ‘Fine. And eh, talking of your schoolbag…’

         ‘What about it?’

         ‘The geometry kit with the dividers you said could be used as a weapon. Are we really going to consider that?’

         Isobel hesitated then looked Joe in the eye. ‘It’s like you said. These men are hardened criminals. So yes, I think we have to consider using it.’

         
            * * *

         

         ‘Wow, you can’t see a thing this time,’ said Tim as the train trundled over the Boyne Viaduct at Drogheda. It was one of the most impressive railway bridges in Ireland, its iron bodywork and fifteen stone arches carrying the track almost one hundred feet above the river. Tim had been impressed by the nighttime view when crossing it on the journey north to Aunt Helen’s, but today the thick fog completely shielded the River Boyne from view.

         ‘I’m happy with that,’ said Deirdre, ‘I don’t like looking down from heights.’

         ‘It’s dead safe. We’re not going to be derailed,’ Tim answered. Then the train began to pick up speed again as it cleared the bridge, and he sat back in his seat, enjoying the cosy warmth 161of the carriage as they travelled through the gloom of the late afternoon.

         He knew there would be challenges when they reached Dublin – assuming they got there and weren’t put off the train for not having the right tickets. He was worried too about Joe, but for now there was nothing he could do, and he tried to relax and conserve his energy.

         After a few moments he felt a nudge from Deirdre. ‘Here we go,’ she said softly, indicating a conductor who had entered the carriage.

         ‘Tickets, please,’ the man called out.

         Tim took his ticket from his overcoat pocket and tried to keep his expression unconcerned. The carriage was about half full, and the conductor was approaching at a leisurely pace, exchanging chit-chat with passengers as he checked their tickets.

         Deirdre handed over her ticket as the man reached them.

         ‘Balbriggan?’ the conductor said, as he stamped it and gave it back.

         ‘Yes,’ answered Deirdre, and Tim gave her credit for sounding at ease and giving the man a winning smile. Balbriggan was the most southerly town for which they had been able to afford two tickets, and Tim produced his ticket now. ‘Balbriggan for me as well,’ he said trying to appear as casual as Deirdre.

         The conductor was a squat man in his fifties whose uniform was a little too tight. He looked at Tim, his expression friendly 162but questioning. ‘That’s not a Balbriggan accent, is it?’ he said.

         ‘No, we’re…we’re both from Dublin.’

         ‘Visiting our aunt in Balbriggan,’ added Deirdre quickly.

         ‘Ah,’ said the conductor. ‘Knew you hadn’t got the accent. Born and bred in the town meself.’

         ‘Right,’ answered Tim, wishing the man would move on.

         Instead he smiled and spoke with the relaxed air of someone in no hurry. ‘Who’s your aunt - I probably know her?’

         Tim felt his stomach lurch. His mind raced as he tried to think of a convincing name.

         ‘Norah Murray,’ answered Deirdre. ‘But you probably don’t know her. She only moved to the town recently.’

         Tim was impressed by his sister’s coolness, and he looked at the conductor to see how he would respond.

         ‘Sure maybe I’ll get to know her,’ the man answered pleasantly. ‘Where’s she living in the town?’

         Tim felt another tightening in his stomach, but he felt that he couldn’t leave all the answering to Deirdre.

         ‘I eh…I can’t remember off the top of my head,’ he said. ‘I have the address written down; I’ll check it when we get to Balbriggan.’

         For a second Tim wasn’t sure if the man believed him, then the conductor smiled again. ‘Well, tell your aunt she’s welcome to the town. And enjoy your stay.’

         ‘Thank you, we will,’ said Deridre.

         163‘Yes, thank you,’ echoed Tim.

         The conductor moved on, and Tim had to stop himself from breathing an obvious sigh of relief.

         ‘What happens now when we reach Balbriggan?’ asked Deirdre quietly.

         Tim thought for moment then turned to face her. ‘It’s just got trickier. But I have an idea.’

         
            * * *

         

         ‘OK,’ said Isobel, ‘let’s go through our plan.’

         ‘Fine,’ said Joe.

         They were sitting on the straw-covered floor of the outhouse. The building was cold and dark, but Isobel was well wrapped up in her woollen overcoat, and Joe too was dressed in good winter clothes.

         ‘We’re assuming that one person will come in the door here,’ she said. ‘But what do we do if both of them come?’

         ‘I don’t think we go ahead,’ answered Joe reluctantly. ‘It’s just too much for us to try and overcome both of them.’

         ‘Agreed,’ said Isobel.

         ‘Though it’s more likely that just one of them comes out at a time.’

         ‘So let’s say that’s what happens.’

         ‘Then we make our move,’ said Joe. ‘The first couple of minutes 164will be vital. We have to get to the forest as fast as possible.’

         Isobel recalled the route she had memorised at Joe’s instruction. ‘Through the farmyard,’ she said. ‘Along the narrow road, right at the tee junction, then right again into the forest,’

         ‘Exactly. But this time we won’t go as far as the dead-end where I got cornered. We take the first track that branches off to the left and go deeper into the woods.’

         ‘Fine,’ answered Isobel. ‘It’s…it’s the part before that worries me.’

         ‘Me too,’ said Joe.

         ‘It’s one thing talking about it. But actually doing it…’

         ‘I know,’ said Joe. ‘I’m…I’m fairly confident that I can act to daze him. But when it comes to it…’

         ‘Can I stab a man with my geometry dividers?’ said Isobel, asking the question that she knew hung over them.

         ‘Yes.’

         ‘I know it was my suggestion. And I know we’re not talking about stabbing him in the heart – it’s just stabbing him in the leg so he can’t run after us. The thing is, I’ve never attacked anybody before.’

         ‘Look, if you feel you can’t do it, I could be the one-’

         No,’ said Isobel firmly. ‘You’ve already taken all sort of risks for someone you’d never even met. It’s me who’s been kidnapped, my family who’ll be sick with worry, and my father who’s being blackmailed. If anybody is using the dividers, it has to be me.’

         165‘If you’re sure,’ said Joe.

         Isobel hesitated, wanting to give an honest answer. ‘I don’t think you can be certain till the moment comes. But I hate what these people are doing. And I’m sick of being their victim. So yes, I think when it comes to it, I’ll do what has to be done.’

         
            * * *

         

         Deirdre felt the train slowing down. Thank goodness, she thought, it must finally be approaching the Dublin terminus at Amiens Street station. Although the distance from Balbriggan to Dublin was only about twenty miles, the journey between the two had seemed never-ending. Tim’s idea to avoid being caught with the wrong tickets had worked, however, and when other passengers were about to depart from the train in Balbriggan, Deirdre had pretended to take ill. Tim had escorted her to the toilet, and they had stayed there for the rest of the journey. Several times other passengers had wanted to use the toilet, but Deirdre had made retching noises as though being sick, and each time Tim had called through the locked toilet door that his sister was ill, and would the passenger please use one of the other toilets.

         Their priority had been to avoid the friendly conductor who thought they had an aunt living in Balbriggan, and they had moved to a different carriage when choosing the toilet to occupy. Now though it was time to disembark, and Deirdre hoped that 166the conductor wouldn’t spot them. Tim opened the door of the toilet, and they stepped out. There were several people already standing near the exit door, eager to get off the train, and Deirdre ignored their curious glances when she and her brother stepped out of the toilet.

         With a hiss of steam the train was coming to a stop, and Deirdre craned her head, trying to see one of the station clocks through the window.

         ‘A quarter to five,’ whispered Tim. ‘It’s a few minutes late arriving, we need to move fast.’

         Before Deirdre could reply she saw the conductor at the far end of the carriage, and her heart began to pound. The man looked her way, and Deirdre could see the confusion on his face. ‘Tim, the conductor has seen us!’ she whispered, trying to keep the panic from her voice. She knew there could be no talking their way out of the story they had concocted about visiting an aunt in Balbriggan.

         ‘Don’t catch his eye,’ whispered Tim.

         ‘He’s coming towards us,’ said Deirdre.

         Just then the train came to a stop. The passengers beside the door immediately swung it open and began to alight.

         ‘Here! You two!’ cried the conductor moving quickly towards them.

         ‘Go, Deirdre, go!’ cried Tim making for the door.

         Deirdre didn’t need any encouraging. With her pulses 167throbbing, she shouted, ‘Excuse me!’ to the other passengers and followed him out the door, jumping down onto the platform, where the air was heavy with the smell of smoke from the engine.

         ‘Come back!’ she faintly heard the conductor cry, but passengers were spilling out of the other carriages, and in the noisy bustle of the station he was soon left behind.

         Hot on the heels of her brother, she ran along the platform, eager to get Dublin Castle, and to tell their story to Chief Superintendent Leech.168

      
   


   
      
         169
            Part Three

            Pursuit
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            Chapter Eighteen

         

         Joe sat by the outhouse door trying to get up his nerve. He could see through a crack at the side of the door that the light was fading, and he knew that the time had come for action. He had calculated that dusk was the perfect time to try to escape, when the light would be dim enough for them to disappear into the fog, but not so dark that they couldn’t make their way through the forest.

         Now that the moment had arrived, though, he was frightened. Despite what he had said to Isobel, it had really hurt when Ben and Ned had smacked him around to make him answer their questions. If he tried to escape again and it backfired, they would be furious, and he might face a far worse beating.

         He tried taking deep breaths to calm himself, but he knew he couldn’t put things off for much longer. Come on, he told himself, treat it the way you would when playing for the school team in a final. Don’t think about all the things that could go wrong. Picture yourself succeeding. He forced himself to imagine escaping with Isobel, alerting the police, and Ben and Ned being taken away in handcuffs. Before he could lose his nerve, he turned away from the door and faced Isobel. ‘I think it’s time,’ he said.

         ‘All right.’

         172He could hear the nervousness in her voice and he looked at her questioningly.

         ‘Are you sure about this?’

         ‘Certain,’ she answered, her voice more determined.

         Joe felt encouraged by her steeliness and he nodded. ‘OK, let’s do it.’ He gathered from the floor the fine grit that he had collected and held it in his hand. Isobel put her schoolbag onto her back, and for a moment they looked at each other. ‘Good luck,’ said Joe.

         ‘You too,’ she answered. ‘And whatever happens, thank you… thank you for everything.’

         She turned away and crossed the room, and Joe watched nervously as she banged on the outhouse door. ‘We need more water, please!’ she cried. She pounded on the door again. ‘We knocked over the bucket. Please, can we have more water!’

         ‘Right,’ said Joe, trying to keep his voice steady. ‘They have to have heard that. Let’s get into position.’

         
            * * *

         

         Tim thought the city looked magical as he ran along Aston Quay in the dusk. The fog had cleared here, and Dublin was blanketed in a coat of snow that seemed to transform everything. Up ahead, he could see the elegant arch of the Ha’penny Bridge, its metalwork white with snow, while below it the waters of the Liffey reflected the soft golden glow of the bridge’s gas lamps. The streets were 173busy with Friday evening traffic, and crossing O’Connell Street, Tim and Deirdre had had to dodge horsedrawn carts, trams and motor cars as they ran toward Dublin Castle.

         ‘Give me a second, I need to catch my breath,’ cried Deirdre when they reached Wellington Quay.

         ‘OK,’ answered Tim, who was panting heavily himself. He paused on the footpath, his breath rising like steam into the cold evening air. Not wanting to waste any time, he used their short rest to scan the stream of traffic passing by on the busy roadway. They needed to cross the road to make for their destination, and Tim waited until there was a break in the traffic.

         ‘Let’s go, Sis,’ he cried, then darted across the road, closely followed by Deirdre. He continued along the quay before turning left into Eustace Street. A brewery cart with a huge drayhorse between its shafts was unloading barrels at a pub, and Tim and Deirdre had to run around it. Eustace Street was cobbled, and Tim slipped on the snow-covered cobbles but then retained his balance. Slow down, the told himself, a sprained ankle now would be a disaster.

         He continued, regaining the footpath where the snow had turned to slush and was less slippery. They reached the junction with Dame Street, the commercial heart of the city, and turned right. Reaching the Empire Palace Theatre, they stopped, needing to cross the busy road, but once again they had to wait as trams, vans, bicycles and horse-drawn carriages flowed in both 174directions. Eventually seeing a break in the traffic, Tim cried ‘OK!’ and once more he and Deirdre sprinted across the road.

         Up ahead Tim could see the entrance to Dublin Castle, and he stopped and turned to his sister. ‘All right, let’s gather ourselves for a second. We don’t want to be gasping for breath.’

         ‘It mightn’t look right to run up to the gate,’ she said. ‘Maybe we should walk the last few yards.’

         ‘Good idea.’

         ‘And behave like we did in the Shelbourne Hotel, Tim,’ said Deirdre. ‘Act as though we’re entitled to be here.’

         ‘I know,’ he answered as he started towards the entrance gate.

         Reaching the entrance to Dublin Castle, a tall, helmeted member of the Dublin Metropolitan Police barred their way. Tim had read somewhere that to be a member of the DMP, as the force was known, you had to be at least six feet tall, and this policeman was taller than that, his height increased by his snow-flecked, peaked helmet.

         ‘Can I help you?’ he said.

         He had a strong country accent, and his manner seemed a little forbidding, but Tim was determined not to be intimidated.

         ‘We need to see Chief Superintendent Leech, please. He knows us, Tim and Deirdre Kavanagh, and it’s important.’

         ‘Is it, now?’

         ‘Yes. Is he in his office?’ asked Deirdre.

         ‘We don’t provide details like that to civilians,’ answered the 175policeman. ‘And if you want to see a senior member of the force you need to make an appointment.’

         ‘There isn’t time for that,’ said Tim. ‘This is really urgent.’

         ‘And what is it exactly that’s urgent?’ asked the policeman.

         ‘We saw a crime. A kidnapping, it looked like.’

         ‘Where was this?’

         ‘In county Louth. Near Carlingford.’

         ‘I see,’ said the constable, with what Tim thought was maddening slowness. ‘And why didn’t you report it to the police up there?’

         ‘We tried to, but…but we couldn’t locate the sergeant,’ answered Tim, not wanting to go into the details about the crooked Constable Quigley.

         ‘Chief Superintendent Leech told us to come to him if we got involved with another case,’ said Deirdre. ‘If you just call him down, he’ll vouch for us.’

         ‘Another case?’ said the constable, his tone sceptical.

         ‘Yes,’ said Tim, struggling to keep his impatience in check. ‘We’re the ones who solved the case when the painting went missing off the Galway train last summer.’

         ‘You must have heard about that?’ said Deirdre.

         ‘I did actually,’ said the constable.

         Tim felt that there was a shift in the man’s tone, and he hoped that they would be taken more seriously now. He reached into his overcoat pocket and took out the police medal that he had been 176presented with earlier in the week, and which he had brought with him to show Aunt Helen. Now he showed it to the constable. ‘Chief superintendent Leech gave me this on Tuesday night. We are who we say we are, and we really need to see him.’

         The policeman thought for a moment before reaching his decision. ‘Step inside,’ he said, ‘and wait here.’

         ‘Thank you,’ said Tim, then he and Deirdre stepped through the gates of Dublin Castle.

         
            * * *

         

         Isobel tried hard to control her fear as she heard the outhouse padlock being undone. Any second now her fate was going to be decided, and she could feel her heart thumping and her knees beginning to knock. The outhouse door swung open, creaking on its hinges, and Isobel tried to appear calm. She knew that she mustn’t let her expression alert her captors that something was afoot, and she tried to look unconcerned. Before she could think about it any further, Ned stepped into the room, carrying a pitcher of water. He was on his own, and Isobel realised with a mixture of excitement and terror that their plan was on.

         ‘You need to be more careful,’ he said aggressively. ‘I’ve better things to be doing than dancing attendance on you.’

         ‘Sorry, I knocked over the water by accident,’ said Isobel. She knew that her voice sounded nervous, but she hoped Ned would 177put it down to her fearing his anger.

         He lowered the pitcher of water to the ground, and Isobel watched as Joe came forward, offering Ned the empty pitcher that they had deliberately tipped over. Joe’s approach seemed casual and unthreatening, but Isobel was aware that the moment of truth was arriving. She slipped her right hand into her coat pocket and gripped the dividers, struggling to control her terror. What if their plan failed, and the kidnappers took out their anger on them? Or, almost worse, what if she froze and wasn’t able to carry out her part of the plan? She had never attacked another person in her life, and she wasn’t sure if she could do it now, even if the person was a kidnapper.

         ‘Here you are,’ said Joe, handing Ned the empty pitcher.

         Even in her frightened state, Isobel noted admiringly how Joe managed to sound as though everything was normal.

         Ned reached out to take the pitcher that Joe was holding in his left hand. Suddenly Joe’s right hand shot forward and he flung a handful of fine grit into Ned’s eyes. Dropping the pitcher, Ned cried out and instinctively raised his hands to his eyes.

         ‘Now, Isobel, now!’ cried Joe.

         Isobel gripped the dividers, willing herself to action. She knew that the grit Joe had gathered from the outhouse floor wasn’t going to blind Ned for long, and the moment to strike was now. Still she hesitated. All her life she had believed that kindness was the best characteristic that anyone could have, and stabbing 178another person went against her every instinct. She gripped the dividers tightly, but couldn’t bring herself to wield it.

         Ned suddenly swung round, one hand rubbing his eyes but the other flailing outwards. He hit Joe a glancing blow on the shoulder, then lunged forward. Still rubbing his eyes with one hand, he grabbed Joe by the throat with his other hand.

         Isobel heard Joe giving a strangled croak as Ned tightened the grip on his neck. She watched, horrified. It felt to her as though time was standing still, and she was an observer of the scene. She realised that in his anger Ned could kill Joe. It was the trigger she needed, and in that split second, she stopped being an observer and acted instinctively. Pulling the dividers from her pocket, she lunged forward with all her strength, burying the weapon in Ned’s thigh. Releasing his grip on Joe, Ned cried out in pain and shock. He dropped to his knees, with the dividers protruding from his leg.

         ‘Run, Isobel!’ cried Joe.

         Stunned by what she had done, Isobel looked at her victim as he gripped his bloody leg.

         ‘Run!’ cried Joe again.

         This time Isobel heeded his call and she sprinted out the door of the outhouse directly behind Joe. In their planning they had calculated that they would have a head start, even if the kidnapper in the farmhouse heard the injured kidnapper’s cries from the outhouse. Now as they ran across the snow-covered yard, Isobel 179was relieved to see that Ben hadn’t yet appeared.

         Without a backward glance, they ran at full tilt out of the farmyard and along the track, grateful for the thick fog that reduced visibility.

         ‘Right, here!’ cried Joe as they reached the road.

         Running in her heavy winter clothes with her schoolbag on her back was tiring, but Isobel knew it was important to put as much distance as possible between them and their pursuers. Ned’s leg injury should prevent him from any fast pursuit, and presumably Ben would help his friend to stop the bleeding. Even so it was vital to travel as far and fast as possible in these opening minutes. She found herself panting, but she forced herself to keep pace with Joe as they turned off the road into the fog-shrouded forest.

         ‘A bit more and our turn will be on the left,’ said Joe.

         ‘OK,’ answered Isobel, then she continued running as they disappeared into the snowy depths of the forest.
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            Chapter Nineteen

         

         Deirdre relished the heat from a blazing log fire in the grate of Chief Superintendent Leech’s office. Outside the window she could see the snow-covered grounds of Dublin Castle, but in here it was cosy and warm, the air faintly scented with the sweet smell of pipe tobacco.

         ‘I wasn’t expecting to see the pair of you so soon,’ had been the policeman’s greeting when they had been escorted into his office, but now the twins were seated before Leech’s large oak desk on which there was a telephone and neat piles of paperwork.

         They had told him about the girl being held prisoner, and how Joe had hidden in the van taking her away, and about Constable Quigley appearing to be in league with the criminals.

         The Superintendent’s face had clouded on hearing of the constable’s treachery. He had assured them that corrupt officers like Quigley were very much the exception, but that they had done the right thing in coming to see him. Then he had picked up the telephone and ordered that Sergeant Cullen, the Carlingford officer who was in Dublin on police business, was to report immediately to his office.

         ‘I’ll need a detailed description of the girl you saw, and the men holding her,’ said Leech now.

         ‘I only saw them through the binoculars for a few seconds,’ 181answered Deirdre, ‘but I’d say she could be about twelve. She was wearing a dark-blue, heavy overcoat, and a woolly hat and scarf. The men were…maybe late thirties for one, forties for the other. The older one was tall, and the other one smaller and stockier. Both were dressed like workmen.’

         ‘Good observation,’ said Leech, jotting down the details.

         ‘Thank you.’

         ‘Has anyone been reported as kidnapped?’ asked Tim.

         ‘No. But that doesn’t mean it hasn’t happened,’ answered the policeman. ‘First we need more information, and then we need to get to Carlingford and mount a search from there.’

         ‘We could come with you,’ suggested Deirdre. ‘Show you exactly where she was being held. And we could help to identify the men.’

         Leech nodded. ‘That might be useful, right enough. But your parents…’

         ‘They won’t be worried. They know we’re staying with our aunt in Carlingford,’ said Tim. ‘It’s her we need to contact; she will be worried about us by now.’

         Leech looked thoughtful, then seemed to reach a decision. ‘All right. If you give me her address, we can get the station in Omeath or Greenore to tell her what’s happening.’

         ‘That would be great,’ said Deirdre, excited that the superintendent was involving her and Tim, and that he was taking charge of the case himself. Then again, kidnap was a very serious crime, so 182it made sense for a senior officer to take command.

         ‘So, what happens next?’ asked Tim.

         ‘We need to get an alert out,’ said Leech, ‘check on any missing persons, talk to Sergeant Cullen, and then get up to Carlingford. It’s going to be a busy night.’

         ‘That’s fine with us,’ said Tim.

         ‘Yes,’ agreed Deirdre, trying not to let her excitement show too much. ‘Absolutely fine.’

         
            * * *

         

         Joe came to a halt, panting for breath. Isobel, who had been running several yards behind him, also paused, gulping in air. Joe had pushed through the pain barrier, eager to get as far as possible from the farm. Now though, they were deep in the snowy forest, and Joe reckoned that even if their captors guessed where they had headed, it would be really hard to find anyone in the foggy conditions and fading light. There was also the benefit that the track they had taken was too narrow and pitted for the van to travel on.

         The falling snow had eased, but the temperature was dropping, and Joe wanted to keep moving. ‘We better push on,’ he said.

         ‘Which way?’ asked Isobel, still breathing heavily.

         ‘I think we should stay on this route. If we stumble across a cottage or a farmhouse, then great. But if not, we need to find a 183sheltered spot. It looks like the snow is going to stop, but we don’t want to die of exposure.’

         ‘All right,’ said Isobel.

         ‘I know it’s hard to see anything in the fog, but keep your eyes peeled for an overcrop of rock, or a cave, or any place where we might be able to hide and find shelter.’

         ‘OK.’

         ‘The other thing is distance. The further we go, the bigger the circle gets that they have to search. Have you ever heard of pacing?’

         ‘No, what’s that?’

         ‘It’s something I read about,’ answered Joe. ‘You do it when you want to cover distances quickly.’

         ‘How does it work?’

         ‘You run at a steady pace, counting in your head till you reach fifty. Then you walk at a steady pace till you reach fifty. Then run, then walk. You keep on mixing the two, so you never get exhausted, but you move faster than if you were just walking.’

         ‘Sounds good,’ said Isobel.

         Joe took a few more deep breaths, filling his lungs with woodland air. ‘Ready?’

         Isobel breathed deeply as well, then nodded. ‘Ready.’

         ‘OK,’ said Joe, and they both began to run, heading deeper into the forest.

         
            * * *

         

         184Tim watched, impressed, as Chief Superintendent Leech took control of the case. Tim had worried about Joe being trapped in the kidnappers’ van, and even though he knew that his friend was resourceful and brave, he had hoped that a rescue party would be speedily heading to Carlingford to try and locate the van. But the policeman had explained that while time mattered, rushing at this stage wouldn’t help. Instead, he had used his telephone to order the urgent delivery to his office of all missing-person reports from the last week.

         ‘Why would it be a missing-person instead of a kidnap report?’ Tim had asked.

         ‘Kidnappers often warn people to just pay the ransom and not to involve the police. But sometimes the victim’s family report the person as missing before they get the ransom demand. If we find a missing-person’s report for a young girl like you described, it could give us a lead.’

         ‘That would be great,’ said Deirdre.

         ‘It’s just a possibility,’ said the policeman, ‘but we need to check it. A better result would be if we can pick up this Constable Quigley. If we got him to come clean, we could probably wrap up the whole case.’

         ‘What would you say are the chances of catching him?’ asked Tim.

         ‘We’ve an alert out at train stations and ferry ports,’ answered Leech. ‘But of course he’ll know that, so instead of fleeing the 185country he might go to ground for a while. It depends how smart he is.’

         ‘From our dealings with him, he didn’t seem all that smart,’ said Deirdre.

         ‘Then he might panic and make a break for it. Either way, he’ll be a sorry man if we catch him. Working with criminals is a betrayal of the force – he’ll be looking at a long sentence.’

         Just then a knock on the door got everyone’s attention.

         ‘Enter!’ said Leech.

         A uniformed constable came in and stood before the Chief Superintendent’s desk.

         ‘Update on Sergeant Cullen, sir,’ he said.

         ‘Well?’

         ‘He left about an hour ago to travel home to Carlingford.’

         ‘By train?’

         ‘Yes, sir. There was a train for Dundalk at ten to five, and he was taking that.’

         Tim watched as Leech looked up at the clock on the wall.

         ‘Blast!’ the policeman said. ‘It left twenty minutes ago. All right. Get a message off immediately to Dundalk. The train is to be met, and Sergeant Cullen is to stay there and await our arrival.’

         ‘Very good, sir.’

         The constable moved smartly to the door and left.

         ‘Have you had anything to eat?’ asked Leech.

         ‘Eh, no…not since earlier,’ answered Tim.

         186‘We’ll organise something before we go. Like I said, it’s going to be a long night.’

         ‘Thank you,’ said Deirdre.

         ‘Yes, thank you,’ said Tim. ‘And Superintendent?’

         ‘Yes?’

         ‘We don’t care how long the night is. We just want to find this girl and get our friend back safely. So whatever it takes, we’re on for it.’

         
            * * *

         

         Walking briskly along the fog-shrouded track, Isobel came to a sudden stop. ‘Hang on, Joe,’ she said.

         Joe had been in front of her, but now he stopped and looked around. ‘What is it?’

         Isobel didn’t answer immediately, but stood still, listening intently. They had been pacing as Joe had suggested, and the technique of running to a count of fifty and then walking to a count of fifty had allowed them to cover a good distance. Now though, Isobel tried to calm her breathing as she listened.

         ‘What is it?’ repeated Joe.

         ‘I thought I heard something in the distance.’

         ‘Like what?’

         ‘A sort of…a slight drone.’

         ‘I heard nothing,’ said Joe.

         187‘Wait! There it is again!’

         This time Isobel could see that Joe had heard it too, even though it sounded far-off.

         ‘Is that what I think it is?’ she asked.

         ‘An engine?’

         Isobel nodded uneasily. ‘That’s what I was afraid of. I thought having to treat Ned’s injured leg would buy us more time.’

         ‘It mightn’t be them.’

         ‘Who else would be out and about in this weather?’

         ‘It could be anyone.’

         Isobel desperately wanted to believe him. But she had to face her fear and be honest. ‘Come on, Joe,’ she said softly. ‘There has to be a good chance it’s them, looking for us.’

         ‘Even if it is, they’re a long way off.’

         ‘Let’s make it longer. Let’s make it as long as we possibly can.’

         ‘OK.’

         ‘Running again, one to fifty?’ suggested Isobel as she started to move off.

         ‘Running, one to fifty,’ agreed Joe, following close behind her.
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            Chapter Twenty

         

         Deirdre watched intently as Superintendent Leech jotted down notes while taking a telephone call. From where she was sitting in his office, she couldn’t make out what he was writing, but she sensed from his attitude that the information he was getting must be important.

         ‘Right, stand by for further instructions,’ he said, then hung up. He wrote a final note and turned to the twins. ‘It’s possible the kidnap victim is a girl called Isobel Forsyth,’ he said. ‘She was reported missing in Dublin on Thursday night.’

         ‘And since then?’ asked Tim.

         ‘No sign of her,’ answered Leech.

         ‘Have her parents heard from the kidnapper?’ asked Deirdre.

         ‘They say they haven’t.’

         ‘They could be keeping it from you,’ suggested Tim.

         ‘Thank you, Tim, I’m aware that’s possible,’ said the Superintendent.

         ‘Sorry…I was just saying.’

         ‘Has the family been brought in for questioning?’ asked Deirdre.

         ‘No. And they won’t be.’

         Deirdre was surprised by the policeman’s attitude, but before she could respond he leaned forward and spoke in a confidential tone.

         189‘Because you brought this case to my attention, I’m going to share something with you. But it’s strictly confidential. Understood?’

         ‘Yes,’ said Tim.

         ‘Absolutely,’ answered Deirdre.

         ‘All right. The father of the missing girl is Mr Victor Forsyth. He’s a very senior civil servant – the Chief State Prosecutor, in fact. We have to tread really carefully in dealing with his family.’

         ‘Right,’ said Deirdre. ‘But…’

         ‘But what?’ asked the policeman.

         ‘But the family could still be dealing with the kidnappers behind your back,’ she said.

         ‘Or the girl could simply have run away from home,’ he answered.

         ‘Oh. I never thought of that,’ admitted Deirdre.

         ‘But even if she has been taken,’ continued Leech, ‘and even if kidnappers have contacted them, we need to handle this very sensitively, very respectfully. I’m going to despatch a senior officer to talk to the Forsyths. But he’ll go to their home rather than ask them to come in here.’

         Deirdre felt a stab of irritation, although she was careful not to let it show. She recalled how exhaustively her father had been questioned by the police when the valuable painting had been stolen from the train on which he was working. Sensitivity and respect hadn’t been part of the police approach then, but now the 190Forsyth family was being handled with kid gloves. Chief Superintendent Leech was happy to keep her parents in the dark, and while Joe’s father would have to be notified that he was missing, the police were in no hurry about that. It brought home again to Deirdre how important class was in how people were treated.

         ‘Let’s say for argument’s sake she was kidnapped,’ said Tim. ‘Would it be usual for a ransom to be ready by now?’

         ‘I doubt it,’ answered Leech. ‘She went missing on Thursday night. And this is only Saturday. The kidnappers would have to make contact, ransom money would have to be raised, a time and a place for a transfer sorted out. It’s very unlikely that’s all been done.’

         ‘So if we move fast, we could get to them before all that happens?’ said Deirdre.

         ‘Precisely. And we’re more likely to do that around Carlingford than here in Dublin. So be ready to leave here in a few minutes.’

         ‘Fine,’ said Tim.

         ‘One last question,’ said Deirdre. ‘Supposing the family comes clean, if there was contact with the kidnappers?’

         ‘Then that information will be telephoned ahead to Dundalk, and we’ll receive it as soon as we get off the train.’ The Chief Superintendent rose and came from behind his desk. ‘I’ve a few arrangements to make, then we’re on our way. All right?’

         ‘Yes,’ answered Deirdre eagerly. ‘Yes.’191

         
            * * *

         

         ‘Joe! Over there!’ cried Isobel.

         Joe had been counting paces in his head while another part of his brain wondered how far they had travelled in the forest, and how soon it would be fully dark. Forced out of his reverie now, he realised that Isobel had come to a halt.

         ‘What?’ he asked.

         ‘At the edge of the clearing.’

         ‘What about it?’ he snapped, then immediately regretted his tone. With the temperature dropping, he had been getting worried about spending the night in the open. Finding a sheltered spot had sounded good in theory, back in the outhouse. Now though, there was the risk of exposure if they spent the whole night outdoors in the freezing forest. Still, there was no point in taking it out on Isobel, and he turned to her. ‘Sorry, what is it?’ he asked, his tone apologetic.

         ‘There’s a shape over there,’ she said, pointing.

         Joe looked in the direction that she indicated. The snow had finally stopped, but the fog was still thick, and with the dusk deepening, he couldn’t see what she had spotted.

         ‘Where exactly?’ asked Joe.

         ‘This way,’ she answered, moving ahead, then crossing the track and going through a small gap into the trees.

         Following her, Joe suddenly made out the shape she had seen, 192faintly outlined in the foggy dusk. ‘God bless your eyesight,’ he said, feeling a stir of excitement as they drew nearer to what he realised was an abandoned building.

         ‘Looks like it was someone’s cottage once,’ said Isobel.

         ‘Maybe…maybe a forester’s,’ said Joe, drawing nearer to inspect the place.

         Although covered in snow, the structure was intact, even though the window frames no longer contained glass, but were instead covered with sheets of wood.

         ‘What do you think?’ asked Isobel. ‘Could we hide in it for the night?’

         ‘Maybe,’ said Joe, wary of getting his hopes up too high. ‘But only if we can get inside.’

         ‘After all this time, the entrance mightn’t be locked.’

         ‘One way to find out,’ said Joe, stepping forward and pushing hard against the heavy wooden door.

         
            * * *

         

         Tim felt hungry and was dying to tuck into the sandwiches that Superintendent Leech had given to him and Deirdre. They were travelling in a police car, however, going from Dublin Castle to the train station, and Tim felt that he could hardly start unwrapping ham sandwiches on the back seat of the vehicle. He’d wait until they were on the train to Dundalk – then he would devour them.  193

         The car made its way down Dame Street, its tyres squelching through the slushy snow, with Superintendent Leech seated in the front with the driver, and Tim and Deirdre in the back. They were followed by another police vehicle carrying two sergeants, and three constables, who made up the team that Leech was bringing with him to Carlingford.

         Tim had overheard a telephone conversation between Leech and a policeman in Dundalk that had established firmly that Chief Superintendent Leech, as a senior officer in the Dublin Metropolitan Police, would be in charge of the investigation. Although the police outside of Dublin were members of the Royal Irish Constabulary, Superintendent Leech had explained that the suspected kidnap victim was from his jurisdiction, and that he and his DMP team would expect full co-operation on arrival in Dundalk.

         Tim looked out the window now, taking in the unfamiliar picture of the city centre shrouded with snow. Up ahead was the imposing façade of Trinity College, while along Dame Street the warm lights of the banks, offices and shops made a pleasing contrast to the cold winter streetscape. He saw an advertising hoarding promoting Switzer’s Christmas Bazaar, featuring The Fairies’ Paradise, Jumbo the Elephant, and a real waterfall. Also on the hoarding was an advertisement for the Gaiety Theatre pantomime.

         It brought back for Tim the previous Christmas when he had 194gone to the pantomime with his family. Ma had invited Joe to come with them, and they had all had their tea in town, followed by a fun-filled night at the theatre. He recalled Joe’s face, lit up with joy, as he sang along with gusto when the pantomime dame invited the audience to join in singing ‘Tramp, Tramp, Tramp the Boys are Marching’. Where was Joe now? he wondered. And was he safe? Tim fervently hoped that he was, and that the kidnapped girl was too. But fretting wasn’t going to help. Better to keep his energy for whatever lay ahead, he decided. Determined to stay in a positive frame of mind, he put his worries aside and sat back in the car as it made for the station.

         
            * * *

         

         Isobel saw her breath rising in the freezing air as she and Joe rounded the corner of the abandoned cottage. With darkness falling, and the temperature dropping, a lot was riding on gaining entry to the shelter that the building could provide. The front door had been unmovable, presumably locked, and now Isobel prayed that it might be possible to enter via the back door.

         ‘People in the country use the back door a lot,’ said Joe. ‘It’s often unlocked.’

         ‘Let’s hope so,’ said Isobel. ‘We’re not going to find anywhere else in the dark.’

         The windows at the rear of the house were boarded also, and 195even in the gloom, Isobel could see that the back door was covered in moss. ‘Doesn’t look like it’s been opened in a while,’ she said.

         ‘Still, it’s not as solid-looking as the front door,’ answered Tim. ‘If the worse comes to the worst, we might be able to force it.’

         ‘OK, let’s try opening it first,’ said Isobel, slipping off her gloves and reaching for the handle. The metal felt numbingly cold to her hand, but she ignored the sensation and pressed the handle. Nothing happened, and she felt a surge of disappointment. She tried again, but still the door wouldn’t open.

         ‘The wood looks a bit rotten,’ said Joe. ‘Let’s try and just bash it in.’

         ‘All right. Maybe if we both try to hit it with our shoulders at the same time, we can double the force.’

         ‘Good idea,’ said Joe.

         ‘On a count of three?’

         ‘Yes.’

         ‘One, two, three!’

         They each smashed a shoulder into the door, and Isobel felt a stinging along her arm from the impact. The door hadn’t burst open, however, although the wood had given somewhat.

         ‘Again,’ said Joe, ‘on three.’

         Once more they counted down and smashed into the door. This time the rotten wood cracked loudly, but the door still held.

         Isobel’s shoulder felt sore, but she ignored her discomfort. ‘On 196the count of three, again,’ she said.

         They vigorously shouldered the door again, and this time it burst inwards. Falling in behind it, Isobel almost lost her balance, but she felt a sense of triumph as she stumbled into the cottage.

         It smelt musty, and Isobel could hardly see in its gloomy interior. ‘Hold on, I’ll light a candle,’ she said. She slipped off her schoolbag and took out matches and a candle that she had hidden during her captivity in the barn. Striking a match, she lit the candle, and they got a view of the cottage interior. Isobel saw that they were in a room with a fireplace, a battered table, and several chairs. Off to the side was a door that she presumed lead to a bedroom.

         ‘It’s not the Shelbourne Hotel,’ said Joe with a crooked grin. ‘But if we get a fire going, we could be warm and dry.’

         ‘It’s a million times better than freezing outside.’

         ‘Yes.’

         ‘All right,’ said Isobel. ‘Let’s make it our base for the night, get as comfortable as we can, and hope we can’t be found.’
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            Chapter Twenty-One

         

         Deirdre savoured the warmth of the carriage as the Dundalk train travelled through the winter night. Heading north, they re-entered fog, which slowed the train, but Superintendent Leech was philosophical, saying that they would reach Dundalk when they reached Dundalk, and that the weather was beyond their control.

         He was seated opposite Deirdre and Tim and had bought them tea and buns on the train, to go with their sandwiches. Deirdre had been hungry, but had remembered Ma’s insistence on good table manners, and her saying that polite eaters didn’t wolf down their food.

         ‘Enjoyed that, did you?’ asked the Superintendent.

         ‘Yes, thank you very much,’ answered Deirdre.

         ‘Good. Time to sing for our supper now,’ said Leech with a smile.

         Deirdre had no idea where the conversation was going, and she could see that Tim was confused as well. They were seated facing the superintendent, with the other police officers occupying seats on the opposite side of the carriage.

         ‘Let’s put those youthful brains of yours to work,’ said Leech. ‘We’ve time to kill, so let me hear your crime-solving thoughts. What would you do next if you were running the investigation?’

         198‘Eh…I’d ring Dublin Castle as soon as we reach Dundalk,’ said Tim. ‘Find out if the criminals have contacted this Forsyth family. If they have made contact, they’ll want to transfer the ransom at some point. That’s when they have to show themselves.’

         ‘And if they haven’t made contact? Or if the family denies that contact was made?’

         ‘Then we’re no worse off than we are now,’ said Deirdre. ‘And we concentrate our efforts at this end.’

         ‘And what should those efforts be?’

         ‘A lot depends on what Sergeant Cullen has to say,’ answered Deirdre. ‘The kidnappers could have already fled the area, but I’d still mount checkpoints on the roads. The Cooley Peninsula doesn’t have that many routes leading on and off it. Maybe they can be hemmed in.’

         ‘It’s a pity we don’t have female officers in the force,’ said Leech. ‘I’d hire you if we did!’

         Deirdre knew that he was being complimentary and friendly, but she still felt a bit annoyed at his jokey tone. What would actually be so crazy about having female police officers? And would he think that the suffragettes, who were seeking votes for women, were a joke too? She wasn’t sure how to respond, and Leech’s attention was taken when Tim spoke up.

         ‘Even if the Forsyths say that no contact has been made, maybe a watch could be kept on their house,’ he suggested. ‘They might lead you to the kidnappers.’

         199‘Let’s not jump the gun,’ said the policeman. ‘We’ll see what they have to say first. But good thinking all the same.’

         ‘Thank you.’

         ‘And now that you’ve told me what you’d do if you were the police, tell me what you’d do if you were the criminals.’

         ‘Get as far as possible from Carlingford, as fast as possible,’ said Tim.

         ‘But with snowy roads and thick fog that might not be all that easy,’ said Deirdre.

         ‘Good points,’ said Leech. ‘Anything else?’

         ‘Yes,’ replied Deirdre. ‘They could do the opposite to what Tim said. Go to ground somewhere and wait things out. They must know that there’ll be uproar. Maybe their plan would be to keep the girl someplace remote till things quieten down.’

         ‘That’s a possibility too,’ said the policeman. ‘And one that gives us a better chance if they’re still in the general Cooley area.’

         ‘And we shouldn’t forget Joe in all of this,’ said Tim. ‘He’s smart, and he’s brave, and with a bit of luck he might outwit the kidnappers.’

         ‘He might,’ conceded Leech. ‘Time will tell.’

         The conversation trailed off, and Deirdre’s mind went to her friend, hoping that he was all right. Like Tim said, Joe was smart and brave, but he was also up against criminals who might be violent towards him. Deirdre didn’t want Leech, or even Tim to know what she was doing, so she sat back in her seat and stared 200out the window. She seemed to be taking in the fog-shrouded countryside, but instead she silently prayed that Joe was safe and well.

         
            * * *

         

         ‘There’s something brilliant about a fire, isn’t there?’ said Isobel, her face lit by the flames roaring up the fireplace and by the flickering light from a single candle placed on the cottage floor.

         ‘Yes,’ answered Joe, ‘it’s a lifesaver.’

         ‘This must be the first fire here in years. We’re lucky the chimney wasn’t blocked.’

         ‘Lucky too you had a candle.’

         ‘I hated being kept in the dark, so I managed to hide one when they took the rest as punishment. And they didn’t bother confiscating the matches when they thought I’d no candles.’

         ‘Lucky for us,’ said Joe, warming his hands before the flames. He had wondered at first if lighting a fire was a wise move. Isobel had argued, however, that with the thick fog and the heavy sheets of wood on the window, no light from the fire would escape, and that the smoke from the chimney would be quickly absorbed in the blanket of fog.

         By the light of Isobel’s single candle, they had explored the cottage interior, and they had found old newspapers and a small amount of kindling beside the fireplace that they had used to 201start the fire. They had also found a rusty hatchet and had taken turns wielding it to break up the battered kitchen table, so that they had a good supply of firewood. Now they sat before the fire in two slightly wobbly chairs, and Joe felt a sense of cosiness and a satisfaction that they were cheating the elements. He knew though that the bad weather was a double-edged sword. It had helped them to evade recapture, but it also meant that when Tim and Deirdre raised the alarm, the authorities would have been hampered by the weather in mounting a search. He hoped that the police would cover the countryside at first light, but he also knew that he and Isobel had been brought a fair distance from Carlingford, and there was no telling if the police would search this area.

         It would be great if the authorities came to the rescue, but he and Isobel might still have to fend for themselves. In the morning, they would need to evade the kidnappers and get to safety, but for now there was nothing more they could do. Satisfied with that thought, he sat back in his chair and relished the heat from the leaping flames.

         
            * * *

         

         Tim sat with Deirdre in the corner of a chilly office in Dundalk police station. He was being careful not to get in the way as Chief Superintendent Leech went into action, but was listening 202intently to everything that was said. Telephone contact had been made with Dublin, and the inspector who had been sent to talk to the Forsyth family had reported back. After being notified of the developments in Carlingford, Mr Forsyth had admitted that the kidnappers had told him by postcard to be on standby, but he had insisted that nothing further had taken place.

         Leech had appeared to choose his words carefully, telling the Inspector to continue to liaise with the family. Tim suspected, however, that this was code, and that the police would be keeping watch on the Forsyths, although it would be done discreetly because of Mr Forsyth’s standing.

         Now Leech was seated behind a desk, questioning Patrick Cullen, the station sergeant for Carlingford, who had waited for them in Dundalk, as instructed. He was a tall man in his late thirties and his manner was respectful as he answered the chief superintendent’s questions.

         ‘What’s your take on Constable Quigley?’ asked Leech.

         ‘Well…’

         ‘Speak openly, sergeant. We haven’t time to beat about the bush.’

         ‘He wasn’t what you’d call a model officer, sir.’

         ‘Meaning what?’

         Cullen paused, and Leech spoke impatiently. ‘Spit it out, man, you can speak freely.’

         ‘He was lazy, sir. Always did just enough that you couldn’t quite reprimand him. Always careful enough to…to cover his tracks.’

         203‘Was he a drinker? A gambler? Open to blackmail?’

         Tim watched, fascinated, as the sergeant composed his answer. Tim realised that the man was being careful, probably thinking that if he painted too poor a picture of Constable Quigley, it might reflect badly on him for not reporting the other man’s failings.

         ‘He liked a drink,’ said Cullen, ‘but not to the point that it interfered with his duties. He liked a bet too, but again not to the point that it appeared to cause problems.’

         ‘Which isn’t to say that he mightn’t have bad debts,’ said Leech. ‘The kind of thing that might have him in thrall to criminals.’

         ‘I never saw anything that could have been reported, sir.’

         ‘Relax, sergeant,’ said Leech. ‘No one is pointing the finger of blame at you. And I’ll see that that doesn’t happen.’

         ‘Thank you, sir.’

         ‘But I need to hear everything you can tell me about this man, no holding back.’

         ‘Yes, sir. Well, he’s originally from Mayo. So if he’s gone to ground that might be where he’d make for. And he lived in Carlingford, but when he was off duty, he often took the train to Newry.’

         ‘Why Newry?’

         ‘It’s a big town. Maybe he felt he could socialise there without people knowing he was a policeman.’

         ‘And this farm that Tim and Deirdre here had under observation? What do you know about the owner?’

         ‘It sounds like Ben O’Meara’s place.’

         204‘Who’s he?’

         ‘A small farmer, sir. Bit of a ne’er-do-well. Charged and fined a couple of times for illegal brewing. Suspected of smuggling and handling stolen goods, but nothing we were able to pin on him.’

         ‘Right.’

         ‘Can I make a suggestion?’ said Tim.

         Leech turned to where the twins were sitting. ‘What’s that?’

         ‘If we go to his farmhouse, and he’s there, Deirdre could identify him as the man she saw through the binoculars, when the girl was being taken away. And even if he’s not there, there’s a fair chance there’ll be a picture of him in the house, and we could identify him from that.’

         ‘You’d definitely be able to recognise him if you saw him again?’ asked Leech.

         ‘Yes,’ answered Deirdre confidently. ‘It was only for a few seconds, but I saw him clearly.’

         ‘All right,’ said the policeman. ‘That’s our next move then.’

         ‘I’ve organised two vehicles, sir, as requested,’ said Cullen. ‘We can take your men to Carlingford whenever you’re ready.’

         ‘I’m ready now,’ said Leech rising from behind the desk. ‘Tim, Deirdre, you come with me.’

         ‘Fine,’ said Tim, rising at once and following the policeman as he made for the door.
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            Chapter Twenty-Two

         

         ‘Dinner is served!’ said Isobel, playfully offering Joe half the bread that she had saved from earlier. The wood fire was blazing in the grate, the room had warmed up, and there was nothing more they could do tonight, so in spite of everything she felt more cheerful than at any time since she had been abducted.

         Joe smiled and produced his contribution to the meal. ‘With apple as a palate cleanser, and chocolate for dessert!’ he said, speaking like a posh waiter.

         Isobel laughed.

         ‘Here, talking of apples,’ said Joe, ‘what do you get if you cross a Christmas tree with an apple?’

         ‘What do you get?’

         ‘A pineapple!’

         Isobel laughed again. ‘I’m glad we kept some of the food till now,’ she said. ‘It would be harder to sleep if we’d gone to bed hungry.’

         ‘I doubt you’ve ever gone to bed hungry,’ said Joe.

         He didn’t say it maliciously, but Isobel was taken aback. She realised that Joe regarded her as being of a privileged class, and even though she was, it made her uncomfortable. It must have shown on her face because Joe immediately raised his hands.206

         ‘Sorry,’ he said, ‘I didn’t mean that as a dig. To tell the truth, I’ve never gone to bed hungry either.’

         ‘No?’

         ‘No. Why, did you think maybe I had?’

         ‘No, not really. But…’

         ‘What?’

         ‘But we don’t really know that much about each other’s lives, do we?’ said Isobel. ‘And assuming things about other people, it’s a minefield.’

         ‘True.’

         Isobel paused as an idea came to her. ‘Why don’t we try to learn more about each other – but in a fun way?’

         ‘How do you mean?’

         ‘We could start with our favourites. What’s your favourite book?

         ‘The Hound of the Baskervilles,’ answered Joe without hesitation. ‘I love Sherlock Holmes. What’s yours?

         ‘Little Women. Favourite food and drink?’

         Joe thought for a moment. ‘Eh…minced meat, and red lemonade.’

         Isobel couldn’t resist raising an eyebrow. ‘Interesting combination…’

         ‘Great combination. What about you?’

         ‘Victoria sponge. And tea that’s really sweet!’

         ‘I’m sorry,’ said Joe with a straight face. ‘I don’t mean to be 207disagreeable. But Victoria sponge? I mean it can’t even begin to compete with rhubarb crumble!’

         Isobel laughed again. This was going to work, she thought, and getting to know Joe was going to be fun.

         
            * * *

         

         ‘That’s definitely him!’ said Deirdre.

         ‘You’re certain that’s the man you saw?’ asked Chief Superintendent Leech.

         ‘Absolutely. I watched him with the binoculars. It’s the same person.’

         They were looking at a photograph on the parlour wall of the farmhouse on the hillside above Carlingford. Deirdre and Tim had travelled with Leech and his police team along the foggy coast road of the Cooley peninsula, and it had come as no surprise to Deirdre when they found the farmhouse in darkness with nobody around.

         Leech had immediately dispatched some of his men to search the barn and outhouses while the rest of the team forced an entry to the farmhouse itself. They had lit oil lamps and thoroughly searched the building, but the only item of interest found had been the photograph of the farm owner hanging on the wall of the parlour.

         ‘So the question is, where did they go?’ asked the superintendent.

         208‘It’s over seven hours since we saw them,’ answered Tim. ‘They could be anywhere.’

         ‘But they’re hardly just going to travel as far as possible,’ suggested Deirdre. ‘They need someplace to hide the girl.’

         ‘Where would you go if you were them?’ asked Leech.

         Deirdre thought for a moment before replying. ‘Somewhere that’s isolated, and away from here – but not too far away. They wouldn’t want to be driving for hours on snowy, fog-covered roads.

         Leech nodded approvingly. ‘Go on. Follow your line of thinking.’

         ‘Maybe another farmhouse. One that belongs to someone they know, a friend, or a relation. Or even a place that isn’t occupied.’

         Leech turned to Sergeant Cullen, who had been following the conversation without speaking up.

         ‘What do you think, Sergeant? You know this fella. Any friends or relations with the kind of place Deirdre’s described?’

         ‘It’s possible, sir. But I don’t actually know him that well.’

         ‘We could ask Aunt Helen,’ suggested Tim. ‘She might know.’

         ‘I doubt it,’ said Cullen. ‘She’s not from around here.’

         ‘She’s been living here twenty years!’ said Tim.

         ‘That doesn’t make you a local in this place,’ said the sergeant. ‘Besides, he’s not the kind of person your aunt would be friendly with.’

         ‘We need background on him,’ said Leech.

         209‘The best bet would be if I make a few discreet enquiries. I could do it in the pubs.’

         ‘The pubs?’ said Leech. ‘Would people really be going there on a night like this?’

         ‘This is a small community, sir, and the pubs are at the heart of it. Even on a night like this.’

         ‘Fair enough. When we’re finished here, we can do that.’

         ‘With respect, sir, it’s better if I do it. They won’t open up to you.’

         Leech thought a moment, then nodded. ‘All right.’ He turned to Deirdre and Tim. ‘We’d better get you back to your aunt’s house.’

         ‘We can still help you’, said Deirdre. ‘We can identify the other man.’

         ‘I know you can. Relax, I’m not taking you off the case.’

         Deirdre had feared that he might do just that, and she was relieved by the policeman’s words.

         ‘You’ve had a long day,’ said Leech. ‘So, get a good night’s sleep, and be ready to go again first thing in the morning. All right?’

         ‘All right,’ said Tim.

         ‘Fine,’ answered Deirdre.

         Just then the door of the parlour opened and one of the constables entered. Deirdre picked up at once on the man’s suppressed excitement as he handed a sheet of paper to Leech.

         ‘We found this when we were searching the barn, sir,’ he said.

         210The superintendent took the paper, looked at it, and then read aloud. ‘I, Isobel Forsyth, have been kidnapped and held here against my will on December the eight, 1911. My captors’ names are Ned and Ben.’

         Leech lowered the note and looked at the others. ‘Good for Isobel Forsyth. She’s just given us our first break!’

         
            * * *

         

         ‘OK then, best song ever?’ asked Joe, enjoying Isobel’s game of picking favourites. They had thrown more wood onto the fire, which was blazing and crackling, and had finished off the rest of the food, and Joe felt surprisingly at ease now in her company, even though they had only met that day.

         ‘That’s tricky,’ said Isobel, sitting back in her chair. ‘Mama would have me say one of Schubert’s songs. But secretly, I like music hall songs, even though I’m not very musical.’

         ‘Really?’ said Joe. ‘I can’t imagine you not being sent for music lessons.’

         ‘Oh, I was sent for lessons all right,’ answered Isobel. ‘But eventually the music teacher came to the house and told my father he couldn’t take his money any longer.’

         ‘No?’

         ‘Honestly. The sounds I was making with the violin were driving him demented. He put it more politely than that, but 211the message was he’d had enough.’

         ‘How did you feel about that?’

         ‘I was delighted. I love listening to music, but I knew I was no good at it myself. Are you musical?’

         ‘Not like my friends Tim and Deirdre, but I can sing a bit.’

         ‘What’s your favourite song?’

         ‘Eh…probably ‘Give my Regards to Broadway’ – it’s really catchy. But you never told me your favourite.’

         ‘My mother would really look down her nose on it, but I love ‘Waiting at the Church’. It’s funny, and it’s easy to sing along to.’

         ‘I like it too,’ said Joe.

         ‘Right, moving on. Best holiday?’ asked Isobel.

         ‘Eh…the year we went to Kilkee when my mam was alive. We’d brilliant fun.’

         ‘Do you still miss her?’

         Joe hesitated. Nobody had asked him this so directly before, but Isobel’s tone had been sympathetic, and he could see that she wasn’t just being nosey. ‘She’s gone three years, but, yes, I still miss her,’ he answered.

         ‘I’m sorry, Joe, I…I didn’t mean to make you sad.’

         ‘It’s OK. So…what was your best holiday?’

         ‘Probably the year my father won the regatta in Kinsale. He was presented with the cup by the Viceroy. It was great, he knew Papa and made a lovely speech.’

         ‘Gosh…that brings it home.’

         212‘How do you mean?’

         ‘Knowing the Viceroy? We live in different worlds. Outside of this, we’d never meet, we’d never be friends.’

         ‘Don’t say that, Joe. We’ve lots in common. Books, songs, all the things we’ve talked about.’

         ‘I know. But…’

         ‘What?’

         ‘How many friends do you have like me?’

         ‘Like you?’

         ‘Who live in ordinary houses, not mansions? Whose parents aren’t high-up people? Who are Catholics, not Protestants? Who’ll never meet the Viceroy?’

         There was a pause, the cackling of the fire the only sound as Isobel seemed to grapple with what he had said.

         ‘I’m not trying to put you on the spot,’ said Joe gently. ‘It’s just how things are.’

         ‘We can change how things are. We have to if we want the world to be better. That’s what I want to do with my life. That’s my whole plan.’

         Joe could see that she meant it. He also knew she would face many obstacles, but he admired her determination. ‘In that case who knows what’s possible?’ he said, smiling to show he was on her side. ‘Who knows what’s possible?’
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            Chapter Twenty-Three

         

         ‘Right,’ said Chief Superintendent Leech, ‘time to get you home.’

         Although he was tired, part of Tim didn’t want the day’s excitement to be over. He knew that two of the constables would be stationed here at the farmhouse overnight, in case the kidnappers returned, and that Leech and the rest of the team were staying the night in a hotel in Carlingford.

         ‘And you’ll tell Aunt Helen that we’re needed tomorrow?’ said Deirdre.

         ‘Don’t worry. She already knows you’re helping us, and I’ll explain how sensitive the case is, and that we need you again tomorrow.’

         Tim was aware that it was Deirdre who had observed the two kidnappers through the binoculars, so that strictly speaking, he wasn’t needed tomorrow. But missing out on the action now would be unbearable, so he said nothing.

         ‘I’m sure she’ll agree to that,’ said Deirdre.

         ‘I’ll be as persuasive as I can,’ said Leech with a wry smile.

         Tim knew that Aunt Helen was aware that the policeman had recommended her niece and nephew for the medals they had been awarded, and he was certain that his aunt would go along with the wishes of a senior police officer like the Chief Superintendent.214

         ‘Let’s hope Sergeant Cullen is as persuasive with the locals in the pub,’ added Leech. ‘We need to find this girl.’

         ‘And our friend Joe,’ said Tim.

         ‘And your friend. Assuming that they’re still together.’

         ‘Has Joe’s father been told that he’s missing?’ asked Deirdre.

         ‘Yes. Not the details of the Forsyth connection, that’s highly sensitive. But I felt he had to be told some of the facts – in strict confidence.’

         ‘He’ll still be worried sick,’ said Deirdre.

         ‘I know. But he’s also been told we’re confident of resolving this quickly, and that he’ll be contacted as soon as we have news.’

         ‘Right,’ said Deirdre.

         Tim said nothing. All along he had tried to reassure himself that Joe was clever, and brave, and capable, but it was still a worry not knowing what was happening with his friend.

         ‘Get a good night’s sleep,’ said the policeman. ‘We’ll be starting early in the morning.’

         ‘We will,’ said Tim.

         ‘All right then,’ said Leech, ‘let’s get you back to your aunt’s.’

         
            * * *

         

         Isobel settled herself before the fire, getting ready for bed. She had found old curtains in the other room of the cottage. Although they were tattered, and a little damp, she had dried them out at 215the fire so that she and Joe could use them as blankets. Lying on a mat on the floor wasn’t going to be very comfortable, she knew. But wearing their overcoats, and wrapped in the makeshift blankets, she reckoned they would be warm enough to sleep through the night, before heading off at first light.

         Joe was also setting down in front of the fire, and Isobel knew that now was the time to say what had been playing on her mind.

         ‘Joe?’ she said, a little nervously.

         ‘Yes?’

         ‘What we talked about earlier. The Viceroy, and all that…’

         ‘What about it?’

         ‘I don’t want you to think I’m just some spoiled little rich girl, playing at changing the world.’

         ‘I didn’t say that.’

         ‘I know you didn’t, but I wouldn’t blame you if it’s what you thought. Because you’re right, the people I’m friendly with are from families like my own. And some of them don’t realise their luck. They think they’re entitled to the best of everything. I don’t feel like that. I don’t feel I should be taking all the time; I want to give something back.’

         ‘Right.’

         ‘It’s why I want to be a doctor.’

         ‘I can understand that…’ said Joe before hesitating.

         ‘But every doctor you ever met was a man?’

         ‘Well…yes.’216

         ‘So what would you say I always get asked?’ said Isobel.

         ‘Eh…why do you have to be different?’

         ‘Exactly. And it’s the wrong question, Joe. Why wouldn’t I want to be a doctor? Nobody queries my brother Percy. No one says, ‘Why do you want to be a judge?’ And it’s not just ego. I want to help, to relieve suffering, maybe…maybe find a cure for something.’

         ‘Then that’s what you should do. Even if it’s hard, I think that’s what you should do.’

         Isobel hadn’t been sure how Joe would respond, but now she was glad she had spoken out.

         ‘Thanks, Joe,’ she said. Looking at him in the flickering light of the fire though, she sensed he was struggling to say more. ‘What is it?’ she asked softly.

         ‘I’ve…I’ve a problem that I’ve kept secret.’

         Isobel said nothing, allowing him time, and after a pause, Joe continued.

         ‘My dad wants me to be a senior clerk like him. But I’d love to be an engineer. I’ve never told him, though. I…I don’t know how.’

         ‘I know it’s easy for me to say it, but… you’ll probably need to take your courage in our hands. Break it to him, but gently.’

         ‘I suppose.’

         ‘Have you told anyone else?’

         ‘Just Tim and Deirdre.’

         ‘And now me.’

         ‘Yes.’217

         ‘I’m honoured, Joe. I’ve…’ Isobel hesitated, not sure whether to continue, then she went with her gut instinct and blurted out what she was thinking. ‘I’ve a secret too.’

         ‘Oh?’

         ‘It’s…it’s my mother. I love her and I could never say this to her, but…but I don’t want to end up like her.’

         ‘Why not?’

         ‘She has a comfortable life, and a nice house, and two children, and a husband with a big job. Lots of people would be delighted with that.’

         ‘So what’s the problem?’

         ‘Everything she does, she does as the wife of Victor Forsyth. That’s how she’s seen, and now I think that’s how she even sees herself. It’s like the person she once was has…shrunk. Almost vanished. Does that make any sense?’

         ‘Yes,’ answered Joe, ‘I think I know what you’re saying.’

         ‘I don’t mean it as a criticism of her. But I really don’t want that to happen to me.’

         ‘Somehow…somehow I don’t think it will.’

         ‘I hope not,’ said Isobel. She smiled shyly. ‘So, now we know each other’s secrets.’

         ‘I’m glad,’ said Joe. ‘I feel better for talking about it.’

         ‘I do too.’

         ‘Well, big day tomorrow,’ said Joe. ‘We should probably try to sleep.’218

         ‘Yes. And look, I know I said it before, but I need to say it again. Thank you for everything.’

         ‘You’re welcome. Good night, then.’

         ‘Good night, Joe,’ said Isobel, then she leaned forward and blew out the candle.
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            Chapter Twenty-Four

         

         Deirdre ate every scrap of her breakfast, the mouth-watering smell of fried bacon hanging in the air. She had read somewhere that soldiers at war ate whenever they could, and today she and the police would be battling against the kidnappers. Dawn hadn’t broken yet, but Aunt Helen had insisted on rising early to cook breakfast for Deirdre and Tim.

         Despite the drama of the situation, Deirdre had been amused the previous evening when her aunt had been charmed by Chief Superintendent Leech, and now Helen fully supported their role in trying to find the missing girl. Like Deirdre and Tim, she was worried about Joe’s welfare, but Deirdre had also picked up on Helen’s pride that her niece and nephew were playing a valued part in the rescue operation.

         ‘Here he comes!’ cried Tim now as the headlights of an approaching vehicle could be seen through the kitchen window. The morning was still dark, but the fog had cleared, and Deirdre knew that Chief Superintendent Leech wanted to be ready to start the search at first light.

         Deirdre and Tim quickly rose from the table, ready to make for the door, but Aunt Helen raised her hand.

         ‘Hold your horses,’ she said. ‘I won’t have it said a visitor to this house wasn’t offered a sup or a bite.’

         220‘He’s probably eaten at his hotel,’ said Tim.

         ‘Maybe he has and maybe he hasn’t,’ said Helen. ‘But the mannerly thing is to offer. Sit back down while I open the door.’

         Deirdre and her brother reluctantly resumed their places while Helen made for the hall. Deirdre heard the vehicle coming to a halt, followed by the sound of her aunt opening the door, inviting the policeman in, and talking in the hall.

         ‘You’re sure you won’t have anything?’ said Helen as they stepped into the kitchen.

         ‘You’re very kind, but I’ve already eaten,’ said Leech before turning to Deirdre and Tim and wishing them good morning.

         Deirdre noticed that he was clean shaven and smartly turned out, even in his heavy winter clothes.

         ‘You’ll need to dress warmly,’ he said.

         ‘I’ve taken care of that,’ said Aunt Helen.

         ‘We’ve hats, scarves, gloves and our coats in the hall,’ answered Deirdre.

         ‘Good.’

         ‘Where are we headed?’ asked Tim.

         ‘Up into the hills,’ answered the policeman. ‘Sergeant Cullen made some headway. He got the name of a cousin of Ben O’Meara, and earlier this morning he spoke to him. It seems O’Meara had an uncle who died last year. He had a small farm up in the hills. It’s a remote place, they could have hidden there overnight.’

         ‘That’s great,’ said Deirdre excitedly.

         221‘Yes, brilliant!’ said Tim. ‘Do you expect they’ll still be there?’

         ‘You don’t expect or assume things in good police work. But it’s our best lead yet. So, get your stuff, please, and let’s be going.’

         ‘On our way!’ said Deirdre, rising from the table with Tim. ‘On our way!’

         
            * * *

         

         Joe woke with a start. He didn’t know what had awoken him, but as soon as he came to, he sensed that he had overslept. The abandoned cottage was still dark, but despite the boarded windows it was brighter inside than it had been last night, and he realised that dawn must have broken. He sat up immediately and saw that Isobel was still asleep. After all the dramas of yesterday they had both been tired, and exhaustion had obviously made them sleep soundly.

         ‘Isobel, wake up!’ he cried, shaking her gently by the shoulder.

         She sat up, looking a little groggy.

         ‘We slept it out,’ said Joe, throwing off his makeshift blanket and rising to his feet.

         ‘Oh…right,’ answered Isobel, following Joe’s example and stiffly rising. ‘I slept like a log,’ she said, ‘despite the hard floor.’

         ‘Me too. But we need to get out of here.’ Joe moved to a battered metal bucket of water that was on the floor beside the fire. Last night they had filled it with snow that they then melted 222at the fire and used as drinking water and for washing. Joe now lifted the bucket and threw water over the glowing embers of the fire, causing a loud hiss.

         Isobel looked around, startled. ‘What are you doing?’ she asked.

         ‘If the kidnappers find this place, and there’s a hot fire, they’ll know someone was here recently. Let’s leave them no clues.’

         ‘Good thinking.’

         ‘Got everything?’ asked Joe.

         ‘Yes,’ answered Isobel, hoisting her schoolbag on her shoulders.

         Joe led the way to the back door and pushed it open. They stepped out into the snowy woods, with dawn having broken and the sky brightening. Last night’s fog had cleared, and it looked like being a clear, crisp day.

         ‘What was that?’ said Isobel, suddenly stopping after they had closed the back door.

         Joe stood stock still, straining his ears. Then he heard a sound that made his blood run cold. It was far in the distance, but there was no mistaking what it was.

         ‘Dogs!’ cried Isobel. ‘Are…are they hunting for us?’

         ‘I don’t know. But let’s not wait to find out.’

         ‘Which way?’ she asked.

         ‘Deeper into the woods,’ said Joe. ‘Come on!’

         
            * * *

         

         223‘Is this place abandoned or just badly run down?’ asked Tim.

         ‘Somewhere between the two,’ answered Chief Superintendent Leech. ‘The owner died last year, and it’s been let go since.’

         ‘It could do with a good cleaning,’ said Deirdre.

         ‘That it could,’ agreed the policeman.

         They were in the main room of a dilapidated farmhouse at the address that Sergeant Cullen had uncovered. It was a remote location, and they had climbed high into the hills after taking the coast road to Omeath. Leech had sent some of his team to check the outhouses while he and the rest of the group checked the farmhouse.

         Tim had been hoping that this might be the kidnappers’ hiding place, and he had been disappointed to find nobody present. Now though, he looked up with interest when one of the constables stepped into the kitchen to report to Leech.

         ‘We found two beds upstairs, sir, which looked like they’ve been slept in.’

         ‘Very good,’ said Leech. He turned to Tim and Deirdre. ‘So they probably stayed here overnight, but there’s no sign of porridge or anything else having been made for breakfast. What does that suggest?’

         ‘That they left in a hurry, first thing this morning?’ suggested Tim.

         ‘Possibly. But why all the moving about? And why haven’t they contacted the Forsyth family again?’

         224‘Maybe they have, and Mr Forsyth’s not telling you everything,’ answered Deirdre. ‘Maybe he’s putting his daughter’s safety first.’

         ‘Or maybe our going to the police messed up the kidnappers’ plans,’ said Tim. ‘So instead of dealing with the family, they’ve had to go on the run.’

         ‘That certainly makes sense,’ said Leech. ‘The other thing is–’

         But the policeman never got to finish what he was saying. Instead, Segreant Cullen entered with an air of urgency.

         ‘Sir, we searched the outhouse and found blood on the straw floor.’

         ‘Much?’

         ‘Not a lot, sir. But something happened there that spilt blood.’

         Tim felt his stomach knotting with anxiety and he prayed that the kidnappers hadn’t injured Joe or Isobel.

         ‘Fresh blood or congealed?’ asked Leech.

         ‘Congealed, sir.’

         Maybe it was old blood, thought Tim, maybe an animal was injured in the barn.

         ‘There’s more, sir,’ said the sergeant. ‘There’s no sign of a vehicle about the place, but we found tyre marks in the snow. There’s a track out the back that looks like a rear entrance.’

         ‘Sounds like they made an early exit,’ said Leech. ‘All right, we’re finished here.’

         ‘They could come back sir,’ said the sergeant.

         225‘Which is why I’ll leave two men here. Tim, Deirdre, come with me.’

         ‘What’s the plan, Superintendent?’ asked Tim.

         ‘What do you think?’ said Leech making for the door. ‘We follow the tyre tracks and get after them!’

         
            * * *

         

         Isobel ran through the woods, her breathing ragged as she gulped in the cold morning air. Joe was setting a fast pace, but Isobel was determined not to be the one to slow them down. She was also trying not to let panic overtake her, but it was hard to shake off the feeling of being hunted. In the distance she could hear the drone of an engine, and somewhere far behind them was the sound of the barking dogs.

         ‘Let’s take a breather for a few seconds,’ said Joe.

         Isobel came to a halt beside him, relieved that it was Joe who had suggested they catch their breath. As she stood on the snowy woodland, she realised that the engine sound had gone. She could still hear the dogs in the distance, however, and she turned to Joe. ‘Dogs can run faster than people, can’t they?’ she said.

         ‘I think so,’ he answered, his breathing laboured. ‘But if they’re using them to hunt us, I’d say they’ll have them on a leash.’

         ‘Why do you think that?’

         ‘Because otherwise the dogs would run too far ahead of them. 226So, once they’re on leash, we don’t have to run faster than the dogs, we just have to go faster than the person with the leash.’

         Isobel hoped that Joe was right. So far, they hadn’t seen any farms or cottages, and she knew that it was still a race to get to civilisation before the kidnappers caught up with them.

         ‘OK,’ said Joe, ‘let’s go again’.

         Isobel had barely got her breath, but she knew that their situation was perilous. ‘Hang on a sec,’ she said. She slipped off her schoolbag and flung it deep into the undergrowth. ‘Every second might count,’ she said in answer to Joe’s quizzical look, ‘and that was slowing me down.’

         ‘Good move,’ he answered, before they set off again.

         Isobel fell into a steady rhythm jogging alongside Joe. They were making good progress, and the barking of the dog seemed much fainter now. The morning sky was clear and blue, and the dense woodland looked beautiful in its gown of snow. The beauty of the scene distracted Isobel briefly. Then she rounded a sharp bend and came shuddering to a stop with Joe at her shoulder.

         The way ahead was blocked by a van parked at right angles across the track. Sitting in the driver’s seat, with the door open and a shotgun pointed at them, was Ned.

         Isobel felt a sinking feeling and realised that they had been outsmarted. Ned and Ben must have split up, with Ben using the sound of the hunting dogs to drive herself and Joe up the hillside and into the ambush set by Ned.

         227‘Made a mistake, didn’t you?’ said Ned now. ‘Thought the snow would cover your footsteps? But the snow stopped last night, and we tracked you to the ruined house. So, not as smart as you thought.’

         Isobel wanted to come up with some answer, but she was so sick with disappointment and fear that she couldn’t think what to say.’

         ‘All right,’ said Ned. ‘Get your hands on your heads!’

         
            * * *

         

         ‘Looks like maybe people stayed here overnight,’ said Deirdre, pointing at the discarded curtains left on the floor in front of the fire.

         The van’s tracks in the snow had led the pursuing police to the abandoned cottage in the woods, and Chief Superintendent Leech had forced open the back door. Sergeant Cullen and one of the constables had led the entry, their rifles at the ready, but the kidnappers weren’t there.

         ‘Look,’ said Deirdre, pointing, ‘water has been thrown onto the fire.’

         ‘Why do you think they’d do that?’ said Tim.

         ‘I don’t know. To confuse anyone on their trail?’ suggested Deirdre. ‘So nobody can tell how recently they’ve been here?’

         ‘Could be,’ said Leech. ‘Only two lots of bedding though.’

         228‘Maybe…maybe Joe and the girl escaped and stayed here,’ suggested Tim.

         ‘Maybe,’ said Deirdre, afraid to get her hopes up.

         ‘If they did escape, they’ve taken the wrong direction,’ said Leech. ‘We’ve headed deeper into the woods.’

         ‘But they wouldn’t have known which direction led to safety,’ said Deirdre, ‘not with the snow and fog last night.’

         ‘True,’ conceded Leech. ‘Anyway, there’s no point guessing. We need to follow the tracks again.’ He turned to the other officers. ‘Back to the car, men!’

         Sergeant Cullen and the constable obeyed at once and, eager to return to the chase, Deirdre and Tim followed them out the door.

         
            * * *

         

         ‘Thought you were so clever, didn’t you?’ said Ned sneeringly, his shotgun aimed at Joe and Isobel as he sat in the driver’s seat of the van with the door open. ‘Thought the fog and the snow were your friend,’ he continued. ‘But with no fresh snow it was easy to follow your trail this morning.’

         Joe felt like kicking himself. Why hadn’t he thought of that? But with all the drama of their escape, and trying to find shelter from the freezing conditions, neither he nor Isobel had thought things through. Now he stood with his hands on his head, and he tried 229to keep his face impassive, determined not to give Ned the satisfaction of seeing his dismay.

         ‘By God, you’ll pay for what you’ve done,’ said Ned, and Joe felt a chill that had nothing to do with the early morning cold. ‘Both of you are going to pay.’

         He slowly swung he legs out of the van and rose to his feet.

         Joe could see that Isobel’s stab wound to Ned’s leg had affected his mobility. He must have bandaged it up, however, because although his movements were stiff, he stood upright now at the driver’s door of the van.

         ‘He won’t be able to run,’ whispered Joe to Isobel, ‘we can make a break for it.’

         ‘Are you mad?’

         ‘There’s no ransom if he shoots you – so he won’t,’ said Joe.

         ‘What about you?’

         ‘I’ll chance it. I’m not going to be their prisoner again.’

         ‘But you could get shot!’ whispered Isobel urgently.

         ‘Shotguns aren’t very accurate, and I’ll be a moving target.’

         ‘Shut your mouths and get over here!’ shouted Ned.

         ‘Shut your own!’ cried Joe. ‘Or better yet, talk to him.’ Joe pointed to behind Ned. It was the oldest trick in the book, but Ned fell for it and turned to look behind him.

         ‘Now!’ whispered Joe. He turned swiftly on his heel and was glad to see Isobel instantly following his lead. He zig-zagged as he sprinted, knowing he was the more likely target. The sharp 230bend in the track was only yards away, and he prayed that he would reach it before Ned got off a shot. Joe felt really exposed and dreaded the idea of taking a shotgun blast in the back.

         Was Ned a good marksman? He had no way of knowing. Keeping low to make himself as small a target as possible, he reached the bend. He did a final zig-zag, then just before he reached safety the deafening sound of the shotgun shattered the quiet of the morning.

         
            * * *

         

         The fresh smell of pine hung in the air, and the early morning sunshine gave the snow-covered trees a golden glow as the two police vehicles drove deeper into the woods. Normally Tim would have savoured the beauty of the scene but this morning he was trying to cope with mixed emotions. While it was exciting for Tim and Deirdre to travel with Chief Superintendent Leech and an armed party of policemen, another part of Tim felt guilty. He had invited Joe to come on the trip to Aunt Helen’s, and now his friend could be in all sorts of danger. Even though Joe had insisted on being the one to scout to the suspicious farmhouse, Tim knew he would feel awful if anything happened to him. And what would they say to Mr Martin if Joe got hurt? Or even worse…? No, he told himself, he couldn’t afford to think like that.

         Tim’s musings were suddenly disturbed by the sound of a 231gunshot. It wasn’t that far away, and it could, he thought, be an early morning hunter, or a farmer shooting a fox. But the area was remote, and Tim reckoned that few people would be out and about. It seemed more likely that the gunshot was linked to the kidnapping, and Tim prayed that no one had been killed or injured.

         The police vehicles had been following the kidnappers tyretracks along a network of forest trails. Although the snow was beginning to turn to slush in places, the driving conditions were still challenging, and Leech had instructed both drivers to be cautious because of the slippery surface. Now, however, the superintendent turned to Sergeant Cullen and spoke urgently.

         ‘Forget safe driving. Put your foot down!’

         ‘Yes, sir,’ he answered, and Tim braced himself in the back seat of the car as the vehicle sped along the bumpy track.

         
            * * *

         

         Isobel started in terror as the shotgun blast rent the morning air. She had just reached the bend in the track and she looked over her shoulder, horrified at the thought of Joe being hit. To her huge relief he was unhurt and she realised that his zig-zagging run had probably saved his life.

         Rounding the bend, she and Joe ran full tilt down the sloping forest track, then after a few seconds she heard the roar of an 232engine. Ned was coming after them in the van.

         ‘Split up!’ cried Joe.

         Isobel understood that Joe wanted to make pursuit difficult for Ned, but she couldn’t see how they could split up before they reached the next intersection of woodland tracks. Isobel was running on the left side of the track, and Joe now moved over to the right. Did he mean for both of them to leave the track, him to the right, and her to the left? But there was a ditch on either side of the track, and even if they cleared that the trees were really dense, and moving through them would be hard.

         Before she could consider it further, the van came roaring round the bend. One glimpse behind her told Isobel that Ned was driving at a reckless speed. She sprinted flat out, but the van was closing on them. Its engine straining, the vehicle drew close behind them. Isobel watched with horror as the van swerved to the side of the track and tipped Joe head-first into the ditch.

         Isobel’s instinct was to stop and see if he was all right, but as she tried to stop her own momentum, she saw that the van hadn’t halted, but was now heading for her. She felt a surge of terror and attempted to jump sideways to avoid the vehicle. Launching herself off her right foot, she lost her balance on the snowy ground and fell heavily, winding herself. She landed on her back and watched helplessly as the van bore down on her.

         Isobel’s screams were drowned by the noise of the brakes, but still the van careened across the snowy track. She tried to rise but 233felt completely out of breath. Realising that she wasn’t going to be able to get up in time, she closed her eyes at the last second, not wanting to see the vehicle that was about to crush her.

         The sound of the brakes seemed deafening now, and Isobel screamed again. After a moment she realised that she hadn’t been hit. She opened her eyes and saw that the van had come to a stop, inches from where she lay. Her relief was short-lived, however, as Ned got out of the van, reached down to grab her by the lapels of her coat, and violently dragged her to her feet.

         
            * * *

         

         ‘Permission to open fire, sir, if we come under fire?’ asked Sergeant Cullen.

         Listening in the back seat of the police car as it traversed the snowy woodland tracks, Deirdre was taken aback. She knew they were dealing with dangerous criminals, but somehow the sergeant’s request to be allowed to use his rifle made matters frighteningly real.

         ‘Only fire at my command,’ answered Leech. ‘We want the Forsyth girl back in one piece. And Joe Martin if they have him.’

         ‘Yes, sir.’

         Deirdre could tell that the gunshot had been from close by, which meant that they had been gaining ground on their quarry – assuming the shot was from the kidnappers. But if the kidnappers 234had fired a shot, who had it been aimed at? And had it hit them? Before Deirdre could consider it further, Chief Superintendent Leech responded.

         ‘Left here, and up the hill – faster!’ he cried.

         Deirdre and Tim held on in the rear of the vehicle as Sergeant Cullen rounded a bend at speed and accelerated up the hill. Deirdre saw a van in the distance, stopped further up the track. They were closing on it quickly, and she could feel her pulses racing with a mixture of excitement and apprehension. As they drew nearer, she saw that a tall man was standing beside the van, holding a girl about the neck with one hand, and gripping a shotgun with his other hand.

         The man pointed the gun at his captive. ‘Back off!’ he shouted, ‘or she gets both barrels!’

         ‘Stop the car!’ ordered Leech. Deirdre and Tim were thrown forward as the sergeant braked hard. Deirdre could see that the second police car had stopped behind them, then Leech turned around from the front seat and addressed her.

         ‘Is that the man you saw at the farm?’

         Now that they had come nearer, Deirdre could see his face and she nodded. ‘Yes, that’s him.’

         ‘Certain?’ ‘Yes.’

         ‘Then that’s the Forsyth girl,’ said Leech, turning back to Sergeant Cullen. ‘Stay here,’ he ordered Deirdre and Tim, then he 235and the sergeant got out of the vehicle.

         ‘Get back!’ roared the gunman. ‘Come any nearer and I’ll kill her!’

         ‘All right! All right,’ called Leech, then he and the sergeant retreated towards the vehicle.

         Deirdre’s heart was thumping madly, and her mind was racing. There was no sign of Joe. Had the shot been fired at him? And maybe hit him? And had the gunman reloaded since then? There was no way of knowing. But when the man had threatened to shoot the girl, it didn’t sound like an idle threat, and Deirdre feared for the lives of Joe and the girl.

         
            * * *

         

         Crawling along the ditch, Joe was wet and cold, and it felt as though every muscle in his body ached. He had skinned his hands when the van had tipped him head over heels into the ditch, but after gingerly stretching his arms and legs he realised that he hadn’t broken any bones. He heard Ned shouting at the police, and he kept his head below the level of the ditch, crawling uphill while the kidnapper was distracted.

         Joe was aware that the smart thing now would be to run to safety in the forest. Or crawl along the ditch away from the van. But he couldn’t abandon Isobel, and he knew that if he thought about it too much he would be paralysed with fear.

         236‘You’re hurting me!’ he heard Isobel cry out, and he realised that he had drawn level with where she and Ned were on the track.

         Joe’s aim was to get to behind the van and he continued crawling along for another few yards. He looked about him seeking something that he could use as a weapon. He saw a round piece of rock that was small enough for him to lift with one hand, but large enough to do damage, and he reached out and grasped it.

         Joe paused for a moment, trying to get his nerve up, then he climbed quietly out of the ditch, shielded from Isobel and Ned by the van. He moved forward slowly, taking care to make no sound. His mouth was dry, and he could feel his knees trembling, aware as he was that if Ned heard him, and saw him carrying a rock as a weapon, there was a good chance that he would be shot. But there was no turning back now, and Joe kept moving forward.

         Peering carefully around the corner of the van, he saw that Ned was gripping Isobel by the throat with one hand, while the other hand held the shotgun. Ned had his back to Joe, but Isobel was looking in his direction. Joe saw the shock on her face, and he quickly raised a finger to his lips to warn her not to give him away. Joe gripped the rock with his right hand, praying that Ned wouldn’t hear him as he covered the last few feet.

         Isobel hadn’t made a sound, but Joe reckoned that some change in her expression must have alerted Ned, and to his horror the kidnapper started to turn around, just as Joe launched himself forward. Joe aimed for his head with the rock, but Ned swung 237backwards. The rock still made contact with his temple, and he dropped the shotgun, while knocking Isobel sideways.

         Joe let go of the rock and went to reach for the weapon, but was grabbed by the back of the neck and jerked upwards. He realised with dismay that the blow with the rock must have been a glancing one, rather than a knock-out blow. There was a trickle of blood flowing from Ned’s temple, but he was fully conscious and had grabbed the shotgun with one hand, his face was twisted in rage as he tightened his grip on Joe’s neck with his other hand.

         ‘I’m sick of you interfering!’ he roared.

         Joe tried to call out, but all he managed was a strangulated cry, and he felt himself getting weaker as the pressure tightened on his neck.

         
            * * *

         

         ‘I could take a shot, sir,’ said Sergeant Cullen, his rifle by his side.

         ‘No!’ said Chief Superintendent Leech. ‘You might hit the girl.’

         ‘But he’s strangling my friend!’ cried Tim. ‘Do something!’

         Just then the kidnapper swung Joe around, standing behind him to use him as a shield while still gripping him by the neck.

         ‘Please!’ cried Tim. ‘Do something!’

         ‘Fire a warning shot,’ ordered Leech.

         Sergeant Cullen raised his rifle to his shoulder and fired a shot into the air.

         238‘Let the boy go and give yourself up, it’s over now,’ called out Leech.

         ‘Get in your cars and drive back down the hill,’ shouted the kidnapper. ‘Back off right now or I swear I’ll throttle him!’

         ‘Do it, please!’ said Tim. ‘Do it or he’ll kill my friend!’

         
            * * *

         

         Isobel felt like screaming in frustration. To be so close to rescue, when Joe had nearly felled Ned with the rock, and with the police stalled within shouting distance, was almost unbearable. Even worse was the fact that Joe had been so brave and was now at the mercy of a thug like Ned.

         ‘We’re not leaving, and if you kill a child, you’re certain to hang,’ called Leech.

         ‘And your career is over if a kid dies because you were too stupid! Now get in your cars and back off!’

         The policeman made no answer, and Isobel could see that Joe was gasping for air. She knew she would never forgive herself if he died while the police and the kidnapper engaged in a battle of wills. She had to act, and it had to be now. She dropped to her knees and grabbed the blood-stained rock from the ground. Ned had turned his back on her when he had swung around to use Joe as a shield against the armed policemen. With the kidnapper distracted by the argument with the police, she moved behind him. 239Hitting someone on the head with a rock went against her every instinct, however, and at the last moment she hesitated. Then she saw Joe’s anguished expression and she cast aside her reservations. She swung her arm, bringing the rock crashing into the back of Ned’s head.

         He fell to the ground, dropping the gun. Blood was flowing from his scalp, and his eyes looked glazed, but to Isobel’s shock he still managed to grasp the shotgun again and point it at her. She saw his finger moving for the trigger and her stomach tightened in terror.

         ‘No, please!’ she cried. ‘Please…don’t!’

         He said nothing in return, but stared at her wild-eyed and bloody, and Isobel sensed with horror that he had gone beyond reason. She saw his finger tightening on the trigger. ‘Please,’ she begged. Deep down though, she sensed it was too late. Instinctively she closed her eyes in dread. But instead of hearing the blast of the gun she heard a solid thump. Opening her eyes she saw Joe with the rock in his hand, and Ned sprawled unconscious on the ground.

         ‘I thought…I thought I was going to die,’ said Isobel.

         ‘So did I when he was choking me.’

         ‘Thank you for saving me.’

         ‘And thank you for saving me.’

         In spite of everything, Isobel found herself laughing that they had both said the same thing. Maybe it was hysteria, and relief 240that they had survived, but somehow it seemed funny that they had parroted each other’s thoughts.

         Joe smiled in return, but now Isobel spoke seriously. ‘Are you OK?’ she asked.

         He nodded. ‘I’ll live. You?’

         ‘I’ll live too,’ she said softly, and suddenly her eyes welled up with tears. They looked at each other, then she reached out and hugged him tightly, overcome by the thought that their ordeal was finally over.
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            Chapter Twenty-Five

         

         ‘You can never have too many cream buns, can you?’ asked Deirdre. She was at a table, seated in the warm comfort of the dining room in Dundalk’s Queen’s Hotel, with Isobel, Joe, and Tim, where Chief Superintendent Leech had treated them to a slap-up meal.

         The police had caught Ben O’Meara and his dogs, and the children had been taken aback to discover that O’Meara was the uncle of the boy who had abused the dog in Dundalk. That dog, and the other one used to hunt Joe and Isobel, had been taken into police care. Superintendent Leech had promised that good homes would be found for both dogs, and one had already been adopted by a member of the police team. The other dog was sitting now at Tim’s feet, contentedly chewing a bone, and Tim had been pleased when the dog wagged his tail excitedly, recognising him from the incident in the laneway in Dundalk

         Meanwhile Isobel’s parents had been notified that she was safe and well and were on their way from Dublin to pick her up. She suspected that her father had never told the police the full story about being pressurised to drop the charges. Not that it mattered now – events had overtaken the kidnappers when Joe, Tim and Deirdre had disrupted their plans. The twins’ Aunt Helen was also on her way from Carlingford, but for a few moments Isobel 242and the three friends were alone, as Leech took a telephone call at the hotel’s reception desk.

         ‘I feel like a savage,’ said Isobel. ‘I’ve never had a full Irish breakfast and three cream cakes before!’

         ‘I wouldn’t mind having that every morning,’ said Tim. ‘Especially if it’s free!’

         ‘I think Superintendent Leech was happy to treat us after all we’ve done,’ said Deirdre.

         ‘Talking of that,’ said Isobel. ‘I can never thank you enough.’

         ‘You’re grand,’ said Deirdre.

         ‘And it’s strange,’ continued Isobel. ‘Joe told me so much about you, I felt I knew you before I met you.’

         ‘And now that you have, I bet we’re even better than you thought!’ said Tim.

         ‘What can I say?’ answered Isobel with a smile. ‘Let’s stay in touch when we get back to Dublin.’

         ‘I’d like that,’ said Deirdre, then she looked up as Chief Superintendent Leech entered the dining room and crossed to their table. ‘Well?’ she asked.

         ‘No sign yet of Constable Quigley,’ said the policeman, sitting down. He turned to Isobel. ‘But thanks to your notes, young lady, we’ve cast iron evidence of the others keeping you prisoner.’

         ‘Well, I am the daughter of a prosecutor,’ answered Isobel lightly.

         ‘Indeed.’

         ‘Do you think you’ll catch Constable Quigley?’ asked Joe.

         243‘We’re questioning everyone he had dealings with. I’m confident we’ll track him down,’ said Leech.

         ‘Good,’ said Deirdre. ‘I’d like to see him behind bars, seeing as that’s what he did to us.’

         ‘I promise that’s where he’ll be when we catch him.”

         ‘I hope so,’ she answered. ‘When we looked for help, he stabbed us in the back. It was a horrible feeling. We didn’t know where to go or who we could trust.’

         ‘I understand,’ said Leech. ‘But please, don’t let what he did shake your faith in the whole force. It’s a betrayal when someone who’s meant to protect people does the opposite – but it’s very, very rare. All right?’

         ‘Yes,’ said Joe. ‘We understand.’

         ‘Yes,’ agreed Deirdre.

         ‘Good,’ replied Leech, sounding relieved. ‘Meanwhile, I have to take my hat off to you. When I told you to contact us the next time, I didn’t think it would be so soon.’

         ‘But weren’t you glad of us in the end?’ said Deirdre with a grin.

         ‘Yes,’ said the policeman, ‘I have to confess I was.’

         ‘Last time we toasted the end of our adventure with a scoop of ice-cream,’ said Tim. ‘This time let’s do it with a bun. Everyone, will you raise your buns, please?’

         The children all laughed and raised their cakes, then Tim winked at Chief Superintendent Leech, closed his eyes, and sank his teeth into his bun.244
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            Historical Note

         

         The Case of the Secret Signal is a work of fiction, and Deirdre, Tim, Joe, Isobel and their families are figments of my imagination. Great Western Square, however, is a real place in Dublin, as is Clyde Road, where I located the Forsyth family home.

         
             

         

         Alexandra College, where Isobel went to school, still exists, but is no longer based in Earlsfort Terrace, having moved to the suburb of Milltown in the nineteen seventies.

         
             

         

         The Shelbourne Hotel, where Deirdre, Tim and Joe were awarded their medals, remains one of the top hotels in Dublin, and from the outside it still looks much as it did in 1911.

         
             

         

         The Cooley Peninsula is a real – and very beautiful – place, and the picturesque village of Carlingford is also real, but Aunt Helen’s farm and the two farms used by Ben O’Meara are fictitious.

         
             

         

         The Empire Theatre that Deirdre and Tim passed in Dame Street is now called the Olympia Theatre, but the Gaiety Theatre, whose pantomime they attended the previous year, remains known as The Gaiety, and still stages a popular pantomime every Christmas.

         
             

         

         246Amiens Street Station, from where the children got the train to Dundalk, had its name changed to Connolly Station in 1966, to honor James Connolly on the fiftieth anniversary of the Easter Rising. The rail line from Dundalk to Newry via Carlingford closed in 1951, and today part of the line is used for the Carlingford Greenway.

         
             

         

         Brian Gallagher, 

         Dublin 2025
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            Read Deirdre, Tim and Joe’s 
first adventure

         

         
            [image: Image of the cover of a historical fiction adventure novel for children written by Brian Gallagher. It's entitled The Case of the Vanishing Painting. The cover image depicts three children in early-20th-century clothing running across a bridge in the lamplight.]

         

         The Case of the Vanishing Painting

         
             

         

         A valuable painting leaves Galway in a guarded carriage. When the train arrives in Dublin, the painting is gone, and the train’s guard is suspected. Twins Deirdre and Tim know their father isn’t a thief, and they’re determined to find out who is. Soon the children are battling not just to clear his name, but for their very lives!252
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